
Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments

6.1.1. DRAFT 2025/26 BUDGET.....................................................................................2

6.1.1.1. Council Budget 25-26.......................................................................................2

6.1.1.2. Fees 2025-26..................................................................................................57

6.1.1.3. Revenue and Rating Plan...............................................................................79

6.1.1.4. 10 Year Budget 25-26..................................................................................114

6.1.2. INTEGRATED PLANNING SUITE OF DOCUMENTS FOR CONSULTATION..........142

6.1.2.1. Draft Community Vision 2035......................................................................142

6.1.2.2. DRAFT Pyrenees MPHWP 2025-2029..........................................................143

6.1.2.3. DRAFT 4 3b Council Plan 2025 29................................................................178

1 of 185



Pyrenees Shire Council 2025/26 Draft Budget 
 

 

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.1

2 of 185



Pyrenees Shire Council 2025/26 Draft Budget 
 

Contents 
Mayor Introduction ..............................................................................................................................................3 

1 Link to the Council Plan .................................................................................................................................5 

1.1 legislative planning and accountability framework .........................................................................................5 

1.1.2 Key planning considerations .........................................................................................................................6 

1.2 Strategic Priorities .........................................................................................................................................7 

2 Services and Service Performance Indicators ..................................................................................................9 

2.1 Key Performance Measure ........................................................................................................................... 10 

2.2 Pillar 1: - Supporting and growing Liveable, Connected Communities ............................................................ 13 

2.3 Pillar 2: - Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy .................................................................................... 15 

2.4 Pillar 3: - Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment ........................................................ 16 

2.5 Pillar 4: - Planning and Building infrastructure for current and future needs .................................................. 17 

2.6 Pillar 5: - Community and Centric Leadership and Proactive Delivery ............................................................ 18 

2.7 Reconciliation with budgeted operating result ............................................................................................. 19 

3 Financial statements.................................................................................................................................... 20 

Comprehensive Income Statement ...................................................................................................................... 21 

Balance Sheet ..................................................................................................................................................... 22 

Statement of Changes in Equity ........................................................................................................................... 23 

Statement of Cash Flows ..................................................................................................................................... 24 

Statement of Capital Works ................................................................................................................................ 25 

Statement of Human Resources .......................................................................................................................... 26 

Statement of Planned Human Resources Expenditure .......................................................................................... 27 

Statement of Planned Human Resources FTE ....................................................................................................... 28 

4 Notes to the financial statements ................................................................................................................ 29 

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement .............................................................................................................. 29 

4.1.1 Rates and charges ............................................................................................................................... 29 

4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines ...................................................................................................................... 37 

4.1.3 User fees ............................................................................................................................................ 37 

4.1.4 Grants ................................................................................................................................................ 38 

4.1.5 Contributions ..................................................................................................................................... 39 

4.1.6 Other Income ............................................................................................................................................. 39 

4.1.7 Employee costs ................................................................................................................................... 40 

4.1.8 Material and services .......................................................................................................................... 40 

4.1.9 Depreciation ....................................................................................................................................... 41 

4.1.10 Depreciation – Right of use assets ....................................................................................................... 41 

4.1.11 Other expenses................................................................................................................................... 41 

4.2 Balance Sheet ............................................................................................................................................... 42 

4.2.1 Borrowings ......................................................................................................................................... 42 

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.1

3 of 185



Pyrenees Shire Council 2025/26 Draft Budget 
 

2 
 

4.2.2 Leases by category .............................................................................................................................. 42 

4.4 Capital Works .............................................................................................................................................. 43 

4.4.1 Summary ............................................................................................................................................ 43 

4.4.2 Capital Budget .................................................................................................................................... 49 

5. Financial performance indicators ................................................................................................................. 53 

6. Schedule of fees and user charges ................................................................................................................ 49 

 

 

  

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.1

4 of 185



Pyrenees Shire Council 2025/26 Draft Budget 
 

3 
 

Mayor Introduction 
 

I am pleased to announce Council’s 2025-26 Draft Budget reflects our commitment to responsible financial 

management; while continuing to deliver the services and infrastructure our communities rely on every day.  

Key investments this year include road, bridge and drainage upgrades, a Beaufort Off-Lead Dog Park and a 

substantial financial contribution to the Beaufort Key Worker Accommodation Project, all ensuring that our 

community remains safe, accessible and thriving. 

The Draft Budget is aligned to our long-term strategic plans, ensuring that every dollar spent delivers value and 

achieves our shared priorities. 

Council is focussed on delivering a responsible budget that considers the resident’s financial burden and notes the 

impact of the added costs associated with the Victorian Government’s new Emergency Services and Volunteers 

Fund. 

The Draft Budget proposes spending $35.3 million. The centrepiece of the budget is: 

•  The Beaufort Key Worker Accommodation Project 

•  A new Beaufort Off-Lead Dog Park 

•  Upgrading some of our 2,000 kilometres of roads 

•  Renewal of some of our 150 bridges, 100 of which are over 50 years old 

•  Drainage works. 

In response to ratepayer feedback, I am pleased to announce a focus on both capital works and development 

projects. 

We are also keeping our Council rate rise to three per cent, which is in line with the Victorian Government’s 2025-26 

rate cap. 

The vacant land rate is now consolidated into one charge. This is because Council has realigned the rating strategy to 

achieve greater rate equity throughout the Shire. The farm rate has been readjusted and reduced over time and 

Council now believes vacant land rates should be consolidated into one, rather than the previous three rate 

categories. 

We are committed to maintaining our infrastructure and providing development opportunities in Pyrenees Shire, 

working together to build a strong, inclusive and sustainable future. 

 

 

Cr Tanya Kehoe  

Mayor  
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO 

The 2025-26 Draft Budget has been developed by implementing a thorough and transparent process that included 

in-depth reviews, analysis, and contributions from councillors, officers, and management.  

At its core, the Draft Budget delivers a substantial capital works program, with major investments in roads and bridge 

upgrades, drainage, recreation facilities and economic development, aligning with our Council Plan and Community 

Vision. 

The Draft Budget also reflects the key priorities in the new draft Council Plan 2025-2029 and Council Vision. These 

priorities focus on our people, place, environment, the economy and leadership.   

Around 55 per cent of the Pyrenees Shire income is raised through rates and other local revenue, with the remaining 

45 per cent coming from government grants and sales income.  

To meet the needs of our growing community, Council actively advocates for additional funding from the state and 

federal governments. Grants play a vital role in bridging the financial gap between locally raised funds and the 

resources needed to maintain and enhance services for residents, communities and our region. 

For the 2025-26 financial year, rates have been kept at a three per cent increase in line with the Victorian 

Government’s rate cap. 

Council is committed to ensuring our ratepayers continue to get the best value for their dollar by delivering high-

quality services, maintaining essential infrastructure, and planning responsibly for the future needs of the 

community.  

 

 

 

Jim Nolan 

Chief Executive Officer 
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1 Link to the Council Plan 
 

 

This section describes how the Budget links to the achievement of the Community Vision and Council Plan within an 

overall integrated planning and reporting framework. This framework guides the Council in identifying community 

needs and aspirations over the long term (Community Vision and Financial Plan), medium term (Council Plan, 

Workforce Plan, and Revenue and Rating Plan) and short term (Budget) and then holding itself accountable (Annual 

Report). 

 

1.1 legislative planning and accountability framework 
 

The Budget is a rolling four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council requires to 

achieve the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the integrated planning 

and reporting framework that applies to local government in Victoria. At each stage of the integrated planning and 

reporting framework there are opportunities for community and stakeholder input. This is important to ensure 

transparency and accountability to both residents and ratepayers. 

 

 

Source: Mark Davies (Financial Professional Solutions) 
 

The timing of each component of the integrated planning and reporting framework is critical to the successful 

achievement of the planned outcomes. 
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1.1.2 Key planning considerations 
Service level planning 

 

Although councils have a legal obligation to provide some services— such as animal management, local roads, food 
safety and statutory planning—most council services are not legally mandated, including some services closely 
associated with councils, such as libraries, building permits and sporting facilities.  Further, over time, the needs and 
expectations of communities can change. Therefore, councils need to have robust processes for service planning and 
review to ensure all services continue to provide value for money and are in line with community expectations. In 
doing so, councils should engage with communities to determine how to prioritise resources and balance service 
provision against other responsibilities such as asset maintenance and capital works.   
Community consultation needs to be in line with a councils adopted Community Engagement Policy and Public 
Transparency Policy. 
 

Our purpose 

In response to the Community Vision, the Council have agreed on the following vision for the course of the Council 

Plan: 

 

Our vision  

” Our Vision is for a vibrant shire where economic growth and innovation go hand-in-hand supporting key industry 

sectors, the natural environment and small-town sustainability. 

 

We put our Pyrenees communities at the centre of all decision-making.  Through our focus on wellbeing, 

community connections, and supporting all life stages, we aim to create vibrant, resilient communities where 

visitors and residents want to live, invest, and thrive.” 

 

Underpinning Principles 

 

1. Community-Centric and Responsive Culture 
 

Council fosters an enabling culture that listens, responds proactively, and works in partnership with 

communities to address their needs. 

 

2. Effective and Transparent Communication 
Council ensures timely, clear, and constructive communication with the community, valuing local knowledge 

and fostering open dialogue. 

 

3. Collaboration and Accountability 
Council promotes internal and external collaboration to achieve optimal outcomes while remaining 

accountable and transparent in its financial and resource management. 

 

4. Sustainable Service Delivery and Strategic Focus 
Council effectively delivers services to meet community needs, prioritising strategic alignment, outdoor 

maintenance, and long-term sustainability in all projects. 
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1.2 Strategic Priorities 

 

  

 

Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

A. Promote inclusivity and accessibility for all life stages by creating welcoming spaces 
and supporting diverse social, cultural, recreational, and economic activities. 

B. Improve community wellbeing through accessible health services, active lifestyles, 
mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure safety and amenity. 

C. Enable responsible development and population growth through strategic planning, 
affordable housing, and community-driven township plans that reflect local identity. 

D. Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 
and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services. 

 

Pillar 2: Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy 

A. Support the growth and diversification of new and existing businesses, with a focus on 
key sectors, innovation, and attracting investment. 

B. Deliver coordinated and facilitated strategic planning and economic development to 
support community aspirations and business growth. 

C. Promote and support community events and the visitor economy to celebrate local 
culture, boost tourism, and stimulate economic activity. 

D. Advocate for improved transport infrastructure, support job creation, and invest in 
workforce development to enhance connectivity and economic opportunity. 

 

Pillar 3: Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment 

A. Preserve and manage biodiversity and natural assets for long-term community benefit 
and environmental sustainability. 

B. Mitigate risks, build community resilience, and enhance responsiveness to natural 
disasters through proactive planning and collaboration. 

C. Support local industries and communities in adapting to climate change through 
sustainable practices and strategic adaptation efforts. 

D. Promote responsible waste practices by reducing landfill, improving resource 
recovery, and advocating for accessible, efficient, and rural-appropriate waste 
services. 
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Pillar 4: Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs 

A. Plan, build, and maintain essential infrastructure – including water, waste, sewerage, 
roads, bridges, and community assets – to support liveability, resilience, and growth. 

B. Eliminate communication blackspots and ensure all communities have reliable access 
to mobile, internet, and emergency services through strong advocacy and investment. 

C. Support innovative and appropriate development by updating land use planning, 
encouraging community input, and reducing barriers to growth. 

D. Advocate for fair renewable energy development, access to critical water supplies, 
and effective maintenance of natural and built assets to reduce impacts on 
communities and the environment. 

 

Pillar 5: Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery 

A. Foster a values-driven, inclusive culture where residents and community needs are 
central to all decision-making.  Empower leadership at all levels to be responsive, 
accountable, and aligned with Council and community priorities. 

B. Work constructively and in partnership with individuals and communities to anticipate 
needs, solve issues early, and deliver outcomes that build trust and resilience. 

C. Ensure timely, clear, and consistent communication and build strong community 
relationships, underpinned by transparency and meaningful engagement. 

D. Deliver high quality services and maintain public spaces efficiently, applying a strategic 
lens to all projects, and continuously improving systems, planning, and resource 
allocation. 
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2 Services and Service Performance Indicators 

 

This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the 2022/23 year and 

how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council Plan.  It also describes several 

initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of Council’s operations.  Council is required by 

legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives and service performance outcome indicators in the Budget and 

report against them in their Annual Report to support transparency and accountability.  The relationship between 

these accountability requirements in the Council Plan, the Budget and the Annual Report is shown below. 

 

 

Source: Department of Jobs, Precincts and Regions 

 

Services for which there are prescribed performance indicators to be reported on in accordance with the Regulations 

are shown in bold and underlined in the following sections. 
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2.1 Key Performance Measure 
 

 

 

 

Pillar 1: Measures - Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

a. Community satisfaction 3% improvement in scores for Appearance of Public 
Areas (2024 – 69) 

b. Community satisfaction 3% improvement in scores for Recreational Facilities 
(2024 - 68) 

c. Planning permits >80% planning permits issued within statutory 
timeframes 

d. Community Action Plans >80% key townships / localities with an updated 
community action plan within 2 years 

e. Township Framework Plans Complete for two main towns – Avoca and Beaufort 

f. Community facility 
accessibility 

Improve the proportion of council-owned community 
facilities that comply with established accessibility 
standards 

 

Pillar 2: Measures - Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy 

a. New business / investment 
attraction 

Number of new businesses established annually 

Percentage increase in local employment rates 

b. Increase small business 
sector capability 

Participant satisfaction rates and reported 
improvements in business operations. 

c. Business confidence Achieve a measurable increase in the local business 
confidence index within 12 months 

d. Business owner support by 
referrals made to business 
support agencies 

>6 businesses receiving support through referrals 
made by Council 

Satisfaction with the Council support services 
provided 

e. Residential growth based on 
government targets 

Achieve annual residential growth based on 
government targets of 52 new residential building 
approvals per year 
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Pillar 3: Measures - Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment 

a. Climate change  Achieve a 20% reduction in operational emissions in 
Council buildings within 4 years 

Convert 50% of council’s light vehicle fleet to hybrid or 
electric within 4 years 

b. Food and Organics Waste 
(FOGO) 

Implementation of comprehensive service delivery 
(FOGO) by 1 July 2027 

c. Kerbside waste collection Increase waste diverted from landfill (2024 – 30.41%) 
to 50% within 4 years 

d. Community bushfire 
resilience 

Successful development and availability of bushfire 
resilient planting guide by 30 June 2027 

 

Pillar 4: Measures - Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs 

a. Road Management Plan 
compliance 

Maintain >99% compliance to Plan intervention levels 

b. Increased digital connectivity 
and literacy 

Percentage increase in households and businesses 
with access to high-speed broadband 

Number of participants in digital literacy programs 

c. Industrial and commercial 
land availability 

Achieve 10 years’ worth of supply of zoned and 
serviced industrial / commercial land within the 
municipality within 4 years 

d. Improved transport 
infrastructure 

Percentage of identified end-of-life bridges renewed or 
replaced. 

Reduction in the number of weight-restricted bridges  
(2025 26/150 17%) 

e. Emergency water (for stock 
and fire emergencies) 

Within 4 years achieve 100% coverage of accessible 
emergency water within 20k km of any resident 
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Pillar 5: Measures - Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery 

a. Responsiveness and 
enquiries resolution 

>80% resolution within 15 days of receipt for 
customer action requests, enquiries and complaints 

Reduction in average processing times for service 
requests and enquiries 

b. Community satisfaction 3% improvement in  community satisfaction scores for 
Council Overall Performance (2024 – 55) 

c. Community engagement 3% improvement in community satisfaction scores for 
Consultation and Engagement (2024 – 52) 

d. Overall Council direction 3% improvement in community satisfaction scores for 
Overall Council Direction (2024 – 43) 

e. Staff development and 
engagement 

3% improvement in staff satisfaction and engagement 
survey results. 

f. Technology utilisation Increase in online service adoption rates by the 
community 
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2.2 Pillar 1: - Supporting and growing Liveable, Connected Communities 
 

 

  

23/24 24/25 25/26

Business area Description of services provided Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Community grants

Council conducts two rounds of community grants each year. This service 

combines a wide range of opportunities for the community to apply for 

grants for a variety of projects which contribute to the general well being 

of the community.

Revenue 0 0 0 

Expenditure 71 71 81 

Net Cost (71) (71) (81)

Aged & Disability 

Services

This service provides a range of home and community care services for the 

aged and disabled including home delivered meals, personal care, transport, 

respite care, home modifications and senior citizen clubs.

Revenue 80 80 12 

Expenditure 639 639 490 

Net Cost (559) (559) (478)

Family Services
This service provides family oriented support services including maternal 

and child health, youth services, immunisation and health and safety.

Revenue 400 400 296 

Expenditure 297 297 499 

Net Cost 103 103 (203)

Library Services

This service provides public library services at three locations and provides 

a customer focused service that caters for the cultural, educational and 

recreational needs of residents and provides a focal point for the 

community where they can meet, relax and enjoy the facilities and services 

offered.

Revenue 20 20 266 

Expenditure 122 122 244 

Net Cost (102) (102) 22 

Animal control

This service provides the animal management services of the Shire. It 

maintains and improves the health and safety of people, animals and the 

environment by providing animal management services including a cat 

trapping program, a dog and cat collection service, a lost and found 

notification service, a pound service, a registration and administration 

service, an afterhours service and an emergency service. It also provides 

education, regulation and enforcement of the General Local Law and 

relevant State legislation.

Revenue 181 181 189 

Expenditure 279 279 253 

Net Cost (98) (98) (64)

Caravan Parks

This service provides caravan park facilities for residents and visitors to the 

municipality.

Revenue 326 326 553 

Expenditure 402 402 414 

Net Cost (76) (76) 139 
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23/24 24/25 25/26

Business area Description of services provided Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Recreation, public halls 

and parks and reserves

This service provides swimming pool facilities services at three locations, 

public halls, parks and gardens and provides a customer focused service 

that caters for the cultural, educational and recreational needs of residents 

and provides a focal point for the community where they can meet, relax 

and enjoy the facilities and services offered. Parks Management provides 

management and implementation of open space strategies and 

maintenance programs. Parks and gardens maintenance provides 

management of all parks and gardens.

Revenue 18 18 118 

Expenditure 1,269 1,269 1,396 

Net Cost (1,251) (1,251) (1,278)

(2,054) (1,943)Total Net Cost (2,054)
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2.3 Pillar 2: - Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy 
 

 

  

23/24 24/25 25/26

Business area Description of services provided Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Planning

This statutory planning service processes all planning applications, provides 

advice and makes decisions about development proposals which require a 

planning permit, as well as representing Council at the Victorian Civil and 

Administrative Tribunal where necessary. It monitors the Council’s Planning 

Scheme as well as preparing major policy documents shaping the future of 

the Shire. It also prepares and processes amendments to the Council 

Planning Scheme and carries out research on demographic, urban 

development, economic and social issues affecting Council.

Revenue 239 239 163 

Expenditure 551 551 826 

Net Cost (312) (312) (663)

Economic 

development

This service provides Council with general economic development services, 

community building, events management, tourism, sponsorship, 

contribution towards state funded initiatives and promotional activities 

throughout the Shire.

Revenue 119 119 29 

Expenditure 858 858 838 

Net Cost (739) (739) (809)

Environmental Health 

This service protects the community’s health and well-being by 

coordinating food safety support programs, Tobacco Act activities and 

smoke free dining. The service also works to rectify any public health 

concerns relating to unreasonable noise emissions, housing standards and 

pest controls.

Revenue 79 79 99 

Expenditure 265 265 216 

Net Cost (186) (186) (117)

Caravan parks
This service provides caravan park facilities for residents and visitors to the 

municipality.

Revenue 0 0 0 

Expenditure 259 259 347 

Net Cost (259) (259) (347)

Building Services

This service provides statutory building services to the community including 

processing of building permits, emergency management responsibilities, fire 

safety inspections, audits of swimming pool barriers and investigations of 

complaints and illegal works.

Revenue 56 56 68 

Expenditure 241 241 321 

Net Cost (185) (185) (253)

(2,189)Total Net Cost (1,681) (1,681)
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2.4 Pillar 3: - Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment 
 

 

  

23/24 24/25 25/26

Business area Description of services provided Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Disaster Management 

This service facilitates the emergency preparedness and fire management 

services of the Council. This includes the roadside slashing program that 

occurs each year, the fire prevention officer's role and the emergency 

preparedness staff .

Revenue 1,586 1,586 75 

Expenditure 3,334 3,334 297 

Net Cost (1,748) (1,748) (222)

Waste Management 

Services

This service provides waste collection including kerbside rubbish collections 

of garbage, hard waste and green waste from households and some 

commercial properties in Council. It also provides street litter bins 

throughout the Shire.  The net surplus here is used to fund $59,000 of 

Transfer Station Upgrade capital works.

Revenue 2,512 2,512 2,735 

Expenditure 1,969 1,969 2,164 

Net Cost 543 543 571 

Environmental 

Planning

This service develops environmental policy, coordinates and implements 

environmental projects and works with other services to improve Council’s 

environmental performance. It also provides roadside weeds and pest 

animal  management programs.

Revenue 62 62 63 

Expenditure 159 159 222 

Net Cost (97) (97) (159)

Total Net Cost (1,302) (1,302) 190 
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2.5 Pillar 4: - Planning and Building infrastructure for current and future needs  
 

 

  

23/24 24/25 25/26

Business area Description of services provided Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Road maintenance
This service is responsible for the maintenance of Council's road network.

Revenue 167 167 15 

Expenditure 2,283 2,283 3,246 

Net Cost (2,116) (2,116) (3,231)

Traffic and 

Transportation 

Services 

This service provides strategic planning, policy development and day to day 

management of traffic and transport related issues in Council. The unit also 

implements Local Area Traffic Management schemes and assistance with 

implementation of the Road Safety Strategy.

Revenue 229 229 18 

Expenditure 1,195 1,195 1,311 

Net Cost (966) (966) (1,293)

Total Net Cost (3,082) (3,082) (4,524)
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2.6 Pillar 5: - Community and Centric Leadership and Proactive Delivery  
 

 

 

 

  

23/24 24/25 25/26

Business area Description of services provided Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Public conveniences
This service provides Council with public convenience facilities throughout 

the Shire.

Revenue 0 0 0 

Expenditure 94 94 87 

Net Cost (94) (94) (87)

Councillors, Chief 

Executive and 

Governance

This area of governance includes the Mayor, Councillors, Chief Executive 

Officer and Governance Team and associated support which cannot be 

easily attributed to the direct service provision areas.

Revenue 2 2 0 

Expenditure 1,238 1,238 1,375 

Net Cost (1,236) (1,236) (1,375)

Customer & Civic 

Services

This service provides a range of statutory and corporate support services 

and acts as the main customer interface with the community. Services 

include the coordination of financial management, insurance, revenue 

management, audit, records and information management and office 

support services at the Council Offices.

Revenue 756 756 7,609 

Expenditure 4,693 4,693 5,076 

Net Cost (3,937) (3,937) 2,533 

Admin and other
General administration and other expenditure items in this program area.

Revenue 45 45 2,812 

Expenditure 74 74 370 

Net Cost (29) (29) 2,442 

People and Culture
This service provides the recruitment, training, performance evaluation and 

departure of Council staff.

Revenue 0 0 0 

Expenditure 166 166 233 

Net Cost (166) (166) (233)

Information centres
This service provides, supports and maintains reliable and cost effective 

visitor  information facilities and infrastructure to Council.

Revenue 112 112 84 

Expenditure 486 486 349 

Net Cost (374) (374) (265)

Total Net Cost (5,836) (5,836) 3,015 

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.1

20 of 185



Pyrenees Shire Council 2025/26 Draft Budget 
 

19 
 

2.7 Reconciliation with budgeted operating result 
 

 

  

Net Cost Expenditure Revenue

$’000 $’000 $’000

Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities (1,943) 3,377 1,434 

Pillar 2: Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy (2,189) 2,548 359 

Pillar 3: Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment 190 2,683 2,873 

Pillar 4: Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs (4,524) 4,557 33 

Pillar 5: Community and Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery 3,015 7,490 10,505 

(5,451) 20,655 15,204 

0 

(5,451)

11,849 

2,455 

0 

Depreciation (6,357)

7,947 

2,496 

Total services and initiatives

Total funding sources 

 for the year

Other non-attributable 

Deficit before funding sources

Funding sources:

Rates 

Capital grants

Gain on asset sales

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.1

21 of 185



Pyrenees Shire Council 2025/26 Draft Budget 
 

20 
 

3 Financial statements 
This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human Resources.  The 

budget information for the year 2025/26 has been supplemented with projections to 2028/29. 

This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 2020 

and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020 

• Comprehensive Income Statement 

• Balance Sheet 

• Statement of Changes in Equity 

• Statement of Cash Flows 

• Statement of Capital Works 

• Statement of Human Resources 
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Comprehensive Income Statement 

 

  

For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Forecast

Actual

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income/Revenue

Rates and charges 4.1.1 14,045 14,566 15,003 15,453 15,917

Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 280 296 303 311 319

User fees 4.1.3 736 903 926 949 973

Grants - Operating 4.1.4 7,942 8,202 8,407 8,617 8,832

Grants - Capital 4.1.4 4,080 5,038 2,455 2,455 2,516

Contributions - cash 4.1.5 34 34 0 0 0

Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment
0 0 0 0 0

Other income 4.1.6 938 469 481 493 505

Total income / revenue 28,055 29,509 27,575 28,278 29,062

Expenses

Employee costs 4.1.7 10,124 10,356 10,658 11,057 11,472

Materials and services 4.1.8 9,080 9,848 9,859 10,105 10,358

Allowance for impairment losses 11 10 10 10 10

Depreciation 4.1.9 6,202 6,357 6,516 6,679 6,846

Depreciation - right of use assets 4.1.10 9 9 9 9 9

Borrowing costs 68 122 156 137 122

Finance Costs - Leases 11 9 9 9 1

Other expenses 4.1.12 309 302 309 317 325

Total expenses 25,814 27,013 27,526 28,323 29,144

Surplus (deficit) for the year 2,241 2,496 49 (45) (81)

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in 

future periods:
0 0 0 0 0

Net asset revaluation gain/(loss)

Total comprehensive result 2,241 2,496 49 (45) (81)

Budget Projections
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Balance Sheet 

 

 

  

For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Forecast

Actual

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8,005 8,079 8,223 8,375 8,535

Trade and other receivables 2,435 2,581 2,731 2,886 3,045

Inventories 14 14 14 14 14

Prepayments 207 207 207 207 207

Other assets 43 43 43 43 43

Total current assets 10,704 10,924 11,218 11,525 11,844

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables 8 8 8 8 8

Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 291,453 294,475 293,890 293,291 292,676

Right of Use Assets 0 0 0 0 0

Total non-current assets 291,461 294,483 293,898 293,299 292,684

Total assets 302,165 305,408 305,117 304,824 304,528

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 2,436 2,436 2,436 2,436 2,436

Trust funds and deposits 1,171 1,171 1,171 1,171 1,171

Provisions 2,329 2,393 2,459 2,527 2,596

Lease liabilities 9 9 10 2 0

Interest-bearing liabilities 314 404 311 288 302

Total current liabilities 6,259 6,413 6,387 6,424 6,505

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 200 206 212 218 224

Lease liabilities 21 12 2 0 0

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 2,221 2,818 2,506 2,219 1,916

Total non-current liabilities 2,442 3,036 2,720 2,437 2,140

Total liabilities 8,701 9,448 9,108 8,860 8,646

Net assets 293,464 295,960 296,009 295,964 295,882

Equity

Accumulated surplus 102,187 104,683 104,732 104,687 104,605

Reserves 191,277 191,277 191,277 191,277 191,277

Total equity 293,464 295,960 296,009 295,964 295,882

Budget Projections
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

 

  

For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Total

Accumulated 

Surplus

Revaluation 

Reserve

Other 

Reserves

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2025 Forecast Actual

Balance at beginning of the financial year 291,223 99,946 191,268 9 

(Deficit) for the year 2,241 2,241 0 0 

Net asset revaluation gain(loss) 0 

Balance at end of the financial year 293,464 102,187 191,268 9 

2026 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 293,464 102,187 191,268 9 

(Deficit) for the year 2,496 2,496 

Net asset revaluation increment(decrement)

Balance at end of the financial year 295,960 104,683 191,268 9 

2027

Balance at beginning of the financial year 295,960 104,683 191,268 9 

(Deficit) for the year 49 49 

Net asset revaluation gain(loss) 0 

Balance at end of the financial year 296,009 104,732 191,268 9 

2028

Balance at beginning of the financial year 296,009 104,732 191,268 9 

(Deficit) for the year (45) (45)

Net asset revaluation gain(loss) 0 

Balance at end of the financial year 295,964 104,687 191,268 9 

2029

Balance at beginning of the financial year 295,964 104,687 191,268 9 

(Deficit) for the year (81) (81)

Net asset revaluation gain(loss) 0 

Balance at end of the financial year 295,882 104,605 191,268 9 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

 

 

 

  

For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Forecast

Actual

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows

(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and service charges 14,033 14,420 14,853 15,298 15,758

Statutory fees and fines 269 296 303 311 319

User charges 736 893 916 939 963

Grants - operating 7,942 8,202 8,407 8,617 8,832

Grants - capital 4,080 5,038 2,455 2,455 2,516

Contributions - cash 34 34 0 0 0

Interest on cash invested 450 400 0 0 0

Trust funds and deposits taken 0 0 0 0 0

Other receipts 488 69 481 493 505

Net GST refund 0 0 0 0 0

Employee costs (10,047) (10,286) (10,586) (10,983) (11,396)

Materials and services (9,082) (9,848) (9,859) (10,105) (10,358)

Trust funds and deposits repaid 0 0 0 0 0

Other payments (309) (302) (309) (317) (325)

Net cash provided by operating activities 4.4.1 8,594 8,917 6,661 6,707 6,815

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 

(11,071) (9,708) (6,265) (6,422) (6,582)

Payments for land held for resale 0 0 0 0 0

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment 
309 319 325 333 341

Proceeds from sale of land held for resale 0 0 0 0 0

Net cash used in investing activities 4.4.2 (10,762) (9,389) (5,940) (6,089) (6,241)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Finance costs (68) (122) (156) (137) (122)

Proceeds from borrowings 1,300 1,000 0 0 0

Repayment of borrowings (239) (314) (404) (311) (288)

Interest paid - lease liability (11) (9) (9) (9) (1)

Repayment of lease liabilities (11) (9) (9) (10) (2)

Net cash used in financing activities 4.4.3 971 546 (578) (467) (413)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,197) 74 144 152 160 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 
9,202 8,005 8,079 8,223 8,374

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 8,005 8,079 8,223 8,374 8,534

Budget Projections
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Statement of Capital Works 

 

 

  

For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Forecast

Actual

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property

Land 650 0 0 0 0

Land Improvements 0 0 0 0 0

Total land 650 0 0 0 0

Buildings

Buildings 0 2,472 0 0 0

Building Improvements 1,633 195 200 205 210

Total buildings 1,633 2,667 200 205 210

Total property 2,283 2,667 200 205 210

Plant and equipment

Plant, machinery and equipment 1,223 787 806 826 847

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 40 21 22 22 23

Computers and telecommunications 502 164 168 172 176

Library books 26 26 27 28 29

Total plant and equipment 1,791 998 1,023 1,048 1,075

Infrastructure

Roads 3,773 4,107 4,210 4,317 4,423

Bridges 1,080 433 444 455 466

Footpaths and cycleways 228 31 32 32 33

Drainage 612 205 210 215 221

Waste management 738 214 92 94 97

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 26 53 54 56 57

Other infrastructure 540 1,000 0 0 0

Total infrastructure 6,997 6,043 5,042 5,169 5,297

Total capital works expenditure 11,071 9,708 6,265 6,422 6,582

Represented by:

New asset expenditure 3,120 4,462 887 910 932

Asset renewal expenditure 5,669 5,246 5,378 5,512 5,650

Asset expansion expenditure 455 0 0 0 0

Asset upgrade expenditure 1,827 0 0 0 0

Total capital works expenditure 11,071 9,708 6,265 6,422 6,582

Funding sources represented by:

Grants 4,080 5,038 2,455 2,455 2,516

Contributions 34 34 0 0 0

Council cash 5,657 3,636 3,810 3,967 4,066

Borrowings 1,300 1,000 0 0 0

Total capital works expenditure 11,071 9,708 6,265 6,422 6,582

Budget Projections
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Statement of Human Resources 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

For the four years ending 30 June 2029

Forecast

Actual

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff expenditure

Employee costs - operating 10,124 10,356 10,658 11,057 11,472

Employee costs - capital 395 405 416 428 439

Total staff expenditure 10,519 10,761 11,074 11,485 11,911

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Staff numbers

Employees 90.4 93.0 93.0 93.1 93.2

Total staff numbers 90.4 93.0 93.0 93.1 93.2

Budget Projections

Budget

Department 2025/26 Full Time Part Time Casual Temporary

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Corporate & Community Services 3,038 2,037 987 14 0

CEO & Council 999 761 175 63 0

Assets & Development Services 3,823 3,683 120 20 0

Total permanent staff expenditure 7,860 6,481 1,282 97 0

Other employee related expenditure 2,496

Capitalised labour costs 405

Total expenditure 10,761

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of Council is included below:

Comprises

Permanent

Budget

Department 2025/26 Full Time Part Time Casual Temporary

Corporate & Community Services 34.5 22.0 12.3 0.2 0.0

CEO & Council 10.2 7.0 2.2 1.0 0.0

Assets & Development Services 48.3 46.0 1.9 0.4 0.0

Total staff 93.0 75.0 16.4 1.5 0.0

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above expenditure is included below:

Comprises

Permanent
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Statement of Planned Human Resources Expenditure 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For the four years ending 30 June 2029

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Corporate & Community Services
Permanent full time                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Male                     1,142                     1,600                     1,600                     1,600 

Female                         895                     1,254                     1,254                     1,254 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Permanent part time

Male                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Female                         987                     1,383                     1,383                     1,383 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Total                     3,024                     4,237                     4,237                     4,237 

CEO & Council
Permanent full time                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Male                         434                         608                         608                         608 

Female                         328                         460                         460                         460 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Permanent part time                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Male                           32                           45                           45                           45 

Female                         142                         199                         199                         199 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Total                         936                     1,312                     1,312                     1,312 

Assets & Development Services
Permanent full time                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Male                     2,880                     4,036                     4,036                     4,036 

Female                         718                     1,006                     1,006                     1,006 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Permanent part time

Male                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Female                         120                         168                         168                         168 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Total                     3,718                     5,210                     5,210                     5,210 

Casual, temporary and other expenditure 2,841                   2                           315                       726                       

Total staff expenditure 10,519                 10,761                 11,074                 11,485                 
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Statement of Planned Human Resources FTE 

 

 

 

  

For the four years ending 30 June 2029

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

FTE FTE FTE FTE

Corporate & Community Services
Permanent full time 

Male                     11.00                     11.00                     11.00                     11.00 

Female                     11.00                     11.00                     11.00                     11.00 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Permanent part time

Male                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Female                     12.27                     12.27                     12.27                     12.27 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Total                     34.27                     34.27                     34.27                     34.27 

CEO & Council
Permanent full time                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Male                       3.00                       3.00                       3.00                       3.00 

Female                       4.00                       4.00                       4.00                       4.00 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Permanent part time

Male                       0.42                       0.42                            -                              -   

Female                       1.81                       1.81                       1.81                       1.81 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Total                       9.23                       9.23                       8.81                       8.81 

Assets & Development Services
Permanent full time                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Male                     36.00                     36.00                     36.00                     36.00 

Female                     10.00                     10.00                     10.00                     10.00 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Permanent part time

Male                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Female                       1.91                       1.91                       1.91                       1.91 

Self-described gender                            -                              -                              -                              -   

Total                     47.91                     47.91                     47.91                     47.91 

Casual, temporary 1.54                     1.63                     2.14                     2.23                     

Total staff numbers 92.95                   93.04                   93.14                   93.23                   
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4 Notes to the financial statements 

This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements. Council needs to 

assess which components are material, considering the dollar amounts and nature of these components. 

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement 

4.1.1 Rates and charges 
Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s budget. 

As per the Local Government Act 2020, Council is required to have a Revenue and Rating Plan which is a four year 

plan for how Council will generate income to deliver the Council Plan, program and services and capital works 

commitments over a four-year period.   

In developing the Budget, rates and charges were identified as an important source of revenue. Planning for future 

rate increases has therefore been an important component of the financial planning process. The Fair Go Rates 

System (FGRS) sets out the maximum amount councils may increase rates in a year. For 2025/26 the FGRS cap has 

been set at 3.0%. The cap applies to both general rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of 

council’s average rates and charges.   

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other sources 

of income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be undertaken for the community. 

To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the average 

general rate and the municipal charge will increase by 3.0% in line with the rate cap.  

4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as follows: 

 

 

*These items are subject to the rate cap established under the FGRS 

 

  

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2024/25 2025/26

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Waste management charge              2,463 2,715                             252 10.23%

Service rates and charges              9,740 10,384                           644 6.61%

Supplementary rates and rate adjustments                    16 25                                       9 56.25%

Interest on rates and charges                  100 75                  -                 25 -25.00%

Revenue in lieu of rates              1,291 1,368                               77 5.96%

Total rates and charges            13,610 14,567                           957 7.03%

Change
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4.1.1(b) The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for each type or class of 

land compared with the previous financial year: 

 

 

4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and the 

estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year: 

 

 

  

Budget Budget

2024/25 2025/26

cents/$CIV cents/$CIV
General rate for rateable residential properties 0.230995 0.259263     12.24%

General rate for rateable commercial properties 0.265644 0.324079     22.00%

General rate for rateable industrial properties 0.265644 0.324079     22.00%

0.600587 0.388895     -35.25%

0.531289 0.388895     -26.80%

0.358042 0.388895     8.62%

General rate for undevelopable land 0.230995 0.233337     1.01%

General rate for rateable farm properties 0.161697 0.181485     12.24%

Recreational properties 0.230995 0.259263     12.24%

Type or class of land Change

General rate for rateable vacant non-farm land properties less than 

two hectares

General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land properties between 

two hectares and forty hectares

General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land properties greater 

than forty hectares 

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2024/25 2025/26

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General rate for rateable residential properties 3,105            3,793            687                
22.13%

General rate for rateable commercial properties 123                161                37                  
30.40%

General rate for rateable industrial properties 182                218                36                  19.90%

General rate for rateable vacant non-farm land 

properties less than two hectares
303                174                129-                

-42.48%

General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 

properties between two hectares and forty hectares 885                636                249-                

-28.15%

General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 

properties greater than forty hectares 
244                234                10-                  

-4.01%

General rate for undevelopable land 0                    0                    0                    22.50%

General rate for rateable farm properties 4,870            5,077            207                4.25%

Recreational properties 28                  39                  11                  39.04%

Total amount to be raised by general rates 9,740            10,332          592                6.07%

Type or class of land

Change
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4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of assessments, 

compared with the previous financial year: 

 

 

4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Capital Improved Value (CIV). 

4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land, compared 

with the previous financial year: 

 

 

4.1.1(g) The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous financial year: 

 

 

  

2024/25 2025/26

Number Number Number %
General rate for rateable residential properties 3,240            3,272            32                  0.99%

General rate for rateable commercial properties 102                102                -                0.00%

General rate for rateable industrial properties 92                  90                  2-                    -2.17%

General rate for rateable vacant non-farm land 

properties less than two hectares
371                383                12                  

3.23%

General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 

properties between two hectares and forty hectares
733                744                11                  

1.50%

General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 

properties greater than forty hectares 
116                113                3-                    

-2.59%

General rate for undevelopable land 2                    4                    2                    100.00%

General rate for rateable farm properties 1,624            1,597            27-                  -1.66%

Recreational properties 39                  43                  4                    10.26%

Total number of assessments 6,319            6,348            29                  0.46%

Change
Type or class of land

2024/25 2025/26

000 000 000 %
General rate for rateable residential properties 1,476,241     1,462,802    13,440-          -0.91%

General rate for rateable commercial properties 49,436          49,619          183                0.37%

General rate for rateable industrial properties 70,600          67,352          3,248-            -4.60%

General rate for rateable vacant non-farm land 

properties less than two hectares
47,300          44,770          2,530-            

-5.35%

General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 

properties between two hectares and forty hectares
173,085        163,509        9,576-            

-5.53%

General rate for rateable non-farm vacant land 

properties greater than forty hectares 
73,150          60,112          13,038-          

-17.82%

General rate for undevelopable land 94                  154                60                  63.83%

General rate for rateable farm properties 2,929,654     2,797,704    131,950-        -4.50%

Recreational properties 14,577          14,975          398                2.73%

Total value of land 4,834,137    4,660,996    173,141-        -3.58%

Change
Type or class of land

Per 

Rateable 

Property

Per 

Rateable 

Property

 Type of Charge 2024/25 2025/26
$ $ $ %

Municipal Charge -                -                -                0.00%

Change
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4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges compared with the previous financial year: 

 

 

4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of the Act 

compared with the previous financial year: 

 

 

4.1.1(j) The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated total 

amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial year: 

 

 

4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous financial year: 

 

 

  

2024/25 2025/26

 Type of Charge $ $ $ %
Municipal Charge -                -                0.00%

Change

Per 

Rateable 

Property

Per 

Rateable 

Property

 Type of Charge 2024/25 2025/26

$ $ $ %
Disposal Charge Unimproved Property 102                116                14                  13.73%

Disposal Charge Improved Property 252                254                2                    0.79%

Collection Charge Kerbside & Recycling 581                603                22                  3.79%

Collection Charge Kerbside, Green & Recycling 581                602                21                  3.61%

Change

2024/25 2025/26

 Type of Charge %
Disposal Charge Unimproved Property 2,255            2,367            112                4.97%

Disposal Charge Improved Property 42                  47                  5                    11.90%

Collection Charge Kerbside & Recycling 2,538            2,570            32                  1.26%

Collection Charge Kerbside, Green & Recycling 1,432            1,462            30                  2.09%

Total number of waste service charges 6,267            6,446            179                2.86%

Change

2024/25 2025/26

 Type of Charge $’000 $’000 $’000 %
Waste service charges 2,547            2,715            168                6.60%

General rates 9,351            10,359          1,008            10.78%

Supplementary/(objections) general rates 25                  25                  -                0.00%

Windfarms in lieu of rates 1,330            1,368            38                  2.86%

Interest on rates 100                75                  25-                  -25.00%

Total Rates and charges 13,353          14,542          1,189            8.90%

Change
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4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System Compliance: 

Pyrenees Shire Council is required to comply with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System (FGRS).  The table 

below details the budget assumptions consistent with the requirements of the Fair Go Rates System: 

 

4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges: 

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges. 

However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected by: 

• The making of supplementary valuations  

• The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals) 

• Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa 

• Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa. 

4.1.1(n) Differential rates: 

The 2023/24 budget has been prepared in line with Council's Revenue and Rating Plan. The Revenue and Rating Plan 

is available on Council's website. 

The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are: 

 

  

2024/25 2025/26
Total Rates 9,965,530     10,384          

Number of rateable properties 6,319            6,348            

Base Average Rates 1,577.07       1,635.73       

Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government) 2.75% 3.00%

Capped Average Rate 1,593.42       1,624.39       

Maximum General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue 10,068,792  10,311,603  

Budgeted General Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue 9,965,530     10,383,596  

Budgeted Supplementary Rates 24,913          25,000          

Budgeted Total Rates and Municipal Charges Revenue 9,990,443    10,408,596  

A general rate of 0.259263   (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable residential properties

A general rate of 0.324079   (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable commercial properties

A general rate of 0.324079   (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable industrial properties

A general rate of 0.388895   
(cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable vacant non-farm land less than two 

hectares properties

A general rate of 0.388895   
(cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable non-farm vacant land between two 

hectares and forty hectares properties

A general rate of 0.388895   
(cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable non-farm vacant land greater than forty 

hectares properties

A general rate of 0.233337   (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable undevelopable land properties

A general rate of 0.181485   (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable farm properties

A general rate of 0.259263   (cents in the dollar of CIV) for all rateable recreational properties
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Residential land is any rateable land wherever located within the municipality which has a dwelling that can be 

occupied for the principal purpose of physically accommodating persons, and does not have the characteristics of 

Vacant Land, Farmland, Commercial Land or Industrial Land. 

The objective of this differentials rate is to ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, 

statutory, service provision and community services obligations and to ensure that the differential rate in the dollar 

declared for defined general rate land properties is fair and equitable, having regard to the cost and the level of 

benefits derived from provision of Council services. 

 

Commercial/Industrial Land is any land which is: 

a) used primarily for carrying out the manufacture or production of, or trade in goods or services (including 

tourist facilities and in the case of a business providing accommodation for tourists, is prescribed 

accommodation as per Public Health and Wellbeing Act (Vic) 2008; or 

b) unoccupied building erected which is zoned Commercial or Industrial under the Victorian City Council 

Planning Scheme; or 

c) unoccupied land which is zoned Commercial or Industrial under the Pyrenees Shire Council Planning 

Scheme. 

The rate reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained between the 

commercial/industrial property and other classes of property. The differential is set higher than for other classes of 

land for several reasons, including:  

• the tax deductibility of Council rates for commercial properties,  

• the greater burden imposed by businesses on Council as demonstrated by the need for public infrastructure,  

• rates tending to be a lower order factor in business investment decisions, 

• the income-generating capability of commercial- or industrial-based properties. 

The application of a Commercial/Industrial differential rate is aimed at fostering the creation of a vibrant local 

economy through the promotion of tourism and business investments, development of a sustainable public 

infrastructure and improvements in health, support, and community services within the municipality. 

 

Vacant land in this class is any land wherever located within the Municipality on which no dwelling is erected, and 

which does not meet the definition of farm land as defined in the Valuation of Land Act 1960. 

The objective of this differentials rate for Non-Farm Vacant Land is to encourage the development of vacant land. 

The encouragement of development is strategically important as it has a positive effect on local employment and 

income whereas speculative behaviour may result in market instability and should be discouraged. 

Council holds the view that the vacant land differential should be higher than the general rate to encourage the 

development of land and ensure that all rateable land will make an equitable financial contribution to the cost of 

carrying out the functions of Council.  

Residential Rate (General Rate)

Commercial / Industrial Rate

Non-farm vacant land properties 

* Non-Farm Vacant Land less than two hectares (Urban)

* Non-Farm Vacant Land between two and forty hectares (Rural Residential)

* Non-Farm Vacant Land greater than forty hectares (Rural)
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Furthermore, the Council also believes that a higher differential rate will also assist to partly offset the costs of 

servicing new land, including major infrastructure studies and the implementation of interconnecting infrastructure 

between subdivisions. However, the more difficult task is determining an appropriate differential to the general rate. 

 

Land deemed not suitable for residential, commercial, or industrial purposes due to the restrictions under the 

Pyrenees Shire Council’s Planning Scheme. 

The objective of this rate is to ensure that the differential rate applied to undevelopable land is fair and equitable 

and does not pose any unnecessary financial burden on property owners. In its consideration of the cost and benefits 

of delivering services to the community, Council will examine the potential use of undevelopable land as green space 

and links/corridors to conservation areas and wildlife reserves. 

Furthermore, the Council also believes that a higher differential rate will also assist to partly offset the costs of 

servicing new land, including major infrastructure studies and the implementation of interconnecting infrastructure 

between subdivisions.  However, the more difficult task is determining an appropriate differential to the general 

rate. 

 

 

Farm land is defined as any rateable land which meets the definition as described under Section 2(1) of the Valuation 

of Land Act 1960: 

a) any rateable land that is 2 or more hectares in area, 

b) used for carrying on a business of primary production as determined by the Australian Taxation Office, 

c) used primarily for agricultural production (grazing, including agistment, dairying, pig-farming, poultry 

farming, fish farming, tree farming, beekeeping, viticulture, horticulture, fruit growing or the growing of 

crops of any kind or for any combination of those activities, and 

d) used by a business: 

• which has a significant and substantial commercial purpose of character, and 

• seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from its activities on the land, and  

• is making a profit from the activities on the land if it continues to operate in the way that it is 

operating. 

Council has decided that the Farm Properties definition for differential rating purposes be revised to only capture 

rateable properties which have primary production as its substantive use and exclude properties where primary 

production is secondary or incidental to the property use (commonly referred to as lifestyle properties).  Therefore, 

the current differential farm rate will only be applicable to genuine farming operations as distinct from hobby or 

rural lifestyle properties.  

It was also determined that the definition of Farm Land for differential rating purposes be modified so that rural 

lifestyle properties are no longer defined as Farm Land for differential rating purposes.  Properties where primary 

production and associated improvements are secondary to the value of the residential home site and associated 

residential improvements should not be classified as Farm Land for differential rating purposes.  Similarly, vacant 

properties in a rural, semi-rural or bushland setting that have no restrictions or are not likely to encounter difficulties 

in obtaining building purposes should not be classified as Farm Land for differential rating purposes. 

Undevelopable Land

Farm Properties
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The objective of this rate is to ensure that the differential Farm Land rate is fair and equitable through the 

application of a discount to farm land properties as Council believes these properties pay disproportionately higher 

rates in relation to income generated, because of the higher land component. 

In its considerations of the cost and benefits of delivering services to the community, Council aims to assist in 

maintaining the sustainability of the farming sector as a major industry and balancing its strong agricultural base with 

the overall economic growth in the municipality. 

 

Rateable property which is used primarily for cultural, recreational or club activities. including golf clubs, bowls clubs, 

scout or guide halls, masonic halls, historical societies, and heritage buildings (not for profit). 

The objective of this rate is to recognise the public benefit that Cultural and Recreational Properties provide. 

 

Rateable land which has a Trust for Nature Covenant applying to the land. A Trust for Nature Covenant enables the 

permanent protection of significant areas of natural bush habitat on private land. It is a voluntary agreement 

between the ratepayer and Trust for Nature and is to be recognised on title.  

Council recognises the public and environmental benefit that Trust for Nature Covenants provide and supports 

ratepayers with these covenants by offering the reduction of rates payable through its biodiversity and land 

management incentive program. 

  

Cultural and Recreational Land

Trust for Nature Covenants
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4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines 

 

 

4.1.3 User fees 

 

 

 

  

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2024/25 2025/26

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Planning Fees 150                150                -                0.00%

Building Control 15                  17                  2                    13.33%

Environmental Health 64                  64                  -                0.00%

Animal Fees & Fines 29                  34                  5                    17.24%

Other -                31                  31                  0.00%

280                296                16                  5.71%

Change

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2024/25 2025/26

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Caravan Parks 14                  18                  4                    28.57%

Environmental Health 34                  7                    27-                  -79.41%

Animal Registration Charges 141                148                7                    4.96%

Caravan Parks 351                553                202                57.55%

Community Centres 59                  58                  1-                    -1.69%

Rental Income 8                    29                  21                  262.50%

Building Fees 61                  51                  10-                  -16.39%

Other 68                  39                  29-                  -42.35%

736                903                167                22.72%

Change
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4.1.4 Grants 

 

 

  

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2024/25 2025/26

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Grants were received in respect of the following:

Summary of grants

Commonwealth funded grants 11,044          12,065                       1,021 9.24%

State funded grants 978                1,175                             197 20.14%

Total grants received 12,022          13,240          1,218            10.13%

(a)    Operating Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Federal Assistance Grants - general purpose 6,964            7,138                             174 2.50%

Recurrent - State Government                     -   0.00%

School Crossing 15                  15                                      -   0.00%

Maternal & child health 224                224                                    -   0.00%

Maternal & child health playgroup 68                  68                                      -   0.00%

Tobacco Testing 15                  15                                      -   0.00%

Library 245                245                                    -   0.00%

Other 8                    8                                        -   0.00%

Total recurrent grants 575                575                -            7,367 -92.76%

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Non-recurrent - State Government

Avoca Flood Mitigation Investigation 120                -                -               120 -100.00%

Cat Desexing Project 7                    7                                        -   0.00%

Youth Engagement Project 25                  40                                     15 60.00%

Premiers Reading Challenge Book Fund 7                    7                                        -   0.00%

igital Literacy for Seniors Program 13                  13                                      -   0.00%

Australia Day 7                    -                -                    7 -100.00%

Beaufort Linear Masterplan 25                  -                -                 25 -100.00%

Jobs Victoria Fund 10                  -                -                 10 -100.00%

Pyrenees Municipal Bushfire Hazard Assessment 2023-24 50                  -                -                 50 -100.00%

unicipal Emergency Resourcing Program 60                  60                                      -   0.00%

Roadside Weeds & Pest Management Prog 60                  63                                       3 5.00%

Safer Together Project -                300                                 300 0.00%

Economy Household Education Fund 20                  -                -                 20 -100.00%

Other 1-                    1-                                        -   0.00%

Total non-recurrent grants 384                190                -               194 -50.52%

Total operating grants 7,942            8,202            -            7,561 0.00%

Change
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4.1.5 Contributions 

 

 

4.1.6 Other Income 

 

 

 

  

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2024/25 2025/26

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
(b)    Capital Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Roads To Recovery 2,520            2,455            -                 65 -2.58%

Recurrent - State Government -                -                                    -   0.00%

Total recurrent grants 2,520            2,455            -                 65 -2.58%

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Local Roads and Community Infrastructure Program Phase 4 1,560            -                -            1,560 -100.00%

Regional Workers Accommodation -                2,472                         2,472 0.00%

Non-recurrent - State Government

Flood Event October 2022 -                -                                    -   0.00%

Pyrenees Mobile Library Bus Project -                -                                    -   0.00%

Light up Goldfields Recreation Reserve Beaufort -                -                                    -   0.00%

Lexton Community Facility -                -                                    -   0.00%

Beaufort New Practice Nets & Storage Shed -                -                                    -   0.00%

Beaufort Caravan Park - State Govt Funding -                -                                    -   0.00%

Dog Park - Begg Street -                111                                 111 0.00%

Other -                -                                    -   0.00%

Total non-recurrent grants 1,560            2,583                             912 58.46%

Total capital grants 4,080            5,038                             847 20.76%

Total Grants 12,022          13,240          -            6,714 -55.85%

Change

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2024/25 2025/26

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Monetary                    34 34                  -                    1 -1.47%

Total contributions                    34 34                  -                    1 -1.47%

Change

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2024/25 2025/26

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Project Management                  230 -                -               230 -100.00%

Reimbursements                     -   -                                    -   100.00%

Private Works                     -   -                                    -   100.00%

Interest                  450 -                -               450 -100.00%

Other Income                  258 469                                 211 81.88%

Total Other Income                  938 469                -               680 -72.49%

Change
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4.1.7 Employee costs 

 

 

4.1.8 Material and services 

 

 

 

  

2024/25 

Forecast 

Actual

2025/26

Budget

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Wages and salaries 8,942            8,858            84-                  -0.94%

Superannuation 993                1,094            101                10.17%

WorkCover insurance premium 189                404                215                113.76%

Total employee costs 10,124          10,356                           232 2.29%

Change

2024/25 

Forecast 

Actual

2025/26

Budget

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Adverising 95                  98                  3                    3.16%

Cleanng 50                  101                51                  102.00%

Computer Licences 408                634                0.00%

Contracted Staff 263                293                30                  11.41%

Contrcted Service Delivery 1,939            1,904            0.00%

Contrctors 2,855            2,700            155-                -5.43%

Contributions Paid 122                112                10-                  -8.20%

Fuel  Oil 286                297                11                  3.85%

Insurnce 543                500                43-                  -7.92%

Materals and Services 1,058            1,819            761                71.93%

Parts( Plant Items) 50                  52                  2                    4.00%

Registrations Paid 63                  39                  24-                  -38.10%

Repais & Maintenance 145                149                4                    2.76%

Printng & stationery 50                  45                  5-                    -10.00%

Membeships & subscriptions 206                215                9                    4.37%

Telepone 194                191                3-                    -1.55%

Trainng 139                134                5-                    -3.60%

Electicity 123                128                5                    4.07%

Water Rates 72                  79                  7                    9.72%

Other 419                358                61-                  -14.55%

Total Material and services 9,080            9,848                             768 8.46%

Change
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4.1.9 Depreciation 

 

 

4.1.10 Depreciation – Right of use assets 

 

 

4.1.11 Other expenses 

 

  

2024/25 

Forecast 

Actual

2025/26

Budget

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Buildings 1,061            1,088            27                  2.54%

Plant; Machinery & Equipment 520                533                13                  2.50%

Fixtures; Fittings & Furniture 12                  12                  -                0.00%

Computers & Telecommunications 82                  84                  2                    2.44%

Library Collection 17                  18                  1                    5.88%

Infrastructure 4,510            4,622            112                2.49%

Total Depreciation 6,202            6,357            155                2.51%

Change

2024/25 

Forecast 

Actual

2025/26

Budget

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Printers 9                    9                    0                    0.58%

Total Depreciation - right of use assets 9                    9                    0                    0.58%

Change

2024/25 

Forecast 

Actual

2025/26

Budget

$’000 $’000 $’000 %
Leases 11                  5                    -                    6 -54.55%

Councillors' Aollowance 190                196                                     6 3.16%

Auditors' remuneration - internal auditor 47                  50                                       3 6.38%

Auditors' remuneration - external auditor 45                  45                                      -   0.00%

Other 16                  6                    -                 10 -64.38%

Total Other Expenses 309                302                6-                    -1.94%

Change
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4.2 Balance Sheet 

4.2.1 Borrowings 

The table below shows information on borrowings specifically required by the Regulations. 

 

 

4.2.2 Leases by category 

As a result of the introduction of AASB 16 Leases, right-of-use assets and lease liabilities have been recognised as 

outlined in the table below. 

 

Where the interest rate applicable to a lease is not expressed in the lease agreement, Council applies the average 

incremental borrowing rate in the calculation of lease liabilities.  The current incremental borrowing rate is 6%. 

  

 Forecast 

 Actual 

 2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year 1,443            2,535            3,221            2,818            2,506            

Amount proposed to be borrowed 1,300            1,000            -                -                -                

Amount projected to be redeemed 207                314                404                311                288                

Amount of borrowings as at 30 June 2,535            3,221            2,818            2,506            2,219            

 Budget  Projections 

 Forecast 

 Actual 

 2024/25  2025/26 

 $’000  $’000 

Right-of-use assets

Printers 29                  20                  

Total right-of-use assets 29                  20                  

Lease liabilities

Current lease Liabilities

Printers 9                    9                    

Total current lease liabilities 9                    9                    

Non-current lease liabilities

Printers 21                  12                  

Total non-current lease liabilities 21                  12                  

Total lease liabilities 30                  21                  

 Budget 
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4.4 Capital Works 
 

This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2024/25 year, classified by 

expenditure type and funding source. Works are also disclosed as current budget or carried forward from prior year. 

4.4.1 Summary 

 

 

 

 

 

 2024/25 

Forecast 

Actual 

 2025/26

Budget 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  % 

Property 2,283            2,667            384                16.82%

Plant and equipment 1,791            998                793-                -44.28%

Infrastructure 6,997            6,043            954-                -13.63%

Total 11,071          9,708            1,363-            -12.31%

Change

 Project Cost 
 New Renewal  Upgrade  Expansion  Grants  Contrib 

 Council 

Cash 
 Borrowings 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Property 2,667            2,472            195                -                -                2,472            -                195                -                

Plant and equipment 998                834                164                -                -                -                -                998                -                

Infrastructure 6,043            2,156            3,887            -                -                2,466            -                1,577            2,000            

Total 9,708            5,462            4,246            -                -                4,938            -                2,770            2,000            
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4.4.2 Capital Budget 

 

2025/26  Project Cost 
 New  Renewal  Upgrade  Expansion  Grants  Contrib 

 Council 

Cash 
 Borrowings 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Property

Land -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Land improvements -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Land -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Buildings 2,472            2,472            -                -                -                2,472            -                -                -                

Heritage Buildings -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Building improvements 195                -                195                -                -                -                -                195                -                

Leasehold improvements -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Buildings 2,667            2,472            195                -                -                2,472            -                195                -                

Total Property 2,667            2,472            195                -                -                2,472            -                195                -                

Plant and Equipment

Heritage plant and equipment -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Plant, machinery and equipment 787                787                -                -                -                -                -                787                -                

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 21                  21                  -                -                -                -                -                21                  -                

Computers and telecommunications 164                -                164                -                -                -                -                164                -                

Library books 26                  26                  -                -                -                -                -                26                  -                

Total Plant and Equipment 998                834                164                -                -                -                -                998                -                

Infrastructure -                

Roads 4,107            32                  4,075            -                -                2,466            -                1,641            -                

Bridges 433                -                433                -                -                -                -                433                -                

Footpaths and cycleways 31                  -                31                  -                -                -                -                31                  -                

Drainage 205                -                205                -                -                -                -                205                -                

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 214                124                90                  -                -                -                -                214                -                

Waste management 53                  -                53                  -                -                -                -                53                  -                

Parks, open space and streetscapes -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Aerodromes -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Off street car parks -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Other infrastructure 1,000            1,000            -                -                -                -                -                -                1,000            

Total Infrastructure 6,043            1,156            4,887            -                -                2,466            -                2,577            1,000            

Total Capital Works Expenditure 9,708            4,462            5,246            -                -                4,938            -                3,770            1,000            

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
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2026/27  Project Cost 
 New  Renewal  Upgrade  Expansion  Grants  Contrib 

 Council 

Cash 
 Borrowings 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Property

Land -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Land improvements -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Land -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Buildings -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Heritage Buildings -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Building improvements 200                -                200                -                -                -                -                200                -                

Leasehold improvements -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Buildings 200                -                200                -                -                -                -                200                -                

Total Property 200                -                200                -                -                -                -                200                -                

Plant and Equipment

Heritage plant and equipment -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Plant, machinery and equipment 806                806                -                -                -                -                -                806                -                

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 22                  22                  -                -                -                -                -                22                  -                

Computers and telecommunications 168                -                168                -                -                -                -                168                -                

Library books 27                  27                  -                -                -                -                -                27                  -                

Total Plant and Equipment 1,023            855                168                -                -                -                -                1,023            -                

Infrastructure -                

Roads 4,210            33                  4,177            -                -                2,455            -                1,755            -                

Bridges 444                -                444                -                -                -                -                444                -                

Footpaths and cycleways 32                  -                32                  -                -                -                -                32                  -                

Drainage 210                -                210                -                -                -                -                210                -                

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 92                  -                92                  -                -                -                -                92                  -                

Waste management 54                  -                54                  -                -                -                -                54                  -                

Parks, open space and streetscapes -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Aerodromes -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Off street car parks -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Other infrastructure -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Infrastructure 5,042            33                  5,009            -                -                2,455            -                2,587            -                

Total Capital Works Expenditure 6,265            888                5,377            -                -                2,455            -                3,810            -                

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
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2027/28  Project Cost 
 New  Renewal  Upgrade  Expansion  Grants  Contrib 

 Council 

Cash 
 Borrowings 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Property

Land -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Land improvements -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Land -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Buildings -                

Heritage Buildings -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Building improvements 205                -                205                -                -                -                -                205                -                

Leasehold improvements -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Buildings 205                -                205                -                -                -                -                205                -                

Total Property 205                -                205                -                -                -                -                205                -                

Plant and Equipment

Heritage plant and equipment -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Plant, machinery and equipment 826                826                -                -                -                -                -                826                -                

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 22                  22                  -                -                -                -                -                22                  -                

Computers and telecommunications 172                -                172                -                -                -                -                172                -                

Library books 28                  28                  -                -                -                -                -                28                  -                

Total Plant and Equipment 1,048            876                172                -                -                -                -                1,048            -                

Infrastructure -                

Roads 4,317            33                  4,284            -                -                2,455            -                1,862            -                

Bridges 455                -                455                -                -                -                -                455                -                

Footpaths and cycleways 32                  -                32                  -                -                -                -                32                  -                

Drainage 215                -                215                -                -                -                -                215                -                

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 94                  -                94                  -                -                -                -                94                  -                

Waste management 56                  -                56                  -                -                -                -                56                  -                

Parks, open space and streetscapes -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Aerodromes -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Off street car parks -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Other infrastructure -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Infrastructure 5,169            33                  5,136            -                -                2,455            -                2,714            -                

Total Capital Works Expenditure 6,422            909                5,513            -                -                2,455            -                3,967            -                

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
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2028/29  Project Cost 
 New  Renewal  Upgrade  Expansion  Grants  Contrib 

 Council 

Cash 
 Borrowings 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Property

Land -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Land improvements -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Land -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Buildings -                

Heritage Buildings -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Building improvements 210                -                210                -                -                -                -                210                -                

Leasehold improvements -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Buildings 210                -                210                -                -                -                -                210                -                

Total Property 210                -                210                -                -                -                -                210                -                

Plant and Equipment

Heritage plant and equipment -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Plant, machinery and equipment 847                847                -                -                -                -                -                847                -                

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 23                  23                  -                -                -                -                -                23                  -                

Computers and telecommunications 176                -                176                -                -                -                -                176                -                

Library books 29                  29                  -                -                -                -                -                29                  -                

Total Plant and Equipment 1,075            899                176                -                -                -                -                1,075            -                

Infrastructure -                

Roads 4,423            34                  4,389            -                -                2,516            -                1,907            -                

Bridges 466                -                466                -                -                -                -                466                -                

Footpaths and cycleways 33                  -                33                  -                -                -                -                33                  -                

Drainage 221                -                221                -                -                -                -                221                -                

Recreational, leisure and community facilities 97                  -                97                  -                -                -                -                97                  -                

Waste management 57                  -                57                  -                -                -                -                57                  -                

Parks, open space and streetscapes -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Aerodromes -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Off street car parks -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Other infrastructure -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total Infrastructure 5,297            34                  5,263            -                -                2,516            -                2,781            -                

Total Capital Works Expenditure 6,582            933                5,649            -                -                2,516            -                4,066            -                

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
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5. Financial performance indicators 

 

5a Targeted performance indicators

Actual
Forecast 

Actual
Target Trend

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 +/o/-

Targeted performance indicators - Service

Governance

Consultation and engagement

(Council decisions made and implemented 

with community input)

Satisfaction with community consultation and 

engagement 

Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with the 

consultation and engagement efforts of Council

            51.00             51.00             53.00             54.59             55.68             55.68 +

Roads

Condition

(sealed local roads are maintained at the 

adopted condition standard)

Sealed local roads below the intervention level

Number of kms of sealed local roads below the renewal 

intervention level set by Council / Kms of sealed local 

roads

0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0

Statutory planning

Service standard

(planning application processing and 

decisions are in accordance with legislative 

requirements)

Planning applications decided within the relevant 

required time

Number of planning application decisions made within 

the relevant required time / Number of planning 

application decisions made

85.61% 86.00% 87.00% 87.87% 88.75% 89.64% +

Waste management

Waste diversion

(amount of waste diverted from landfill is 

maximised) 

Kerbside collection waste diverted from landfill

Weight of recyclables and green organics collected from 

kerbside bins / Weight of garbage, recyclables and green 

organics collected from kerbside bins
24.30% 24.00% 26.00% 27.30% 28.67% 30.10% +

 Indicator Measure
Targeted Projections

The following tables highlight Council’s current and projected performance across a selection of targeted service and financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful analysis of 

Council’s intentions and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.

The targeted performance indicators below are the prescribed performance indicators contained in Schedule 4 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. Results against 

these indicators and targets will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual Report.

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.1

50 of 185



Pyrenees Shire Council 2025/26 Draft Budget 
 

54 
 

 

  

Targeted performance indicators - Financial

Indicator Measure Actual
Forecast 

Actual
Target Trend

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 +/o/-

Liquidity

Working Capital

(sufficient working capital is available to pay 

bills as and when they fall due)

Current assets compared to current liabilities

Current assets / current liabilities 241.0% 171.0% 170.4% 175.6% 179.4% 182.1% -

Obligations

Asset renewal

(assets are renewed as planned)

Asset renewal compared to depreciation

Asset renewal and upgrade expense / Asset 

depreciation

111% 121% 83% 83% 83% 83% -

Stability

Rates concentration

(revenue is generated from a range of 

sources)

Rates compared to adjusted underlying revenue

Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue
39% 52% 49% 54% 54% 54% +

Efficiency

Expenditure level

(resources are used efficiently in the delivery 

of services)

Expenses per property assessment

Total expenses / no. of property assessments  $           3.77  $           4.07  $           4.18  $           4.19  $           4.23  $           4.28 +

Targeted Projections
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5b Financial performance indicators

Indicator Measure Actual
Forecast 

Actual
Target Trend

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 +/o/-

Operating position

Adjusted underlying result

(an adjusted underlying surplus is generated 

in the ordinary course of business)

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)

Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted 

underlying revenue

4.22                0.02                0.08                0.00 -             0.00 -             0.00 -

Liquidity

Unrestricted cash

(sufficient cash that is free of restrictions is 

available to pay bills as and when they fall 

due)

Unrestricted cash compared to current liabilities

Unrestricted cash / current liabilities
-66.83                1.09                1.08                1.10                1.12                1.13 +

Obligations

Loans and borrowings

(level of interest bearing loans and 

borrowings is appropriate to the size and 

nature of Council's activities)

Loans and borrowings compared to rates

Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue
0 18.20% 22.11% 18.78% 16.22% 13.94% +

Loans and borrowings

(level of interest bearing loans and 

borrowings is appropriate to the size and 

nature of Council's activities)

Loans and borrowings repayments compared to rates

Interest and principal repayments on interest bearing 

loans and borrowings / rate revenue
0 2.19% 2.26% 3.13% 3.50% 2.72% +

Indebtedness

(level of long term liabilities is appropriate to 

the size and nature of a Council's activities)

Non-current liabilities compared to own-source 

revenue

Non-current liabilities / own source revenue
0.87% 16.56% 18.34% 15.97% 13.89% 11.85% +

Stability

Rates effort

(rating level is set based on the community's 

capacity to pay)

Rates compared to property values

Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in the 

municipal district

0.40% 0.29% 0.31% 0.32% 0.32% 0.32% -

The financial performance indicators below are the prescribed financial performance indicators contained in Part 3 of Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. 

Results against these indicators will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual Report.

Targeted Projections

The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial 

position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.
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5b Financial performance indicators

Indicator Measure Actual
Forecast 

Actual
Target Trend

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 +/o/-

Operating position

Adjusted underlying result

(an adjusted underlying surplus is generated 

in the ordinary course of business)

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)

Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted 

underlying revenue

4.22                0.02                0.08                0.00 -             0.00 -             0.00 -

Liquidity

Unrestricted cash

(sufficient cash that is free of restrictions is 

available to pay bills as and when they fall 

due)

Unrestricted cash compared to current liabilities

Unrestricted cash / current liabilities
-66.83                1.09                1.08                1.10                1.12                1.13 +

Obligations

Loans and borrowings

(level of interest bearing loans and 

borrowings is appropriate to the size and 

nature of Council's activities)

Loans and borrowings compared to rates

Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue
0 18.20% 22.11% 18.78% 16.22% 13.94% +

Loans and borrowings

(level of interest bearing loans and 

borrowings is appropriate to the size and 

nature of Council's activities)

Loans and borrowings repayments compared to rates

Interest and principal repayments on interest bearing 

loans and borrowings / rate revenue
0 2.19% 2.26% 3.13% 3.50% 2.72% +

Indebtedness

(level of long term liabilities is appropriate to 

the size and nature of a Council's activities)

Non-current liabilities compared to own-source 

revenue

Non-current liabilities / own source revenue
0.87% 16.56% 18.34% 15.97% 13.89% 11.85% +

Stability

Rates effort

(rating level is set based on the community's 

capacity to pay)

Rates compared to property values

Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in the 

municipal district

0.40% #REF! 0.31% 0.32% 0.32% 0.32% -

The financial performance indicators below are the prescribed financial performance indicators contained in Part 3 of Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2020. 

Results against these indicators will be reported in Council’s Performance Statement included in the Annual Report.

Targeted Projections

The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial 

position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.
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Indicator Measure

Efficiency

Revenue level

(resources are used efficiently in the delivery 

of services)

Average rate per property assessment

General rates and municipal charges / no. of property 

assessments

2,055.69$    2,294.65$    2,322.10$    2,349.92$    2,378.16$    2,406.74$    +

Sustainability Capacity

Population

(population is a key driver of a Council's 

ability to fund the delivery of services to the 

community)

Expenses per head of population

Total expenses/ Population
3,332.11$    3,297.81$    3,391.50$    3,396.79$    3,435.37$    3,474.32$    -

Population

(population is a key driver of a Council's 

ability to fund the delivery of services to the 

community)

Infrastructure per head of population

Value of infrastructure / Population
35,540.61$ 36,793.52$ 36,540.07$ 35,844.53$ 35,160.42$ 34,487.29$ -

Population

(population is a key driver of a Council's 

ability to fund the delivery of services to the 

community)

Population density per length of road

Population / Kilometres of local roads
3.79              3.92              3.99              4.06              4.13              4.20              +

Own-source revenue

(revenue is generated from a range of 

sources in order to fund the delivery of 

services to the community)

Own-source revenue per head of population

Own source revenue / Population
1,925.44$    1,861.81$    2,054.09$    2,078.01$    2,102.59$    2,127.51$    +

Recurrent grants

(revenue is generated from a range of 

sources in order to fund the delivery of 

services to the community)

Recurrent grants per head of population

Recurrent grants / Population
1,470.77$    316.99$       1,642.91$    1,324.80$    1,327.34$    1,337.23$    -

Workforce turnover

(resources are used efficiently in the delivery 

of services)

Resignations and terminations compared to average 

staff

Number of permanent staff resignations and 

terminations for the financial year / Average number of 

permanent staff for the financial year 

15.90           15.90           15.90           15.90           15.90           15.90           0
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Key to Forecast Trend: 

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator 

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady 

- Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator
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6. Schedule of fees and user charges 
 

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during 

the financial year 2025/26. 

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by 

Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory fees and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. 

These fees are updated as of 1 July 2025 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

 

Refer to attachment A 
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Animal Registration
Cat Registration - Full

Cat General *** 46.00                     47.00                     2.17%

Cat registered with an Approved Association 46.00                     47.00                     2.17%

Cat kept for Breeding on registered premises 46.00                     47.00                     2.17%

Cat NOT included above 161.00                   166.00                   3.11%

Cat Registration - Pensioner Rate

Cat General *** 23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Cat registered with an Approved Association 23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Cat kept for Breeding on registered premises 23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Cat NOT included above 81.00                     83.00                     2.47%

Dog Registration - Full

Dog General **** 46.00                     47.00                     2.17%

Farm Working dog (Primary Production Only) 46.00                     47.00                     2.17%

Dog Registered with an Approved Association/Approved Training 46.00                     47.00                     2.17%

Dog kept for Breeding on Registered Premises 46.00                     47.00                     2.17%

Dog Other (Including Microchipped) 188.00                   194.00                   3.19%

Dog Registration - Pensioner Rate

Dog General **** 23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Farm Working dog (Primary Production Only) 23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Dog Registered with an Approved Association/Approved Training 23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Dog kept for Breeding on Registered Premises 23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Dog Other (Including Microchipped) 95.00                     98.00                     3.16%

Dangerous, Restricted, Menacing or Guard Dog (No pension discount) 269.00                   277.00                   2.97%

Cat 1st Registration Period Desexed & Microshipped (Adoptions Only) -                         -                         0.00%

Dog 1st Registration Period Desexed & Microshipped (Adoptions Only) -                         -                         0.00%

Puppy Pending Desexing 46.00                     47.00                     2.17%

Puppy Pending Desexing Pensioner 23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Guide Dog / Assistance Animal -                         -                         0.00%

All of the above fees include a State Government Levy of $4.00 per dog and $4.00 per cat.

*** Cat General = Desexed and Microchipped or Over 10 years

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

1 / 22
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

*** Dog General = Desexed and Microchipped or Over 10 years

Compulsory Microchipping for all Newly Registered Dogs

Compulsory Microchipping  & Desexing for all Newly Registered Cats

a) All animals registered with a Council, for the time, must be microchipped as per Legislation under the Domestic 

Animal Act 1994

b) De-sexing of cats for first time registration is compulsory as per Council Resolution gazetted on the 13th 

November 2008 under Section 10(a) of the Domestic Animals Act 1994.

c) Proof of microchipping and desexing is required when registering your animal.

d) Changes to Legislation under the Domestic Animals Act 1994 came into force in May 2012. The changes provide, 

after 11th April 2013, for the removal of reduced registration fee for any newly registered dog or cat that is 

microchipped.Domestic Animal Business Registration 322.00                   332.00                   3.11%

Replacement Dog/Cat Registration Tag 5.00                       5.00                       0.00%

Animal surrender 80.00                     0.00%

General Local Law 2019 
(Permit is per year unless otherwise stated)

Camping in a Public Place - Clause 3.3 (1) 25.00                     73.00                     192.00%

Permit required to camp in a Public Place

Camping in on Private Land - Clause 3.3 (2) 73.00                     73.00                     0.00%

Permit required to camp on Private Land 

Temporary Dwelling - Clause 3.4 291.00                   300.00                   3.09%

Permit required to occupy a temporary dwelling on Private Land

Shipping Container - Clause 3.5 175.00                   180.00                   2.86%

Permit required to place a Shipping Container on Private Land

Open Air Burning - Clause 3.7 31.00                     32.00                     3.23%

Permit required to conduct open air burn in some areas

Storage of Vehicles - Clause 3.14 53.00                     73.00                     37.74%

Permit required to store more than two unregistered vehicles if reasonably visible

Animal Keeping - Clause 4.1 73.00                     75.00                     2.74%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Permit required to keep more than specified animals.  

One-off fee for keeping extra animals whilst property is still in the same ownership

Droving of Livestock - Clause 4.3 141.00                   145.00                   2.84%

Permit required to drove livestock on Council controlled roads

Roadside Grazing - Clause 4.4 136.00                   145.00                   6.62%

Permit required to graze livestock on Council controlled roadsides

Consumption of Liquor - Clause 6.1 25.00                     25.00                     0.00%

Permit required to consume alcohol in Public Place

Street parties, festivals, events and commercial activities - Clause 6.3

Permit required to conduct street party, festival, event or commercial activities in a Public Place <500 occupants

(Fee waived if not-for-profit community event) 169.00                   174.00                   2.96%

Permit required to conduct street party, festival, event or commercial activities in a Public Place 500-2000 

occupants

(Fee waived if community event)

289.00                   298.00                   3.11%

Permit required to conduct street party, festival, event or commercial activities in a Public Place >2,000 occupants 438.00                   451.00                   2.97%

Permit required to conduct street party, festival, event or commercial activities in a Public Place.

(Fee waived if community event)Entertainment, busking and promotion - Clause 6.4 25.00                     26.00                     4.00%

Permit required to perform entertainment, busk, spruik or promote business in Public Place

Collections and Fundraising - Clause 6.5 59.00                     61.00                     3.39%

Permit required collections and fundraising in Public Place.

(Fee waived if not-for-profit and community groups)Promotional and Educational Activity - Clause 6.4 25.00                     73.00                     192.00%

Permit required to spruik or promote business in Public Place

Display and Sale of Goods - Clause 6.6 68.00                     68.00                     0.00%

Permit required to display and sell goods from a footpath, road or Public Place
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Roadside and Itinerant Trading - Clause 6.7 (per trading event) 250.00                   258.00                   3.20%

Permit required for roadside and itinerant trading

Outdoor Dining Facilities - Clause 6.8 68.00                     70.00                     2.94%

Permit required to place outdoor dining tables and chairs on a road, footpath or Public Place. 

Advertising Signs - 6.9 43.00                     43.00                     0.00%

Permit required to place an advertising sign (i.e. A-Frame) on a footpath, road, road reserve or Public Place

Permit is per sign

Advertising and Bill Posting - Clause 6.10 43.00                     44.00                     2.33%

Permit required to place an advertisement or poster on Council's land or property

Permit is per event

Charity Collection Bins - Clause 6.13 348.00                   358.00                   2.87%

Permit required to place a charity collection bin in a Public Place

Recreation Vehicles on Public Land - Clause 6.15 348.00                   358.00                   2.87%

Permit required to use a recreation vehicle in a Public Place

Development of nature strips and road reserves - Clause 7.4 141.00                   145.00                   2.84%

Permit required to develop a nature strip or road reserve

Heavy Vehicles - Clause 7.5 95.00                     98.00                     3.16%

Permit required to keep or store a heavy vehicle upon a Council road or land or on any land in a General Residential 

Zone

Occupation of roads, footpaths and council land - Clause 7.7 73.00                     75.00                     2.74%

Permit required to occupy a Council road, footpath or land for any works

Permit is per week

Community Safety and Amenity 

Additional Fees and Charges

Impounded Dog Release Fee

Impounded Cat Release Fee

Impounded Dog Release Fee (Reclaimed from PSC)                       65.00 67.00                     3.08%

Impounded Cat Release Fee (Reclaimed from PSC)                       65.00 67.00                     3.08%

Impounded Dog Release Fee - Ballarat Pound                    130.00 134.00                   3.08%

Impounded Cat Release Fee - Ballarat Pound                    130.00 134.00                   3.08%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Impounded Dog Release Fee (more than once in a 12 month period)                       75.00 77.00                     2.67%

Impounded Cat Release Fee (more than once in a 12 month period)                       75.00 77.00                     2.67%

Seized Dog Fee (Daily) 65.00                     75.00                     15.38%

Large Livestock Impound Release Fee per head 

(Cows & Horses and other similar sized animals - Up to 7 days)
112.00                   115.00                   2.68%

Small Livestock Impound Release Fee - First Animal 

(Sheep, goats & pigs- Up to 7 days)
56.00                     58.00                     3.57%

Small Livestock Impound Release Fee - Additional animal per head 

(Sheep, goats & pigs- Up to 7 days)
23.00                     24.00                     4.35%

Use of Stock Trailer when Impounding 96.00                     99.00                     3.13%

Vet Care/treatment, Euthanasia, Carcass Disposal or any other incurred expense
0.00%

Livestock Feed Per Head Per Day (After Seven Days) 6.00                       6.00                       0.00%

Transporting to the Nearest Saleyards After Day Seven of Impounding (Council Stock Trailer Only)
223.00                   230.00                   3.14%

Impounded Goods Release Fee 

(Small items i.e. signs, shopping trolleys)
62.00                     64.00                     3.23%

Impounded Goods Release Fee 

(Large items)

 $87

(if cost greater 

than fee then cost 

plus 10%) 

 $87

(if cost greater 

than fee then cost 

plus 10%) 

Impounded Vehicle Release Fee 163.00                   163.00                   0.00%

Impounded Truck Release Fee  At Cost plus $150  At Cost plus $150 

Impounded Vehicle Daily Charge Fee (after first 7 days of impounding) 28.00                     29.00                     3.57%

Towing Fee  At cost +10 % 

Admin 

 At cost +10 % 

Admin 

Cat Trap Hire (Bond) 56.00                     56.00                     0.00%

Community Foster Care Network Registration (No pensioner discount) 23.00                     23.00                     0.00%

Fire Hazard Removal Adminstration fee (excluses contractor cost) -                         120.00                   0.00%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

-                         -                         

Room & Hall Hire
Note: A cancellation fee of 50% of the booking charge will apply for bookings cancelled within 24 hours of the booking 

Regular bookings - weekly for a minimum of 6 months - 30% discount

Gunga Hub, Avoca - Casual Use

Wurreker Meeting Room - 4 hours or less (half day) 40.00                     40.00                     0.00%

Wurreker Meeting Room - full day 55.00                     60.00                     9.09%

Multipurpose room - 4 hours or less (half day) 120.00                   70.00                     -41.67%

Multipurpose room - full day 189.00                   105.00                   -44.44%

Gunga Hub, Avoca - Non-profit / Community Groups (25% discount)

Wurreker Meeting Room - 4 hours or less (half day)                       40.00                       30.00 -25.00%

Wurreker Meeting Room - full day                       55.00                       45.00 -18.18%

Large room - 4 hours or less (half day)                     115.00                       52.50 -54.35%

Large room - full day                     189.00                       78.75 -58.33%

Avoca Shire Hall - Casual Use

Hall Only - 4 hours or less                       90.00                       93.00 3.33%

Hall Only - more than 4 hours                     135.00                    139.00 2.96%

Supper Room - 4 hours or less                       25.00                       26.00 4.00%

Supper Room - more than 4 hours                       31.00                       39.00 25.81%

Kitchen - 4 hours or less                       25.00                       26.00 4.00%

Kitchen - more than 4 hours                       40.00                       39.00 -2.50%

Hall, Supper Room & Kitchen - 4 hours or less                     105.00                    109.00 3.81%

Hall, Supper Room & Kitchen - more than 4 hours                     157.00                    163.00 3.82%

Avoca Shire Hall - Casual Use

Hall Only - 4 hours or less                       90.00                       93.00 3.33%

Hall Only - more than 4 hours                     135.00                    139.00 2.96%

Supper Room - 4 hours or less                       25.00                       26.00 4.00%
6 / 22

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.2

62 of 185



Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Supper Room - more than 4 hours                       31.00                       39.00 25.81%

Kitchen - 4 hours or less                       25.00                       26.00 4.00%

Kitchen - more than 4 hours                       40.00                       39.00 -2.50%

Hall, Supper Room & Kitchen - 4 hours or less                     105.00                    109.00 3.81%

Hall, Supper Room & Kitchen - more than 4 hours                     157.00                    163.00 3.82%

Avoca Information Centre - Non-profit / Community Groups (25% discount)

Large Meeting Room (RTC) - 4 hours or less                       31.00 0.00%

Large Meeting Room (RTC) - all day                       44.00 0.00%

Balaki Wuka Digital Hub Single Workstation - 4 hours or less                       11.00 0.00%

Balaki Wuka Digital Hub Single Workstation - full day                       15.00 0.00%

Balaki Wuka Digital Hub Small Office - 4 hours or less                       13.50 0.00%

Balaki Wuka Digital Hub Small Office - full day                       20.00 0.00%

Balaki Wuka Digital Hub Whole Area - 4 hours or less                       31.00 0.00%

Balaki Wuka Digital Hub Whole Area - full day                       45.00 0.00%

**** Tea & Coffee can be provided at fee of $1.20 per head  

 

FDC Educator Fee  

Session Hire of Avoca Facility                       16.00                       17.00 6.25%

Avoca Community Centre (Senior Citizens Building) - Casual Users  

Meeting room - 4 hours or less                       37.00                       38.00 2.70%

Meeting room - more than 4 hours                       55.00                       57.00 3.64%

Hall - 4 hours or less                       50.00                       51.50 3.00%

Hall - more than 4 hours                       75.00                       77.00 2.67%

Allied Health Room - 4 hours or less                       37.00                       20.00 -45.95%

Allied Health Room - more than 4 hours                       40.00                       30.00 -25.00%

Kitchen Extra if using full facilities i.e. Meal - 4 hours or less                       25.00                       26.00 4.00%

Kitchen Extra if using full facilities i.e. Meal - more than 4 hours                       40.00                       39.00 -2.50%

 

Avoca Community Centre (Senior Citizens Building) - Non-Profit / Community Groups (25% discount)  
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Meeting room - 4 hours or less                       27.75                       28.50 2.70%

Meeting room - more than 4 hours                       41.25                       42.50 3.03%

Hall - 4 hours or less                       37.50                       38.50 2.67%

Hall - more than 4 hours                       56.25                       58.00 3.11%

Allied Health Room - 4 hours or less                       27.75                       15.00 -45.95%

Allied Health Room - more than 4 hours                       30.00                       22.50 -25.00%

Kitchen Extra if using full facilities i.e. Meal - 4 hours or less                       18.75                       19.50 4.00%

Kitchen Extra if using full facilities i.e. Meal - more than 4 hours                       30.00                       30.00 0.00%

Hall - dance lessons (all day)                       30.00                       31.00 3.33%

Beaufort Shire Hall - Non-Profit / Community Groups / Local Schools (25% discount)

Hall Only - 4 hours or less                       67.50                       70.00 3.70%

Hall Only - more than 4 hours                     101.25                    104.00 2.72%

Hall only (where already booked for Deb Balls, Concerts etc) - rehearsals, preparation and set-up - 4 hours or less                       22.00                       22.00 0.00%

Hall & Kitchen - 4 hours or less                       72.00                       72.00 0.00%

Hall & Kitchen - more than 4 hours                     102.75                    106.00 3.16%

Kitchen only - 4 hours or less                       18.75                       19.50 4.00%

Kitchen only - more than 4 hours                       30.00                       29.00 -3.33%

 

Beaufort Community Resource Centre - Casual Use  

Trafford Room - 4 hours or less                       40.00                       41.50 3.75%

Trafford Room - more than 4 hours                       55.00                       58.00 5.45%

Small Meeting Room - 4 hours or less                       35.00                       35.00 0.00%

Small Meeting Room - more than 4 hours                       50.00                       52.50 5.00%

Computer Room ( Includes internet access) -- 4 hours or less                       35.00                       35.00 0.00%

Computer Room ( Includes internet access) -- more than 4 hours                       50.00                       52.50 5.00%

**** Tea & Coffee can be provided at fee of $1.20 per head  

 

Beaufort Community Resource Centre - Non-Profit / Community Groups  

Trafford Room - 4 hours or less                       30.00                       31.00 3.33%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Trafford Room - more than 4 hours                       41.00                       43.50 6.10%

Small Meeting Room - 4 hours or less                       26.00                       26.50 1.92%

Small Meeting Room - more than 4 hours                       37.00                       39.00 5.41%

Computer Room ( Includes internet access) -- 4 hours or less                       26.00                       26.50 1.92%

Computer Room ( Includes internet access) -- more than 4 hours                       37.00                       39.00 5.41%

**** Tea & Coffee can be provided at fee of $1.20 per head  

 

Beeripmo Centre - Casual Use  

Meeting Space B (half main room) - 4 hours or less                       77.00                       70.00 -9.09%

Meeting Space B (half main room) - more than 4 hours                       91.00                       98.00 7.69%

Meeting Space A (whole main room) - 4 hours or less                     135.00                    122.50 -9.26%

Meeting Space A (whole main room) - more than 4 hours                     180.00                    184.00 2.22%

 

Beeripmo Centre - Non-Profit / Community Groups (25% discount)  

Meeting Space B (half main room) - 4 hours or less                       46.00                       48.00 4.35%

Meeting Space B (half main room) - more than 4 hours                          72.00 0.00%

Meeting Space A (whole main room) - 4 hours or less                       90.00                       92.00 2.22%

Meeting Space A (whole main room) - more than 4 hours                       138.00 0.00%

 

 

Bonds/Security Depots - Venue Hire  

Hall Hire - Security Deposit                     300.00                    300.00 0.00%

Hall Hire - Security Deposit  (with Alcohol)                 1,000.00                 1,000.00 0.00%

Beaufort Hall Cleaning Bond                     120.00                    125.00 4.17%

Public Liability Insurance - Halls                       25.00                       27.00 8.00%

 

Cleaning Charges (venue hire) - option for Council to organise your post-event cleaning  

Halls or large rooms (Shire Halls, Beeripmo, Senior Citizens)                       90.00                       90.00 0.00%

Kitchens                     120.00                    120.00 0.00%

Small-medium rooms (meeting rooms, Gunga Hub, Trafford Room)                       60.00                       60.00 0.00%

Cleaning Charges (venue hire) - cleaning charge for venues left in an unsatisfactory manner post-event  
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Halls or large rooms (Shire Halls, Beeripmo, Senior Citizens)                     100.00                    103.00 3.00%

Kitchens                     132.00                    136.00 3.03%

Small-medium rooms (meeting rooms, Gunga Hub, Trafford Room)                       66.00                       68.00 3.03%

Other Hire Services
Note: A cancellation fee of 50% of the booking charge will apply for bookings cancelled within 24 hours of the 

booking 

Avoca Community Car (for medical appointments or similar only)  

Note: Bookings are no longer available to Melbourne or Geelong  

From Avoca to Maryborough                       25.00                       26.00 4.00%

From Avoca to Ballarat                       40.00                       41.50 3.75%

 

Mini-bus (subject to availability - Council service delivery has priority)  

8 seater per day                       59.00                       61.00 3.39%

Library Services (Avoca and Beaufort)  
Fines - per day/per item up to $5.00 maximum                         0.50                             -   -100.00%

Holds - maximum 30 per person per year. -                         -                          

Library card replacements 3.15                       3.25                       3.17%

Lost or damaged items - replacement cost plus processing fee  

Processing fee for lost or damaged items 8.50                       9.00                       5.88%

Inter Library Loans - Public Library 4.00                       4.25                       6.25%

Inter Library Loans - Univerity or National Libraries                       21.00                       21.50 2.38%

Debt collection charge                       18.00                       18.50 2.78%

Private Book Club - per club per year 170.00                   170.00                   0.00%

Private Book Club - per person (member) per year 55.00                     55.00                     0.00%

Photocopying - casual  

A4 per copy - Black & White 0.30                       0.30                       0.00%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

A4 per copy - Colour 0.50                       0.50                       0.00%

A3 per copy - Black & White 0.50                       0.50                       0.00%

A3 per copy - Colour 0.75                       0.75                       0.00%

Photocopying - community groups  

A4 per copy - Black & White 0.25                       0.25                       0.00%

A4 per copy - Colour 0.40                       0.40                       0.00%

A3 per copy - Black & White 0.50                       0.50                       0.00%

A3 per copy - Colour 0.64                       0.64                       0.00%

Faxing/Emailing/Scanning  

Emails/Scanning/Faxing 0.00%

Laminating - A4 2.50                       2.50                       0.00%

Laminating - A3 4.40                       4.40                       0.00%

Receiving Fac Pages - per page/side 0.30                       0.30                       0.00%

 

Texts/Books  

Flowers of the fields 10.00                     10.00                     0.00%

Building Control
Works Within the Shire

Class 1A - Dwellings - New (Inc. Garage & Verandah)

     Up to $150,000 2,106.00               2,169.00               2.99%

     $150,001 -$200,000 2,784.00               2,868.00               3.02%

     $200,001 -$250,000 3,146.00               3,240.00               2.99%

     $250,001 -$300,000 3,757.00               3,870.00               3.01%

     >$300,000  By negotiation  By negotiation 

Class 1A - Dwellings - Extensions/Alterations (Inc. Demolitions)

     Up to $10,000 - Maximum 777.00                   800.00                   2.96%

     $10,001 -$20,000 952.00                   981.00                   3.05%

     $20,001 -$50,000 1,314.00               1,353.00               2.97%

     $50,001 -$100,000 1,833.00               1,888.00               3.00%

     $100,001 -$150,000 2,343.00               2,413.00               2.99%

As per photocpoying fees
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

     >$150,000

 + (Value - $150,000)/105
2,343.00               2,413.00               2.99%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Class 1A - Internal Alterations & Minor Works

     Up to $10,000

     (maximum)
556.00                   573.00                   3.06%

     $10,001 -$20,000 792.00                   816.00                   3.03%

     $20,001 -$50,000 1,150.00               1,185.00               3.04%

     $50,001 -$100,000 1,428.00               1,471.00               3.01%

     >$100,000

+ (Value - $100,000)/110
1,428.00               1,471.00               3.01%

Class 1B & 2-9 Residential & Commercial works other than Class 1A

     Up to $5,000

     $5,001 - $15,000

     $15,001 - $30,000

     $30,001 - $100,000

     $100,001 - $500,000

     $500,001 - $2M

     Over $2M

For Classes 1A, 1B and 2-9

Class 10A/10B Garages/Carports/Pools/Fences etc.

     Up to $5,000 601.00                   619.00                   3.00%

     $5,001 -$10,000 806.00                   830.00                   2.98%

     $10,001 -$20,000 952.00                   981.00                   3.05%

     $20,001 -$50,000 1,156.00               1,191.00               3.03%

     $50,001 -$100,000 1,428.00               1,471.00               3.01%

     >$100,000

 + (Value - $100,000)/110
1,428.00               1,471.00               3.01%

For Classes 10A and 10B works up to the value of $5,000

Pool Fence Only 596.00                   596.00                   0.00%

Additional Inspections

     Domestic 284.00                   293.00                   3.17%

     Commercial 421.00                   434.00                   3.09%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Building Other

Amendment and/or Extension of Building Permits, or Amendment of Approved Plans 284.00                   
293.00                   3.17%

Building Notice 749.00                   771.00                   2.94%

Building Order 511.00                   526.00                   2.94%

Emergency Order 511.00                   526.00                   2.94%

* - Subject to discretion of the Municipal Building Surveyor

Temporary Structure Siting Approval 511.00                   526.00                   2.94%

Places of Public Entertainment (POPE) application - Up to 5000 occupants (up to 3 structures) 906.00                   933.00                   2.98%

Places of Public Entertainment (POPE) application - More than 5000 occupants (up to 3 structures) 1,186.00               1,222.00               3.04%

Places of Public Entertainment (POPE) additional structure fee / structure 253.00                   261.00                   3.16%

Places of Public Entertainment (POPE) application amendment (minor) 253.00                   261.00                   3.16%

Places of Public Entertainment (POPE) application amendment (major) 490.00                   505.00                   3.06%

Subdivision Statements for Buildings - Regulation 503(2) 330.00                   340.00                   3.03%

Pool Safety Fence Inspection 450.00                   464.00                   3.11%

Provide Copy of Building Permit or Occupancy Permit (with owner's consent) 80.00                     82.00                     2.50%

Provide Copy of Building Permit including plans (with owner's consent) 120.00                   124.00                   3.33%

Post 10 Year Archival Search 171.00                   176.00                   2.92%

Illegal Works/ Resolution of Works without a Permit

House/Dwelling

Additions/Alterations

Carports/Garages/Verandah

Minor Alterations

Building Miscellaneous
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Private Inspections  $240.00 plus 

$0.95per 

kilometre 

travelled 

 $240.00 plus 

$0.95per 

kilometre 

travelled 

Restump
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Domestic Works - Outside the Shire

Debt Collection

Debt collection agency lodgement fee 27.00                     28.00                     3.70%

Fire Hazards Removal

The rates below are for grass cutting only.  Additional charges may apply if there is significant quantities of heavy 

plant growth or weeds that cannot be cleared with a conventional mower or small slasher.  Additional charges 

may also apply to remove other hazardous materials not including vegetation.

Failure to kept property free of Fire hazards

Vacant Land - Under 1000 s.m 579.00                   596.00                   2.94%

Vacant Land - Under 1000 s.m to 1 Ha (10,000 s.m.) 868.00                   894.00                   3.00%

Vacant Land - More than 1 Ha (10,000 s.m.) to 2 Ha (20,000 s.m.) 1,155.00               1,190.00               3.03%

Vacant Land over 2 Ha & subject to size will be a minimum 1,444.00               1,487.00               2.98%

Residential sites ( with buildings) of less than 1 Ha 868.00                   894.00                   3.00%

Residential sites ( with buildings) of over 1 Ha & subject to size a minimum 1,444.00               1,487.00               2.98%

Commercial  and Farm sites (minimum Charge) 1,444.00               1,487.00               2.98%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Food Premises & Environmental Health

Septic Tank Inspection Fees - Requested Inspection and Report 84.00                     87.00                     3.57%

Septic Plan Search / Archive recovery                    334.00 344.00                   2.99%

                   165.00 170.00                   3.03%

Food premises & Food vehicles

Premises selling food by retail in sealed packages only

Renewal of Premises

Class 1

Class 2 - Supermarkets 

Class 2 - Others1 433.00                   446.00                   3.00%

Class 3 467.00                   481.00                   3.00%

Community Groups 374.00                   385.00                   2.94%

New Premises - 150% of Renewal Fee                    273.00 281.00                   2.93%

Transfer premises  - 50% of Renewal Fee                    141.00 145.00                   2.84%

Mobile and Temporary Food Premises (Streatrader)

Renewal of Premises

Class 2 Mobile Food Premises 0.00%

Class 3 Mobile Food Premises 0.00%

Class 2 Temporary Food Premises 467.00                   481.00                   3.00%

Class 3 Temporary Food Premises 273.00                   281.00                   2.93%

Class 2 or Class 3 Mobile Food Premises (Community Groups) 188.00                   194.00                   3.19%

Class 2 or Class 3 Temporary Food Premises (Community Groups) 138.00                   142.00                   2.90%

Dual Registration - Food Premises with another Fixed/Mobile/Temporary Food Registration - registration fee for 

each extra registration
141.00                   145.00                   2.84%

Dual Registration - Community Group  Food Premises with Streatrader/Temporary Food Registration
72.00                     74.00                     2.78%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

New Premises - 150% of Renewal Fee                    107.00 110.00                   2.80%

Transfer premises  - 50% of Renewal Fee                       54.00 56.00                     3.70%

Inspection and Report

Inspection of Temporary/Itinerant Premises

                   243.00 250.00                   2.88%

Public Health & Wellbeing Act

Premises required to be registered Pursuant to Section 366c of the Health Act. (Hairdressers, Ear-Piercing, 

Tattooists)

Prescribed Accommodation Houses ( Premises which are able to be or are currently registered under both the 

Health Act and Food Act, e.g. Hotel, only one registration fee to apply)

Renewal of Premises

Registration Fee - Hair & Beauty Premises

Registration Fee - Prescribed Accommodation Premises 

Category 1 Acquatic 238.00                   245.00                   2.94%

238.00                   245.00                   2.94%

New Premises - 150% of Renewal Fee                    376.00 387.00                   2.93%

Transfer premises  - 50% of Renewal Fee

Premises with another Registration (Food &/or Accom &/or Health) - registration fee for each extra registration
0.00%

                    100.00 103.00                   3.00%

FDC Educator Fee -                         

Session Hire of Avoca Facility 16.00                     16.00                     0.00%

Land Information Certificate - Express
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Immediate turnaround (<24 hours)

(Charge in addition to statutory certificate fee)
74.00                     76.00                     2.70%

Planning

Non Statutory Planning Fee Schedule 

Notices in local Newspapers

A3 Notice Boards on site 152.00                   157.00                   3.29%

Letters to adjoining owners/occupiers 8.00                       8.00                       0.00%

Written Planning Advice 152.00                   157.00                   3.29%

Copies of Planning permits and plans 204.00                   210.00                   2.94%

First request for extension of time(under S.69of the P&E Act) 204.00                   210.00                   2.94%

Second request for extension of time(under S.69of the P&E Act) 303.00                   312.00                   2.97%

Subsequent requests for extension of time(under S.69of the P&E Act) 447.00                   460.00                   2.91%

Secondary Consent Amendment 204.00                   210.00                   2.94%

Certificate of Title Search 114.00                   117.00                   2.63%

Pools (Council)
Admission Prices

Adullt 7.00                       7.00                       0.00%

Child 5.00                       5.00                       0.00%

Concession 6.00                       6.00                       0.00%

Family (as recoded on Medicare Card) 15.00                     15.00                     0.00%

Season Passes

Adullt 80.00                     82.00                     2.50%

Child 54.00                     56.00                     3.70%

Concession 57.00                     59.00                     3.51%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Family (as recoded on Medicare Card) 88.00                     91.00                     3.41%

Private Works 
 Cost of Job + 45% 

+ GST 

 Cost of Job + 45% 

+ GST 

Property & Revenue
*Discretionary fee to be applied in certain circumstances to recover administration costs for rate refunds

36.00                     -                         -100.00%

Rates Searches 74.00                     77.00                     4.05%

Swimming Pools & Safety Barriers

Swimming Pool Inspection 972.00                   1,002.00               3.09%
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Tender Documents

Hard Copy/PDF Sent 74.00                     77.00                     4.05%

Electronic download from Tenderlink 0.00%

Waste 
Residents/Ratepayers are entitled to free disposal of domestic quantities of waste at transfer stations. Subject to 

the conditions:

• limited to one free of charge trip to the transfer station per residents/ratepayers per day;

• up to one 6x4 trailer or ute load free of charge; and

• Residents/Ratepayers will need to supply either a rate notice or driver’s licence at gate to dump for free

The below charges apply to non-residents/non-ratepayers or for comercial quantities of waste

Transfer Station Fees ( Beaufort, Avoca, Landsborough & Snake Valley)

Car/Boot Load (1/2m3 max) - Recyclables/Household Domestic Waste 33.00                     33.00                     0.00%

Utility or 6x4 Trailer (1.0m3 max) - Recyclables/Household Domestic Waste 66.00                     66.00                     0.00%

Approved Greenwaste (separated) (1.0m3 max) 33.00                     33.00                     0.00%

Tyres

Car 14.00                     14.00                     0.00%

Truck 40.00                     40.00                     0.00%

Tractor Small (up to 1m diameter) 160.00                   160.00                   0.00%

Tractor Large (over 1m diameter)                     410.00                     410.00 0.00%

Contaminated tyre with Rim (additional)                       25.00                       25.00 0.00%

Other

Oil (waste automotive oil domestic quantities only - maximum 20 litres) 6.00                       6.00                       0.00%

Single or large mattresses 26.00                     26.00                     0.00%

Bed base NA NA 0.00%

E waste - Per Item No Charge No Charge 0.00%

Batteries (domestic & car/truck) No Charge No Charge
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Appendix A: -  Schedule of fees and user charges 3.50% 3.00%

This appendix presents the fees and charges which will be charged in respect to various goods and services during the financial year 2025/26

Description of Fees and Charges
 2024/25

Fee Inc GST 

 2025/26

Fee Inc GST 

Fee Increase / 

Decrease

 $  $ %

Note that this schedule only includes fees set by Council. There are other fees that are set by statute and charged by Council in addition to this listing. These are statutory 

fees, and are made in accordance with legislative requirements. These fees are updated as of 1 July 2024 and will be reflected on Council's website. 

Scrap Steel No Charge No Charge

DrumMuster No Charge No Charge

Fridges & Freezers (only accepted if degased correctly) No Charge No Charge

Gas Bottles (not accepted) NA NA

Concrete (not accepted) NA NA

Clean fill (not accepted) NA NA

Paint (not accepted) NA NA

Asbestos or building waste (not accepted)

Additional Kerbside Collection Services

S54 - Extra Landfill Bin 150.00                   150.00                   0.00%

S55 - Extra Recycling Bin 75.00                     75.00                     0.00%

S56 - Extra Glass Bin 50.00                     50.00                     0.00%

S57 - Extra Greenwaste Bin 75.00                     75.00                     0.00%

EMERGENCY WATER SUPPLY PERMIT
10 kL - 3 month permit 30.00                     0.00%

25kL - 3 month permit 60.00                     0.00%

50kL - 3 month permit 110.00                   0.00%

50 kL - 6 month permit 120.00                   0.00%

100 kL - 6 month permit 220.00                   0.00%
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1.1 Purpose 

The Local Government Act 2020 requires each council to prepare a Revenue and Rating Plan to cover a minimum 

period of four years following each Council election. The Revenue and Rating Plan establishes the revenue raising 

framework within which the Council proposes to work.  

The purpose of the Revenue and Rating Plan is to determine the most appropriate and affordable revenue and rating 

approach for Pyrenees Shire Council which in conjunction with other income sources will adequately finance the 

objectives in the council plan.  

This plan is an important part of Council’s integrated planning framework. Strategies outlined in this plan align with 

the objectives contained in the Council Plan and will feed into our budgeting and long-term financial planning 

documents, as well as other strategic planning documents under our Council’s strategic planning framework 
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1.2 Introduction 

Council provides a number of services and facilities to our local community, and in doing so, must collect revenue to 

cover the cost of providing these services and facilities.  

Council’s revenue sources include:  

• Rates and Charges  

• Grants from other levels of Government  

• Statutory Fees and Fines  

• User Fees  

• Cash and non-cash contributions from other parties (i.e. developers)  

• Interest from investments  

• Sale of Assets Rates are the most significant revenue source for Council and make up over 50% of its annual 

income.  

•  

The introduction of rate capping under the Victorian Government’s Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) has brought a 

renewed focus to Council’s long-term financial sustainability. The FGRS continues to restrict Council’s ability to raise 

revenue above the rate cap unless application is made to the Essential Services Commission for a variation. 

Maintaining service delivery levels and investing in community assets remain key priorities for Council. This strategy 

will address Council’s reliance on rate income and provide options to actively reduce that reliance.  

Council provides a wide range of services to the community, often for a fee or charge. The nature of these fees and 

charges generally depends on whether they relate to statutory or discretionary services. Some of these, such as 

statutory planning fees are set by State Government statute and are commonly known as regulatory fees. In these 

cases, councils usually have no control over service pricing. However, in relation to other services, Council has the 

ability to set a fee or charge and will set that fee based on the principles outlined in this Revenue and Rating Plan.  

Council revenue can also be adversely affected by changes to funding from other levels of government. Some grants 

are tied to the delivery of council services, whilst many are tied directly to the delivery of new community assets, 

such as roads or sports pavilions. It is important for Council to be clear about what grants it intends to apply for, and 

the obligations that grants create in the delivery of services or infrastructure. 

 

1.3 Community Engagement 
The Revenue and Rating Plan outlines Council’s decision-making process on how revenues are calculated and 

collected. The following public consultation process will be followed to ensure due consideration and feedback is 

received from relevant stakeholders.  

Revenue and Rating Plan community engagement process:  

• Draft Revenue and Rating Plan prepared by officers;  

• Draft Revenue and Rating Plan placed on public exhibition after Council meeting in May for a period of 28 

days and calling for feedback;  

• Community engagement through local news outlets and social media;  

• Hearing from community members wanting to speak to their feedback in June; and  

• Draft Revenue and Rating Plan (with any revisions) presented to Council meeting in June for adoption.  

 

This is conducted as part of the community engagement process for the annual budget. 
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1.4 Rates and Charges 
Rates are property taxes that allow Council to raise revenue to fund essential public services to cater to their 

municipal population. Importantly, it is a taxation system that includes flexibility for councils to utilise different tools 

in its rating structure to accommodate issues of equity and to ensure fairness in rating for all ratepayers. 

Council has an option of a rating structure comprised of three key elements. These are:  

• General Rates – Based on property values, which are indicative of capacity to pay and form the central basis 

of rating under the Local Government Act 1989;  

• Service Charges - A ‘user pays’ component for council services to reflect benefits provided by Council to 

ratepayers who benefit from a service; and  

• Municipal Charge - A ‘fixed rate” portion per property to cover some of the administrative costs of Council. 

 

The formula for calculating General Rates, excluding any additional charges, arrears or additional supplementary 

rates is:  

 

• Valuation x Rate in the Dollar 

 

The rate in the dollar is included in Council’s annual budget. 

 

Rates and charges are an important source of revenue, accounting for over 56% of operating revenue received by 

Council. The collection of rates is an important factor in funding Council services. 

 

Planning for future rate increases is therefore an essential component of the long-term financial planning process 

and plays a significant role in funding both additional service delivery and the increasing costs related to providing 

Council services. 

 

Council currently only applies a service charge for the collection and disposal of refuse on non-ratable properties. 

 

Council currently does not levy a municipal charge. 

 

1.4.1 Rating Legislation  
The legislative framework set out in the Local Government Act 1989 determines council’s ability to develop a rating 

system. The framework provides significant flexibility for Council to tailor a system that suits its needs. 

 

Section 155 of the Local Government Act 1989 provides that a Council may declare the following rates and charges 

on ratable land:  

• General rates under Section 158  

• Municipal charges under Section 159  

• Service rates and charges under Section 162  

• Special rates and charges under Section 163 

The recommended strategy in relation to municipal charges, service rates and charges and special rates and charges 

are discussed later in this document. 
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In raising Council rates, Council is required to primarily use the valuation of the ratable property to levy rates. Section 

157 (1) of the Local Government Act 1989 provides Council with three choices in terms of which valuation base to 

utilise. They are:  

• Site Valuation,  

• Capital Improved Valuation (CIV) and  

• Net Annual Value (NAV). 

The advantages and disadvantages of the respective valuation basis are discussed further in this document. Whilst 

this document outlines Council’s strategy regarding rates revenue, rates data will be contained in the Council’s 

Annual Budget as required by the Local Government Act 2020. 

Section 94(2) of the Local Government Act 2020 states that Council must adopt a budget by 30 June each year (or at 

another time fixed by the Minister) to include:  

a) the total amount that the Council intends to raise by rates and charges;  

b) a statement as to whether the rates will be raised by the application of a uniform rate or a differential rate:  

c) a description of any fixed component of the rates, if applicable;  

d) if the Council proposes to declare a uniform rate, the matters specified in section 160 of the Local 

Government Act 1989;  

e) if the Council proposes to declare a differential rate for any land, the matters specified in section 161(2) of 

the Local Government Act 1989; 

Section 94(3) of the Local Government Act 2020 also states that Council must ensure that, if applicable, the budget 

also contains a statement –  

a) that the Council intends to apply for a special order to increase the Council’s average rate cap for the 

financial year or any other financial year; or  

b) that the Council has made an application to the ESC for a special order and is waiting for the outcome of the 

application; or  

c) that a special Order has been made in respect of the Council and specifying the average rate cap that applies 

for the financial year or any other financial year. 

This plan outlines the principles and strategic framework that Council will utilise in calculating and distributing the 

rating burden to property owners, however, the quantum of rate revenue will be determined in the annual budget. 
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1.4.2 Rating Principles 
Taxation Principles:  

When developing a rating strategy, a Council should give consideration to the following good practice taxation 

principles:  

• Wealth Tax  

• Equity  

• Efficiency  

• Simplicity  

• Benefit  

• Capacity to Pay  

• Diversity. 

Wealth Tax 

Wealth refers to the total value reflected in property and investments and income directed 
to day-to-day living. 
 
Local government is limited to taxing one component of wealth through rates, which are a wealth tax determined 
on the value of property. 
 
This approach implies that the rates paid relate directly to the value of a ratepayer’s real property – the stored 
‘wealth’ or unrealised capital gains inherent in land and buildings. It is acknowledged that this methodology has no 
correlation to the actual consumption of services or the perceived benefits derived by the individual ratepayer.  This 
methodology also does not account for the percentage of the property might be owned by the ratepayer compared 
to a financial institution that owns a mortgage over the property. 
 
As a small, rural council, Pyrenees Shire Council is limited to this form of taxation and considers the application of 
other rating tools; such as differential rating, waivers and deferrals, are more effective in moderating the effect of 
property value on the level of rates paid and making the system more equitable, in addition to considering other 
factors such as the capacity to pay. 
 

Equity 

Horizontal equity – ratepayers in similar situations should pay similar amounts of rates (ensured mainly by accurate 

property valuations, undertaken in a consistent manner, their classification into homogenous property classes and 

the right of appeal against valuation). Vertical equity – those who are better off should pay more rates than those 

worse off (the rationale applies for the use of progressive and proportional income taxation. It implies a “relativity” 

dimension to the fairness of the tax burden). 

Efficiency 

Economic efficiency is measured by the extent to which production and consumption 
decisions by people are affected by a tax. 

 
The economic efficiency in revenue collection is largely influenced by price and administration costs. A simple 
rating system may be more transparent and minimise administration costs. However, it is also possible for a simple 
rating system to be costly if it proves to be unpopular and results in increased appeals and higher collection costs. 
Therefore, a mix of rates revenue and user charges is applied to fund a variety of Council services. 
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Simplicity  

This represents how easily a rates system can be understood by ratepayers and the 
practicality and ease of administration. 

 
It is acknowledged that the overarching rating system is complex and not easily understood by all ratepayers – 
particularly where a rate capping percentage is not directly transferable to the actual annual increases or decreases 
in an individual property’s rates payable which are influenced by valuation changes and the differentials 
determined by Council. 
 
From an administration perspective, rates are generally simple to administer since they are based on a clear 
information source (property values) and levied on a tangible good, i.e. land and improvements. 

 
Benefit  

The context of ‘benefit’ is the extent to which there is a nexus or relationship between 
consumption/benefit and the rate burden. 
 
In practice, the application of the benefit principle to Council rates requires the complex and costly process of 
measuring the relative levels of access and consumption across the full range of Council services, as well as regularly 
conducting in-depth analyses on service 
access, consumption patterns and costs in order to attempt to review the level of benefit. 

 
As an alternative, Council believes that user charges, special rates and charges, and service rates and charges – i.e. 
user pays where appropriate - serve as better pricing instruments in dealing with the issue of benefit. 

 
Capacity to Pay  

In its rating strategy, Council has always considered the “capacity to pay” principle as one of 
the primary arguments in its setting of differential rates and strives to incorporate the following factors in its 
rating decisions: 

 
• Distribution of income and wealth across the municipality, 

• Size of businesses and council services used or consumed, 

• Assessment of the poor and disadvantaged in the community (single renting pensioners and 
unemployed as well as home-owning pensioners), 

• Property profiles within the municipality, such as agricultural land, vacant landowners, 
investors, owners of large blocks or small blocks, 

• Review of the rating of specific uses such as charities and not for profit organisations, 

• Assumptions about the relative capacities of different types of property owners, e.g. pensioners versus 
single-income families with little home equity, 

• Proportion of small/large/heavy/light/rural business in the economy, 

• Comparison of similar rates – e.g. a small business with a house versus family farm, 

• Appropriateness of rebates for addressing environmental problems, 

• Benchmarking Council’s rates against similar-sized councils and identifying reasons for differences, and 

• Benefit of extra program funding – i.e. which property owners are benefitting, and which ones are 
disadvantaged. 

 
  

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.3

86 of 185



9 
 
 

Although Council believes that a fair rating strategy should ideally explain the differences in the rates paid by 
different classes of property on the basis of equity, any attempt to define and measure “capacity to pay” will 
always prove difficult due to certain constraints such as: 

 
• the diversity of land uses within each class, 

• data limitations including the currency and relevance of economic and financial data pertinent to the 
Pyrenees Shire Council, and 

• the problem with respect to owner-occupied residential properties which would require developing 
assumptions about their potential income, profits and returns. 

 

Hardship recognition 
As part of its capacity to pay principle, Council recognises that some ratepayers may have incapacity to pay caused 
by financial hardship, which can be caused by loss of employment, economic or other abuse associated with 
family violence, or other factors resulting in an unforeseen change in the property owner’s capacity to meet their 
payment obligations. 

 
Council has processes in place for ratepayers to seek assistance in such circumstances. 

 

 
Diversity  

Diversity is the capacity of ratepayers within a group to pay rates. 
 
Council’s rate-setting process assesses the general capacity of different groups of ratepayers to pay rates. However, 
there are practical limits to the extent that groups may be differentiated because of impacts on efficiency and 
simplicity, and the issue of whether the assumptions made about a group of ratepayers accurately reflect the 
circumstances of its members. Determining the appropriate balance between diverse and competing considerations 
will always remain a challenge for councils in developing their rating strategy. 
 
Council does this by using differentials between property categories, in compliance with the Ministerial Guidelines 
for Differential Rating 2013.  These differentials are reviewed annually to ensure that valuation outcomes haven’t 
created unexpected financial pressure on specific property categories that could be minimised by spreading the 
burden across our ratepayers more generally. 

 
The rating challenge for Council therefore is to determine the appropriate balancing of competing considerations. 

 

1.4.3 Determining which Valuation Base to use 
Under the Local Government Act 1989, councils may elect to use one of the following 
valuation methodologies: 

 
• Site Value (SV) – refers to the value of land only, and assumes the land is vacant with no 

improvements (such as buildings). 
• Capital Improved Value (CIV) – refers to the assessed market value of the property including both 

land (SV) and all improvements on the land (such as buildings). 
• Net Annual Value (NAV) – represents the annual rental value of a property based on 

CIV. 
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Capital Improved Value (CIV) 
Over 90% of Victorian councils apply the Capital Improved Value (CIV) methodology of valuation. It is generally 
easily understood by ratepayers since it is based on the market value of the property. 
 
Section 161 of the Local Government Act 1989 provides that a Council may raise any general rates by the application 
of a differential rate if – 
 

a) it uses the capital improved value system of valuing land; and 
b) it considers that a differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of its functions. 

 
Where a council does not utilise CIV, it may only apply limited differential rates in relation to farm land, urban farm 
land or residential use land. 
 
Since the CIV rating method takes into account the full development value of the property, it 
is widely supported as a better valuation methodology in meeting the equity and “capacity 
to pay” criteria as well as in achieving predictability of market values, ease of understanding, comparability of rating 
and valuation data between councils and flexibility in the distribution of the rating burden through differential rates. 
However, the main disadvantage with CIV 
will always be the perception that rates based on the total property value may not necessarily reflect the income 

level of the property owner as is the case with pensioners and low-income earners. 

Site value (SV) 
At present, no Victorian council is using the Site Value (SV) method of valuation. 
 
This lack of support for the SV method may be attributed to the following disadvantages: 
 

a) significant shift in rate burden from the industrial / commercial sector to the residential sector of Council, 
b) property owners that have large areas of land with much smaller/older dwellings will 

c) pay more compared to those with smaller land areas with well-developed dwellings, 
d) increased pressure on Council to give concessions to categories of landowners who may be 

disproportionately disadvantaged b y the use of site value – e.g. farm landowners, 
e) reduced flexibility and options for Council to deal with any rating inequities due to the 
f) removal of the ability to levy differential rates, and 
g) greater difficulty in understanding the SV valuation on ratepayers’ notices. 

 
On the other hand, SV may offer Council some scope for possible concessions for urban farm land and residential-use 
land. But there is very little evidence to support the implementation of site valuation in the Pyrenees Shire Council. 
 

Net annual value (NAV) 
The Net Annual Value (NAV) represents the annual rental value of a property and is calculated by valuers as 5 per 
cent of CIV. The NAV for residential and primary production properties is 5 per cent of CIV. The NAV for non-
residential (commercial and industrial) properties is the greater of either: 
 

a) the estimated annual market rental of the property minus all legislated expenses to maintain that 
property (except council rates), or 

b) 5 per cent of CIV. 
 
Overall, the use of NAV is not largely supported due to the differences in the treatment of residential and farm 
properties as opposed to commercial and industrial properties, thereby making it more difficult for the ratepayers 
to understand. 
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Recommended Basis of Valuation 
Council is currently utilising the Capital Improved Value (CIV) method of valuation for rating purposes. The (CIV) 
method of valuation allows Council to adopt a differential rating structure, which provides the flexibility to levy 
differential rates, thereby facilitating the shifting of the rate burden from some groups of ratepayers to others, 
through different “rates in the dollar” for each class of property. 
 
Council’s decision to use CIV as the basis for rates is largely underpinned by the following: 

 
• the wide support for the CIV method as it considers the full development value of the property 

and is therefore viewed to achieve greater equity and efficiency. 
• CIV is based on market values, which are more predictable and easily understood than NAV or 

SV. 
• the comparability of rating and valuation information between councils is facilitated due to the 

adoption of CIV by most councils in Victoria. 
• the use of CIV allows the application of differential rates, which equitably distribute the rating 

burden based on ability to afford council rates, i.e. CIV allows Council to apply higher rating 
differentials to the commercial and industrial sector that offset residential rates. 

 
Property Valuations 
Under the Valuation of Land Act 1960, the Victorian Valuer-General conducts property valuations on an 
annual basis. Council applies a Capital Improved Value (CIV) to all properties within the municipality to 
consider the total market value of the 
property including buildings and other improvements. The value of land is always derived by valuing the highest and 
best use of the land at the time of valuation. 

 
Councils do not collect extra revenue because of changes in property valuations. Valuations are simply used to help 
calculate the rates payable for each individual property. As part of its differential rating strategy, Council takes into 
consideration the impacts of revaluations on the various property types to ensure the consistent affordability of 
Council rates and the smoothing of any significant rating fluctuations. 
 
Supplementary Valuations 
The Victorian Valuer-General is the authority responsible for the conduct of supplementary valuations and the 
provision of monthly advice to council regarding basis of valuation and Australian Valuation Property Classification 
Code (AVPCC) changes. Supplementary valuations may be carried out for several reasons including rezoning, 
subdivisions, amalgamations, renovations, new constructions, extensions, occupancy changes and corrections. 

 
Supplementary valuations bring the value of the affected property in line with the general valuation of other 
properties within the municipality. In accordance with Part 3 of the Valuation of Land Act 1960, any objections to 
supplementary valuations must be lodged with Council within two months of the issue of the supplementary rate 
notice. 
 
Objections to Property Valuations 
Under Part 3 of the Valuation of Land Act 1960, a property owner has the right to lodge an objection against the 
valuation of a property or the Australian Valuation Property Classification Code (AVPCC) within two months of the 
issue of the original or amended (supplementary) Rates and Valuation Charges Notice (Rates Notice), or within four 
months if the notice was not originally issued to the occupier of the land. 
 
Any objection to the valuation or the AVPCC must be lodged with Council and in writing by the property owner. 
Property owners also have the right to object to the site valuations on receipt of their Land Tax Assessment. 
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Furthermore, property owners may appeal their land valuation within two months of receipt of their Council Rate 
Notice (via Council) or within two months of receipt of their Land Tax Assessment (via the State Revenue Office). 
 

 

1.4.4 Rating Differentials 
Council believes that property value is the best indicator of the capacity to pay rates and the 
implementation of a differential rating system will contribute to the equitable and efficient distribution of the 
rating burden. 
 
The current rating system in the Pyrenees Shire Council is characterised by the following: 

 
• no municipal charge (as per legislation, a council’s total revenue from a municipal charge in a 

financial year must not exceed 20 per cent of the combined sum total of the council’s total revenue 
from the municipal charge and the revenue from general rates (total rates), 

• differential rates applying to general (residential, commercial & industrial), farm and vacant land 
properties and a rate declared under the Cultural and Recreational Lands Act on recreational 
properties. 

 
Councils may elect to adopt a differential rating system (different rates in the dollar for different property 
categories) or a uniform rating system (same rate in the dollar). If a council chooses to apply a differential rating 
system, it must adopt either the Capital Improved Value (CIV) or Net Annual Value (NAV) methods of rating in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 1989. 
 
Section 161(1) of the Local Government Act 1989 outlines the requirements relating to differential rates, 
which include: 

a) A Council may raise any general rates by the application of a differential rate, if Council considers that the 
differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of its functions. 

b) If a Council declares a differential rate for any land, the Council must specify the objectives of the 
differential rate, which must be consistent with the equitable and efficient carrying out of the Councils 
functions and must include the following: 

(i) A definition of the types or classes of land which are subject to the rate and a statement 
of the reasons for the use and level of that rate. 

(ii) An identification of the type or classes of land which are subject to the rate in respect of 
the uses, geographic location (other than location based on whether or not the land is 
within a specific ward in Council’s district). 

(iii) Specify the characteristics of the land, which are the criteria for declaring the differential rate. 

 
Once the Council has declared a differential rate for any land, the Council must: 

 
a) specify the objectives of the differential rates; and 
b) specify the characteristics of the land which are the criteria for declaring the differential rate. 

 
In developing its rating strategy, Council aims to ensure that the differential rates applied are consistent with the 
provisions of the Local Government Act 1989 and that all rateable land makes an equitable financial contribution 
to the cost of carrying out the functions of Council. 
 
Different rates in the dollar of CIV can be applied to different classes of property. These classes of property must 
be clearly differentiated, and the setting of the differentials must. 
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be used to improve equity and efficiency. There is no theoretical limit on the number or type of differential rates that 
can be levied, however, the highest differential rate can be no more than four times the lowest differential rate. 
 
The effect of levying differential rates, like the municipal charge, is to reduce the impact of the property valuation 
on the amount of rates paid. The application of a differential rate means that one class of property is treated 
differently from another – either paying a higher or lower rate in the dollar. For each effect a differential rate has on 
one class, it will have the opposite effect for other property classes. A rate discount given to one class of property 
can only be covered by higher rates paid by other classes and vice-versa. 
 
After due consideration Council elected to continue to with a differential rating system as it allows greater 
discretion and flexibility in distributing the rate burden across different classes of property and facilitating 
appropriate developments in the best interests of the community. 
 
Council has continued the evaluation of the percentage variance between the differentials.  Over the past few 
years the farm rate differential has been adjusted, this year the remaining differentials have been adjusted in 
comparison to the general rate.  The significant change for the 2025/26 financial year will see the different 
categories of vacant land being combined into a single category with the differential being reduced to a single rate 
of 150% of the general rate.  The table below illustrates the movements for the 2025/26 year. 
 

 
 
 
  

Description 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

Vacant Land <2Ha 260% 150% 150% 150% 150%
Vacant Land Between 2Ha and 40Ha 230% 150% 150% 150% 150%
House Flats etc 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Commercial 115% 125% 125% 125% 125%
Industrial 115% 125% 125% 125% 125%
Farms 70% 70% 70% 70% 70%
Rec & Cult* 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Vacant Land Greater than 40Ha 155% 150% 150% 150% 150%
Undevelopable Land 100% 90% 90% 90% 90%

* Rec & Cult rate receives a 50% rebate each year on the rate raised.
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The definitions, objectives, characteristics, uses, classes of land and other details pertaining to each differential 
rate are outlined below: 
 

Residential Rate (General Rate) 

Definition: Residential land is any rateable land wherever located within the municipality which has a 
dwelling that can be occupied for the principal purpose of physically accommodating 
persons, and does not have the characteristics of Vacant Land, Farmland, Commercial Land 
or Industrial Land. 

 
Objectives: To ensure that Council has adequate funding to undertake its strategic, statutory, service 

provision and community services obligations and to ensure that the differential rate in the 
dollar declared for defined general rate land properties is fair and equitable, having regard to 
the cost and the level of benefits derived from provision of Council 
services. 

 
Types and classes: Rateable property which: 

a) is used primarily for private residential purposes (that has been granted an Occupancy 
Certificate as determined by the Pyrenees Shire Council Building Department), 

b) meets the requirements of the Building Act 1993, including but not limited to houses, 
dwellings, flats, units, excluding motels, caravan parks, supported accommodation, 

c) any land that is not defined as Vacant, Farm, Commercial or Industrial Land. 
 

Use of Rate The rate reflects the level of service provided and ensures that reasonable rate 
relativity is maintained between the residential property and other classes of 
property. 

The differential rate will be used to fund items of expenditure described in the Budget 
adopted by Council. The level of the differential rate is the level which Council considers 
is necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. 

 
Use of Land: 100% of General Rate 
 
Geographic  
Location: Wherever located within the municipal district 
 
Planning 
Scheme Zone: The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by 

consulting maps referred to in the relevant Pyrenees Shire Council Planning Scheme. 
 
Types of Buildings: All buildings which are already constructed on the land or which are constructed prior 

to the end of the financial year. 
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Commercial / Industrial Rate 

Definition: Commercial/Industrial Land is any land which is: 
a) used primarily for carrying out the manufacture or production of, 

or trade in goods or services (including tourist facilities and in the case of a business 
providing accommodation for tourists, is prescribed accommodation as per Public Health 
and Wellbeing Act (Vic) 2008; or 

b) unoccupied building erected which is zoned Commercial or 
Industrial under the Victorian City Council Planning Scheme; or  

c) unoccupied land which is zoned Commercial or Industrial under 
the Victorian City Council Planning Scheme. 

 
Characteristics: The characteristics of the planning scheme zoning are applicable to the determination of 

land which will be subject to the rate applicable to Commercial or Industrial Land. 

  
The classification of the land will be determined by the occupation of that land for its best 
use and have reference to the planning scheme zoning. 

 
Types and Classes: Commercial properties having the relevant characteristics described below: 

1. Rateable properties used or adapted to be used for business and/or administrative 
purposes, including but not limited to properties used for: 

a. The sale or hire of goods by retail or trade sales, e.g. shops, auction rooms, 
hardware stores, 

b. The manufacture of goods where the goods are sold on the property, 
c. The provision of entertainment, e.g. theatres, cinemas, amusement 

parlours and the like, 
d. Media/broadcasting/communication establishments, e.g., television stations, 

newspaper offices, ration stations and the associated facilities, 
e. The provision of accommodation other than private residential, e.g. motels, 

caravan parks, camping grounds, camps, supported accommodation, 
accommodation houses, hostels, boarding houses, 

f. The provision of hospitality, e.g. hotels, bottle shops, 
g. restaurants, cafes, takeaway food establishments, tea rooms,  
h. tourist and leisure industry, e.g. flora and fauna parks, 
i. gymnasiums, indoor sport stadiums, gaming establishments,  
j. Art galleries, museums, 
k. Showrooms, e.g. display of goods,  
l. Brothels, 
m.    Commercial storage (mini storage units, wholesale distributors), 
n. Religious purposes,  
o. Public offices, 
p.    Halls for commercial hire, 
q. Mixed businesses/milkbars. 

2. Properties used for the provision of health services, including but not limited to 
properties used for hospitals, nursing homes, rehabilitation, medical practices 
and dental practices. 

3. Properties used primarily as offices or for administration purposes including but not 
limited to properties used for legal practices, real estate agents, veterinary surgeons, 
accounting firms, insurance agencies or any other organization, group, association or 
respective body. 
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Industrial properties having the relevant characteristics described below 

Rateable properties which are used primarily for manufacturing processes, including, 
but not limited to the following: 

a. The manufacture of goods, equipment, plant, machinery, food or beverage 
which are generally not sold or consumed on site, 

b. Warehouse/bulk storage of goods, 
c. The storage of plant and machinery, 
d. The refining of raw materials from the extractive and timber industries, 
e. The treatment and storage of industrial waste materials. 

 
Use of Rate: The Commercial/Industrial differential rate will be used to fund items of expenditure described 

in the Budget adopted by Council. The level of the differential rate is the level which Council 
considers is necessary to achieve the objectives specified above. The rate reflects the level of 
service provided and ensures that reasonable rate relativity is maintained between the 
commercial/industrial property and other classes of property. 

 
Level of Rate: 125% of the General Rate. 
 
Use of Land: Any use permitted under the Pyrenees Shire Council Planning Scheme. 
 
Geographic 
Location: Wherever located within the municipal district. 
 
Planning  
Scheme Zoning: The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by 

consulting maps referred to in the relevant Pyrenees Shire Council Planning Scheme. 
 
Types of Buildings: All buildings which are already constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to 

the end of the financial year. 
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Farm Rate 
 
Definition: Farm land is defined as any rateable land which meets the definition as described under 

Section 2(1) of the Valuation of Land Act 1960: 
a. any rateable land that is 2 or more hectares in area, 
b. used for carrying on a business of primary production as determined by the 

Australian Taxation Office, 
c. used primarily for agricultural production (grazing, including agistment, 

dairying, pig-farming, poultry farming, fish farming, tree farming, beekeeping, 
viticulture, horticulture, fruit growing or the growing of crops of any kind or for 
any combination of those activities, and 

d. used by a business: 

• which has a significant and substantial commercial purpose of 
character, and 

• seeks to make a profit on a continuous or repetitive basis from its activities on 
the land, and 

• is making a profit from the activities on the land if it continues to operate 
in the way that it is operating. 

 

Council has decided that the Farm Properties definition for differential rating purposes be 
revised to only capture rateable properties which have primary production as its substantive 
use and exclude properties where primary production is secondary or incidental to the 
property use (commonly referred to as lifestyle properties). Therefore, the current 
differential farm rate will only be applicable to genuine farming operations as distinct from 
hobby or rural lifestyle properties. 

 

It was also determined that the definition of Farm Land for differential rating purposes be 
modified so that rural lifestyle properties are no longer defined as Farm Land for differential 
rating purposes. Properties where primary production and associated improvements are 
secondary to the value of the residential home site and associated residential 
improvements should not be classified as Farm Land for differential rating purposes.  
 
Similarly, vacant properties in a rural, semi-rural or bushland setting that have no 
restrictions or are not likely to encounter difficulties in obtaining building purposes should 
not be classified as Farm Land for differential rating purposes. 

 

Objectives: To ensure that the differential Farm Land rate is fair and equitable through the application 
of a discount to farm land properties as Council believes these properties pay 
disproportionately higher rates in relation to income generated, because of the higher land 
component. 

In its considerations of the cost and benefits of delivering services to the community, Council 
aims to assist in maintaining the sustainability of the farming sector as a major industry and 
balancing its strong agricultural base with the overall economic growth in the municipality. 

 

Characteristics: The characteristics of the planning scheme zoning are applicable to the determination of land 

which will be subject to the rate applicable to Farm Land. The classification of the land will be 

determined by the occupation of that land for its best use and have reference to the planning 

scheme zoning. 
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Types and  
Classes: Farm Land having the relevant characteristics described below: 

a. used primarily for primary production purposes, or 
b. any land that is not defined as General, Commercial / Industrial or Vacant Land. 

 
Level of Rate: 70% of General Rate 

Use of Land: Any use permitted under the Pyrenees Shire Council Planning Scheme. 

Geographical  
Location: Wherever located within the municipal district. 
 

Planning 

Scheme Zoning: The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by 
consulting maps referred to in the relevant Pyrenees Shire Council Planning Scheme. 

 
Types of Buildings: All buildings which are already constructed on the land or which are constructed prior to 

the end of the financial year. 
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Vacant Land 
 
Definition: Vacant land in this class is any land wherever located within the Municipality, on which no 

dwelling is erected and does not meet the criteria of any other rating differential. 
 

Objectives: The objective of this differential rate for Vacant Land is to encourage the development 
of vacant land. The encouragement of development is strategically important as it has 
a positive effect on local employment and income whereas speculative behaviour may 
result in market instability and should therefore be discouraged. 

 Council holds the view that the Vacant Land differential should be higher than the 
general rate to encourage the development of land and ensure that all rateable land 
will make an equitable financial contribution to the cost of carrying out the functions 
of Council. 

Furthermore, the Council also believes that a higher differential rate will also assist to partly 
offset the costs of servicing new land, including major infrastructure studies and the 
implementation of interconnecting infrastructure between subdivisions. However, the more 
difficult task is determining an appropriate differential to the general rate. 

 

Characteristics: The characteristics of the planning scheme zoning are applicable to the determination 
of land which will be subject to the rate of vacant land in this category. The 
classification of the land will be determined by the occupation of that land for its best 
use and have reference to the planning scheme zoning. 

 

Types and 
Classes: Land that has not been developed and does not meet the criteria of any other rating 

differential. 

 

Use of Rate: The differential rate will be used to fund those items of expenditure outlined in the 
Council budget documentation. The level of the differential rate is that which Council 
considers necessary to achieve those objectives specified above. 

 
Level of Rate: 150% of the General Rate. 
 

Use of Land: Any use permitted under the Pyrenees Shire Council planning Scheme. 

 

Geographic  

Location: Wherever located within the municipal district. 

 

Planning 

Scheme Zoning: The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by 
consulting maps referred to in the relevant Pyrenees Shire Council Planning Scheme. 

 

Types of Buildings: Not applicable: 
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Undevelopable Land 

 
Definition: Land deemed not suitable for residential, commercial or industrial purposes due to the 

restrictions under the Pyrenees Shire Council’s Planning Scheme. 
 

Objectives: To ensure that the differential rate applied to undevelopable land is fair and equitable 
and does not pose any unnecessary financial burden on property owners. In its 
consideration of the cost and benefits of delivering services to the community, Council 
will examine the potential use of undevelopable land as green space and 
links/corridors to conservation areas and wildlife reserves. 

 

Characteristics: To ensure that the differential rate applied to undevelopable land is fair and equitable 
and does not pose any unnecessary financial burden on property owners. In its 
consideration of the cost and benefits of delivering services to the community, Council 
will examine the potential use of undevelopable land as green space and 
links/corridors to conservation areas and wildlife reserves. 

 

Types and 
Classes: Land in Pyrenees Shire Council that cannot be used for residential, commercial or 

industrial purposes (including extractive industry) due to the constraints outlined under 
the Pyrenees Shire Council Planning Scheme. 

 

 

Use of Rate: The current vacant land differentials are set at a higher rate to encourage owners to 
develop their land. However, there are instances where the land cannot be developed 
with a legal dwelling due to Planning and Environmental Health requirements. It would 
be unfair to continue to charge the higher differential to these undevelopable land 
owners if they have no reasonable prospect of ever being able to reduce the 
differential through development. 

 
Level of Rate: 90% of the General Rate. 
 

Use of Land: Any use permitted under the Pyrenees Shire Council planning Scheme. 

 

Geographic  

Location: Wherever located within the municipal district. 

 

Planning 

Scheme Zoning: The zoning applicable to each rateable land within this category, as determined by 
consulting maps referred to in the relevant Pyrenees Shire Council Planning Scheme. 

 

Types of Buildings: Not applicable: 
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Cultural and Recreational Land 

 
Definition: Ratable property which is used primarily for cultural, recreational or club activities. 

including golf clubs, bowls clubs, scout or guide halls, masonic halls, historical societies 
and heritage buildings (not for profit). 

 

Objectives: The provision of rate relief to recreational land is provided by the Cultural and 
Recreational Lands Act 1963. The Act effectively provides for properties used for 
outdoor activities to be differentially rated unless it involves land that is being leased 
from a private landowner. 

The discretion of whether to provide a cultural and recreational land rate rests with 
Council. 

Council considers that the provisions under the Cultural and Recreational Lands Act 
provides a more appropriate vehicle for declaring rates on recreational land rather 
than the differential rating powers under the Local Government Act because: 

• there is no risk to the legal basis for recovery of rates from recreational 
properties which cease to be recreational land, 

• the 4:1 ratio between the highest and lowest differential rates is not a 
consideration for councils wishing to set particularly low cultural and 
recreational land rates, and 

• the application of the cultural and recreational lands rates is generally 
provided on a property by property basis, rather than the consideration of a 
broad property class. 

The requirement in the Act that “the rates set must have regard to the services provided by 
the councils in relation to such lands and the community benefit derived from such 
recreational lands” has never been applied in the technical sense. Rather than calculating 
the costs that local government bears, or the benefits received by locals in relation to these 
properties, most Victorian councils using recreational rates set them at either 50% or 75% of 
the general/residential rate. 

Even an assessment of the more direct costs involved – for example, depreciation of the 
local road assets related to access, is problematic and would require collection of 
information on how much additional traffic is generated by the existence of such facilities. 

Cultural and recreational lands will also benefit indirectly from other council services 
expenditure. The quantification of the local benefits received in terms of income, 
employment, social interaction, community and physical wellbeing is also problematic. The 
resources which would be involved in attempting an accurate assessment of “benefits and 
costs” is unlikely to be justifiable on efficiency grounds, especially given the levels of rate 
income involved. 

Due to the complexity in determining the rates for cultural and recreational land, a rebate 
of 50% will be granted by Council to properties classified as Cultural and Recreational Land. 
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Types and 
Classes: Rateable property which is used primarily for cultural, recreational or club purposes. 

Recreational Land is defined as follows: 

a)   lands which are – 

(i)   vested in or occupied by anybody corporate or unincorporated which exists for 
the purpose of providing or promoting cultural or sporting recreational or similar 
facilities or objectives and which applies its profits in promoting its objectives 
and prohibits the payment of any dividend or amount to its members; and 

(ii)  are used for sporting recreational or cultural purposes or similar activities; or 
b)   lands which are used primarily as agricultural showgrounds; or 

c)    lands which are not otherwise classified by another differential, used primarily by a not-
for-profit club and: 

(i)   not used for the purpose of running a business on a full- time commercial basis; 
and/or 

(ii)  the club does not pay any employees, contractors or members to perform duties 
associated with the operations of the club; and/or 

(iii) is not a licensed premise. 

For the purpose of this rating classification the following applies: 

“Club” includes an association, society, fraternity, guild, lodge or 

circle; and, 

A club is “not-for-profit” if: 

(i)   it does not, either while it is operating or upon winding up, carry on its activities for 
the purpose of profit or gain to particular persons, including its owners or members; 
and 

(ii)  it does not distribute its profits or assets to particular persons, including its owners 
or members, either while it is operating or upon winding up. 

 
Level of Rate: 100% of the General Rate. (Rebate of 50% is applicable) 
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Trust for Nature Covenants – To be rated as Cultural and Recreational Land 

 

Definition: Rateable land which has a Trust for Nature Covenant applying to the land. A Trust for 
Nature Covenant enables the permanent protection of significant areas of natural bush 
habitat on private land. It is a voluntary agreement between the ratepayer and Trust for 
Nature and is to be recognised on title. 

 

Objectives: Council recognises the public and environmental benefit that Trust for Nature 
Covenants provide and supports ratepayers with these covenants by offering the 
reduction of rates payable through its biodiversity and land management incentive 
program. 

All assessments in this category are on a concessional differential rate in accordance 
with Section 169 1d of the Local Government Act 1989 which states that “A council may 
grant a rebate or concession in relation to any rate or charge to assist in the proper 
development of part of the municipal district.” 

Further to this, Sec 169 1B of the Act states that Council may only grant a rebate or 
concession 

a. to owners of specified rateable properties not exceeding one third of 
the rateable properties in the municipal district; or 

b. to owners or rateable properties who undertake to satisfy terms that 
directly relate to the community benefit as are specified by Council. 

 

Level of Rate: 100% of the General Rate (Rebate of 50% is applicable) 
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1.4.5 Municipal Charge 
Another principle rating option available to Councils is the application of a municipal charge. Under Section 
159 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council may declare a municipal charge to cover some of the 
administrative costs of the Council. The legislation is not definitive on what comprises administrative costs 
and does not require Council to specify what is covered by the charge.    

 

The application of a municipal charge represents a choice to raise a portion of the rates by a flat fee for all 
properties, rather than sole use of the valuation.    

 

Under the Local Government Act 1989, a council’s total revenue from a municipal charge in a financial year 
must not exceed 20 per cent of the combined sum total of the Council’s total revenue from the municipal 
charge and the revenue from general rates (total rates).    

 

The municipal charge applies equally to all properties and is based upon the recovery of a fixed cost of 
providing administrative services irrespective of valuation. The same contribution amount per assessment to 
cover a portion of council’s administrative costs can be seen as an equitable method of recovering these 
costs.    

 

Council currently does not levy a municipal charge. 

 

1.4.6 Special Charge Schemes 
Under Section 163 of the Local Government Act 1989, councils are vested with the power to 

levy a special rate or special charge for the purpose of providing a special benefit to a defined group of 
ratepayers. Legislation allows councils to recover the cost of works or services from property owners who 
receive an exclusive benefit from such works or services. 

 

The purposes for which special rates and special charges may be used include road construction, kerb and 
channelling, footpath provision, drainage, and other capital improvement projects.  Special rates and charges 
have been used by Council in the past to fund the construction of kerb and channelling. 

 

In accordance with Section 163 (3), a council must specify: 

 

a. a)   the wards, groups, uses or areas for which the special rate or charge is declared, and b)   the land 
in relation to which the special rate or special charge is declared, 

b. c)    the manner in which the special rate or special charge will be assessed and levied, and d)   details 
of the period for which the special rate or special charge remains in force. 

 

Special rates and charges are specifically designed to address the benefit principle as they are specifically 
targeted towards ratepayers that receive an exclusive or additional benefit from particular council 
expenditures. The consideration of such special charge schemes is regularly assessed and reviewed by 
Council in the development of its pricing policies for services to ensure that the appropriate rates and 
charges are applied in the collection of any revenue required for the delivery of services. 
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1.4.7 Service Rates and Charges 
Section 162 of the Local Government Act 1989 provides council with the opportunity to raise 

service rates and charges for any of the following services: 

 

a. The provision of a water supply, 
b. The collection and disposal of refuse or waste, 
c. The provision of sewage services, and 
d. Any other prescribed service. 

 

Waste Service Charges and Levies 

Council levies Waste Management Service Charges for the collection and disposal of household refuse and 
recyclables. From 1 July 2021 the service consists of one of the following: 

a. Urban Kerbside Collection areas – weekly collection of one landfill bin, the fortnightly 
collection of one recycling bin, monthly collection of one green organics bin, monthly 
collection of one glass bin, and access to free disposal of domestic quantities of waste at one 
of Council’s Transfer Stations, or 

b. Rural Kerbside Collection areas – fortnightly collection of one landfill bin, the fortnightly 
collection of one recycling bin, monthly collection of one glass bin, and access to free 
disposal of domestic quantities of waste at one of Council’s Transfer Stations, or 

c. Free disposal of domestic quantities of waste at one of Council’s Transfer Stations. 

All residential properties within the municipality must have a waste service. The urban and rural waste 
collection areas are declared by Council on adopted maps. 

 

In its waste service provision, Council will maintain its full cost recovery approach by setting the service 
charge for waste at a level that fully recovers the cost of the waste function, including the operational, 
capital upgrade works and maintenance costs of Transfer Stations as well as the cost of rehabilitation of past 
and current landfill sites and transfer stations when they reach the end of their useful life. 

 

Council recognises that the application of a Waste Management Service Charge is readily understood and 
accepted by residents as a fee for a direct service that they receive. Furthermore, it also supports equality in 
the rating system since all residents receiving exactly the same service level all pay an equivalent amount. 

 

The Waste Management Service Charge covers costs relating to services provided across the 

Shire, including: 

• Kerbside domestic mobile bin collection for household waste, co-mingled recyclables, glass 
recyclables and green waste. At present this does not include organic or food waste, but this is likely 
to be introduced in the future. 

• Disposal costs for kerbside collections – 

• Household waste to landfill 

• Recyclables to recycling centres 

• Green waste to transfer stations 
• Management of transfer stations 

• Transfer stations accept disposal of - 

• E-waste (electrical and electronic equipment) 

• Green waste 

• Chemical container and household chemicals recovery 

• Oil recycling 
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• Mattresses 

• White goods 

• Tyres 

• Car batteries and gas bottles 
• Clearance of street and recreation reserve litter bins 
• Mobile bin collection for schools, commercial and industrial premises 
• Periodic hard waste collections 
• Management of former landfills – Council has five former landfills that require ongoing 

management to maximise safety and reduce pollution risk 
• Management of litter and illegal dumping 
• Provision of waste education and information – collaboration with regional partnerships 
• Improvement of service delivery and management where required – e.g. improvement of 

safety at transfer stations. 

 

Council has decided to retain the application of a Waste Management Service Charge since the absence of 
such a waste service charge would mean that the deficit amount must be raised through an increased 
general rate. Furthermore, Council holds the view that the mix of levying a single fixed charge combined with 
valuation-driven rates for the remainder of the rate invoice will provide a more balanced and equitable 
outcome. 

 

The waste management services charge or levy is used as a balancing mechanism for all waste costs to 
ensure a zero-dollar recovery for services relating to waste – i.e. the aim is for Council to only collect in 
charges the equivalent to costs incurred with regard to waste management. Each year, and throughout the 
year, as part of end of financial year end accounting and budget preparation / monitoring, Council will 
analyse the Waste Management Service Charges made to residents compared to actual associated costs to 
determine whether any under or over recovery has been made.  Subject to the outcome, Council will then 
determine what action will be taken to rectify any over / under charge, e.g. amending future charges to 
compensate. 

 

1.4.8 Alternative Rating Schemes 
The Electricity Industry Act 1993 (now the Electricity Industry Act 2000) provided for the 

newly privatised electricity generators to choose to negotiate an agreement with councils to make payments 
in lieu of rates. The agreement is generally referred to as a PiLoR (Payment in Lieu of Rates) agreement. 

 

The PiLoR arrangements apply only to the land on which the generation units are situated. Related assets, 
such as transformers and connection infrastructure, are rated under the LGA. The Victoria Government 
Gazette notice contains a number of formulae for determining rates based on power generation capacity or 
output, rather than property value. 

 

Since 2018, separate formulae for solar and wind generators have been included in the Gazette, consisting of 
a variable charge based on output in megawatt-hours (MWh) with solar/wind generators that are deemed 
“community-owned” paying a lower variable charge. In 2018, the charges were $0.56 per MWh produced for 
community generators, and $1.12 per MWh for other solar/wind generators. Both charges are indexed 
annually. 

 

According to a submission by the Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV) to the Local Government Rating 
System Review 2020, details of some of the PiLoR arrangements indicate an inequity across business sectors 
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in rates contributions. For example, Swan Hill Rural City Council estimates that rating power generation land 
in Swan Hill based on CIV would have raised approximately $1.5 million more in revenue than the value of 
rates under PiLoR in 

2019-20. Similarly, Towong Shire Council estimated that the difference between rating generators in the 
Shire of Towong based on CIV rather than PiLoR would have resulted in approximately $700,000 in additional 
revenue. 

 

Council will continue to apply the above gazetted formulae in the calculation of its annual revenue generated 
from wind farms. In the long term, however, Council is of the view that the existing PiLoR arrangements 
create inequity between the power generators that are charged based on output or capacity and the other 
businesses that are levied property-value based rates, since these arrangements generally result in a lower 
rate bill for the former. 

This view concurs with the aforementioned MAV Submission as well as with two of the 56 recommendations 
contained in the latest Local Government Rating System Review 2020: 

 

Recommendation 38: That in the absence of a clear policy rationale, section 94 of the Electricity Industry Act 
2000 be repealed to bring the rating of all power generation companies under the Local Government Act 
1989. 

 

Recommendation 39: If section 94 of the Electricity Industry Act 2000 (EIA) is repealed, that a transition 
arrangement and timeframe for electricity generators to be rated under the Local Government Act 1989 
(LGA) be implemented. (For example, the difference in rates payable under the EIA and the LGA could be 
phased in evenly over three years). 

 

1.4.9 Collection and Administration of Rates and Charges 
The purpose of this section is to outline the rate payment options, processes, and the Council support 
provided to ratepayers facing financial hardship. Current legislation also provides for the use of waivers, 
rebates, concessions, and deferrals. 

 

Payment options 

In accordance with section 167(1) of the Local Government Act 1989, ratepayers have the option of paying 
rates and charges by way of four instalments. Payments are due on the prescribed dates below: 

 

• 1st Instalment: 30 September 

• 2nd Instalment: 30 November 

• 3rd Instalment: 28/29 February 

• 4th Instalment: 31 May 

 

Council offers a range of payment options including: 

• in person at Council offices (cheques, money orders, EFTPOS, credit/debit cards, cash), 

• BPAY, 

• via Australia Post (over the counter, over the phone via credit card and on the internet), 

Interest on arrears and overdue rates 

The payment of rates and charges must be received by the due date, as shown on the annual rates notice. If 
an instalment is not paid on or before the due date, Council may charge interest on the overdue amount. 
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Interest is charged on all overdue rates in accordance with Section 172 of the Local Government Act 1989. 
The interest rate applied is fixed under Section 2 of the Penalty Interest Rates Act 1983, which is determined 
by the Minister and published by notice in the Government Gazette. The quantum of this interest rate shall 
be confirmed each year in the declaration of rates and charges and displayed on the annual rates notice. 

 

Pensioner rebates 

Eligible ratepayers may claim a rates rebate on their sole or principal place of residence. 

Upon initial application, Council conducts an online verification with Centrelink or DVA to confirm eligibility 
for the rebate. 

 

Ongoing eligibility is maintained, unless rejected by Centrelink or the Department of Veteran Affairs during 
the annual verification procedure. Upon confirmation of an eligible pensioner concession status, the amount 
will be automatically deducted from the rates notice. There is no need to reapply unless the pensioner’s 
circumstances have changed. 

 

The eligible maximum rebate is adjusted annually by the Victorian State Government. For example, the 
eligible maximum rebate is $241.00 for the 2020-21 rating year. Eligible pensioners can apply for the rebate 
at any time throughout the rating year. 

Retrospective claims up to a maximum of one previous financial year can be approved by Council on 
verification of eligibility criteria; for periods prior to this, claims may be approved by the relevant 
government department. 

 

Deferred payments 

Under Section 170 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council may allow partial or full deferral of rates 
where they consider that paying rates would create financial hardship for the applicant. Deferral of rates and 
charges is made available to all ratepayers who satisfy the eligibility criteria under the Council’s Financial 
Assistance Policy, and will be granted based on the following conditions: 

• That the ratepayer pays interest on the amount affected by the deferral at the interest rate 
applicable to Council for the rating year, 

• The deferral ceases and the deferred rates and accrued interest rate are immediately payable 
if the ratepayer ceases to own or occupy the property on which the rates are imposed, 

• The deferral ceases if Council in its discretion, revokes the deferral. In such cases, Council will 
notify the ratepayer in writing and request full payment of the deferred rates and accrued 
interest within 30 days, 

• The deferral will be reviewed each year within one month of the issue of the annual rate 
notice, 

• An increase in the valuation of a property and a subsequent increase in rates cannot be 
considered grounds for a deferred payment of rates. 
 

Where Council approves an application for deferral of rates or charges, interest will continue to be levied on the 
outstanding balance of rates and charges, but at an interest rate fixed annually by Council. This deferred interest 
rate will typically be well under the penalty interest rate levied by Council on unpaid rates and charges. Under 
Section 170(3), Councils can require repayments of deferred amounts if they consider that payment would no longer 
cause hardship, or if the land changes hands. 

Ratepayers seeking to apply for rates deferral on grounds of financial hardship will be required to submit a 
completed Application for Financial Hardship Assistance Form which is available at Council offices, Council 
website or can be posted upon request. 
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Debt recovery 

Council makes every effort to contact ratepayers at their correct address, but it is the ratepayers’ 
responsibility to properly advise Council of their contact details. The Local Government Act 1989 Section 230 
and 231 requires both the vendor and buyer of property, or their agents (e.g. solicitors and or conveyancers), 
to notify Council by way of notice of acquisition of an interest in land.    

If an account becomes overdue, Council will issue an overdue reminder notice which will include accrued 
penalty interest. If the account remains unpaid, Council may take legal action without further notice to 
recover the overdue amount. All fees and court costs incurred will be recoverable from the ratepayer.    

 

If an amount payable by way of rates in respect to land has been in arrears for three years or more, Council 
may take action to sell the property in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 Section 181. 

 

Fire Services Property Levy 

In 2016, the Victorian State Government passed legislation requiring the Fire Services Property Levy to be 
collected from ratepayers. Previously this was collected through building and property insurance premiums. 
The Fire Services Property Levy helps fund the services provided by the Metropolitan Fire Brigade (MFB) and 
Country Fire Authority (CFA), and all levies collected by the Council are passed through to the State 
Government. 

 

The Fire Services Property Levy is based on two components, a fixed charge, and a variable charge linked to 
the Capital Improved Value of the property. This levy is not included in the rate cap and increases in the levy 
are at the discretion of the State Government. 
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1.5 Other Revenue Items 

1.5.1 User Fees and Charges 
The Local Government Act 1989 grants councils the power to set fees and charges at a level 

that allows for the full cost recovery of providing services unless a substantive policy or imperative warrants 
the use of subsidisation. 

 

User fees and charges are those that Council will charge for the delivery of services and use of community 
infrastructure.  User fees and charges levied by Council include: 

 

• Caravan Park charges 

• Home Care charges 

• Building charges 

• Animal Registration charges 

• Rental and Function charges 

• Delivered Meals charges 

• Swimming Pool charges 

• Goldfield Recreation Reserve Venue Hire charges 

• Waste Disposal charges 

• Resource and Information Centre charges 

• Community Transport charges 

• Other charges 

 

In determining the level of fees and charges to be applied to each service, Council must consider a range of 
guiding principles including value-for-money, equity, affordability, efficiency and transparency. 

 

As part of its annual budget process, Council conducts a periodic review of fees and charges to assess the 
appropriate pricing and application based on factors such as: 

 

• whether the service is a public or a private good, 

• if there is any State or Commonwealth government legislation setting a statutory price for a 
particular service, 

• if there is a Council policy on subsidising the service (setting prices below full cost) or utilising the 
service as a tax mechanism (setting prices above the full cost level), 

• whether the price based on the full cost of the service is competitive with other suppliers, e.g. 
private competitors, 

• whether the price based on the full cost of the service is in line with the same service delivered by 
other similar-sized councils (benchmarking). 

 

In setting fees and charges, Council will generally determine the extent of cost recovery for particular 
services consistent with the user-pays principle, i.e. the cost of providing a direct service will be met by the 
fees charged. 

 

Council has developed its user-fee pricing based on one of the following pricing methods: 
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a) Market pricing - where the price of the service is determined by examining the alternative 
prices of surrounding service providers. The market price is set by benchmarking Council’s 
full cost price against the competitive prices of alternate suppliers in the market.  In general, 
the market price represents full cost recovery plus an allowance for profit. Market price is 
applied when there are other suppliers providing the service and Council is required to meet 
its obligations in accordance with the Competitive Neutrality Guidelines. 

 

b) Full cost recovery pricing - recovers all direct and indirect costs incurred by Council. This 
pricing method should be used in particular when services are provided by Council that 
benefit individual customers specifically rather than the community as a whole. 

 

c) Subsidised pricing - is where Council subsidises a service by not passing the full cost of that 
service onto the customer. Prices can be set from full subsidy (no charge) to partial 
subsidies, where Council provides the service to the user with various levels of subsidisation. 
Subsidised pricing should always be based on knowledge of the full cost of providing a 
service and an understanding of the level of the subsidy being offered. The subsidy can be 
funded from Council’s rate revenue or other sources such as Commonwealth and State 
funding programs. 

 

Council prepares a schedule of fees and charges as part of its annual budget each year. Any proposed pricing 
changes will be included in this schedule and communicated to stakeholders before the budget is adopted, 
giving them the chance to review and provide valuable feedback before the fees are finalised. 

 

1.5.2 Statutory Fees and Charges 
Statutory fees and fines are those which Council collects under the direction of legislation or 

other government directives. The rates used for statutory fees and fines are generally advised by the State 
government department responsible for the corresponding services or legislation, and generally, councils will 
have limited discretion in applying these fees. 

 

Statutory fees and fines include: 

 

• Town Planning fees 

• Environmental Health fees 

• Infringements and Fines 

• Land Information and Building Certificate fees 

 

Penalty and fee units are used in Victoria’s Acts and Regulations to describe the amount of a 

fine or a fee. 

 

Penalty units 

Penalty units are used to define the amount payable for fines for many offences. For example, the fine for 
selling a tobacco product to a person aged under 18 is four penalty units. 
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The rate for penalty units is indexed each financial year so that it is raised in line with inflation. Any change 
to the value of a penalty unit will happen on 1 July each year. 

 

Fee units 

Fee units are used to calculate the cost of a certificate, registration or licence that is set out 

in an Act or Regulation. For example, the cost of depositing a Will with the Supreme Court registrar of 
probates is 1.6 fee units. 

 

The value of one fee unit is currently $14.81. This value may increase at the beginning of a financial year, at 
the same time as penalty units. 

 

The cost of fees and penalties is calculated by multiplying the number of units by the current value of the fee 
or unit. The exact cost may be rounded up or down. 

 

1.5.4 Contributions 
Contributions represent funds received by council, usually from non-government sources, and are usually 
linked to projects.     

Contributions can be made to council in the form of either cash payments or asset hand-overs.  Examples of 
contributions include:    

• Monies collected from developers under planning and development agreements    
• Monies collected under developer contribution plans and infrastructure contribution plans  
• Contributions from user groups towards upgrade of facilities    
• Assets handed over to council from developers at the completion of a subdivision, such as 

roads, drainage, and streetlights.   

Contributions should always be linked to a planning or funding agreement. Council will not undertake any 
work on a contribution-funded project until a signed agreement outlining the contribution details is in place.   

Contributions linked to developments can be received well before any council expenditure occurs. In this 
situation, the funds will be identified and held separately for the specific works identified in the agreements.   

 

1.5.5 Interest on Investments 
Council receives interest on funds managed as part of its investment portfolio, where funds are held in 
advance of expenditure, or for special purposes. The investment portfolio is managed per council’s 
investment policy, which seeks to earn the best return on funds, whilst minimising risk. 

 

 

1.5.6 Borrowings 
Whilst not a source of income, borrowings can be an important cash management tool in appropriate 
circumstances. Loans can only be approved by council resolution. The following financial sustainability 
principles must be adhered to with new borrowings:    

• Borrowings must only be applied for where it can be proven that repayments can be met in 
the Long Term Financial Plan    

• Council will maintain its debt at levels which are sustainable. 
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1.5.7 Grants 
Grant revenue includes capital and non-capital grants allocated by the Commonwealth and 

State Governments to local governments. The Commonwealth Government provides funding to local 
government in the form of untied financial assistance grants and (tied) specific purpose grants. The financial 
assistance grants consist of two components: 

• general purpose grants, distributed among the States on an equal per person basis, and 
• identified local road grants, distributed among the States on the basis of historical shares 

(identified as road grants, but are untied). 

The Commonwealth Government also makes specific purpose payments direct to local governments to fund 
local roads and infrastructure (e.g. Roads to Recovery grants), child care programs, disability and other 
services administered by local governments. 

 

The State Governments provide grants to local governments for specific purposes or services.  A component 
of State Government grants are reimbursements for rate concessions provided by local governments on 
behalf of State Governments. State Governments also provide contract payments to councils to carry out 
some State functions. 

 

Some grants may be singular and tied to the delivery of specific projects, whilst others can be of a recurrent 
nature and may or may not be linked to the delivery of projects. 

 

For most rural and small councils, where own-source revenue-raising capacity is limited, grants constitute a 
substantial source of council revenue. Grants make up the second largest source of revenue for Council, 
representing approximately 42% of our annual income. 

This reflects the reliance of rural and small councils on grant income, making them highly dependent on 
government funding to maintain operations and exposing them to the potential for higher financial risks in 
the long term. 

 

Council will continue to pro-actively advocate to other levels of government for increased grant funding 
support to deliver important infrastructure and service outcomes for the community. Council will also 
consider using its own funds to leverage higher grant funding and maximise external funding opportunities. 

 

In preparing its annual budget and financial plan, Council will assess project proposals, grant program 
opportunities and co-funding options to determine which grants to apply for. Any project that is reliant on 
grant funding will not proceed until a funding agreement is confirmed and finalised. Council will only apply 
for and accept external funding if it aligns with the objectives outlined in the Community Vision and Council 
Plan. 
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1.6 Community Engagement 
In conjunction with the Pyrenees Shire Council Community Engagement Strategy, the following Community 
Consultation process was performed: 

 

 
What Consultation How it was achieved 

Media Public Notice advising ratepayers of their opportunity to 
provide comment on the proposed Revenue and Rating 
Plan in the Pyrenees Advocate. 

Mail-out A mail-out to all addresses within the shire advising 
ratepayers of their opportunity to provide comment on 
draft revenue and rating plan. 

Social Media Facebook posts on Council’s page encouraging residents to 
provide feedback. 

 

 

1.6.1 Gender Impact Assessment 
A gender impact assessment has been conducted of this Plan, in accordance with the 

Gender Equality Act 2020. The assessment identified the following: 

 

a. That the length and specific content of the Plan may inhibit understanding by someone with limited 
understanding of English. To address this – 

I. Council are willing to provide a translation of the Plan into a language more appropriate for an 
individual upon request, and 

II. Council will undertake community consultation to ascertain whether there are groups of 
residents from non-English speaking backgrounds who might benefit from automatic translations 
of key policies, plans and strategies, or documents being published for community feedback, in 
the future. 

b. That the intention to collect Revenue from ratepayers may impact individuals facing financial hardship.  
This is addressed through Council’s Financial Assistance Policy which offers support to individuals 
through payment plans, waiver of interest etc. 
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2 Financial Plan Context 
This section describes the context and external / internal environment and consideration in determining the 10-year financial projections and assumptions 
 

2.1 Financial Policy Statements 
This section defines the policy statements, and associated measures, that demonstrates Council's financial sustainability to fund the aspirations of the Community Vision 
and the Council Plan. 

 
 

Forecast 

Actual

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35

Consistent underlying surplus results 

Adjusted underlying 

surplus (deficit) / 

Adjusted underlying 

revenue greater than -2%

-4% 2% 8% 0% 0% 0% 0% -1% -1% -1% -1% -1%

Ensure Council maintains sufficient 

working capital to meet its debt 

obligations as they fall due. 

Current Assets / Current 

Liabilities greater than 

1.00

1.00 1.71 1.70 1.76 1.79 1.82 1.84 1.85 1.85 1.84 1.86 1.88

Allocate adequate funds towards 

renewal capital in order to replace 

assets and infrastructure as they reach 

the end of their service life.

Asset renewal and 

upgrade expenses / 

Depreciation above 85%

85% 121% 83% 83% 83% 83% 83% 83% 83% 81% 81% 80%

That Council applies loan funding to 

new capital and maintains total 

borrowings in line with rate income 

and growth of the municipality.

Total borrowings / Rate 

revenue to remain below 

60%

60% 18% 22% 19% 16% 14% 12% 9% 7% 5% 3% 2%

Council maintains sufficient 

unrestricted cash to ensure ongoing 

liquidity as well as to address 

unforeseen cash imposts if required.

Unrestricted cash / 

current liabilities to be 

maintained above 80%

80% 109% 108% 110% 112% 113% 113% 113% 111% 109% 107% 107%

Policy Statement Measure

Ta
rg

et
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In setting the 10 Financial Plan, Councils priority is to maintain financial sustainability over this period and to leave a 

financial legacy for future Councils to have equal financial capacity to deliver services and projects to the community 

as previous Councils have. 

The four (4) key financial performance indicators that the 10 year financial plan is structured around are: 

1 Working Capital 125% 

2 Council Debt Less than 60% of rate revenue 

3 Debt servicing costs Less than 5% of total revenue (excl capital revenue) 

4 Minimum cash levels  

 

1 Working Capital 

Council has set a target for working capital of 125%.  A positive working capital ensures the Council has sufficient 

current assets to offsets liabilities due in the next 12 months. 

 

 
 

The above graph illustrates the level of working capital that has been budgeted for over the 10 years.  The red Line 

indicates the minimum of working capital required each year to ensure liabilities due in the next 12 months can 

always be covered.  The green line indicates the low risk levels ensuring current assets cover current liabilities by 

1.25 times.  The blue area represents the budgeted working capital over the next 10 years.  
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2 Council Debt 

 

The maximum level of Council debt has been set to be below 60% of the current years rate revenue.  This 

represents a low risk level. 

 

 
 

The red line represents the ceiling of debt available for Council to borrow, the blue area represents the level of 

debt budgeted to be borrowed. As is illustrated by the above table Council is significantly below the ceiling of 

available debt. 
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3 Debt Servicing Costs 

This indicator is a further control over the level of debt that Council may borrow.  This indicator is set that the annual 

servicing costs of Council debt must not exceed 5% of total revenue excluding capital income.  The red line in the 

graph below is the ceiling level of debt servicing costs whilst the blue area represents the budgeted servicing costs of 

Council for the next 10 years. 

This graph also indicates Councils borrowing levels are well below the ceiling level. 

 

 

4  
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5 Minimum Cash Levels 

Council has set an additional indicator which determines the level of funds that must be held at 30 June each 

financial year.  For the first 7 months of the financial year Council will expend significantly more funds than will be 

received.  The majority of funds come via rate revenue, the significant portion of which is received in February of 

each year.  Council has set the minimum level of cash required to ensure all services and projects can be delivered 

in this 7 month period without delays. 

 

The red line in the below graph indicates the minimum level of cash required each year.  The orange line 

represents the level of cash that should be made available to cover any future expenditure required in the case of 

any natural disasters as the municipality has experienced over the last few years.  The blue area represents the 

level of funds budgeted as at June 30 each year. 

 

 

  

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.1.4

120 of 185



8 
 

2.2 Strategic Actions 
Following a series of community engagement activities, Council has identified the following strategic actions that will 
support the aspirations of the Council Plan. 
 
The strategic priorities are included to the 10-year financial plan and, where appropriate, referenced in the 
commentary associated with the 10-year Comprehensive Income Statement and the 10-year Statement of Capital 
Works. 
 

 

 

 

Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

A. Promote inclusivity and accessibility for all life stages by creating welcoming spaces 
and supporting diverse social, cultural, and recreational activities. 

B. Improve community safety and wellbeing through accessible health services, active 
lifestyles, mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure a high standard 
of safety and amenity. 

C. Enable responsible development and population growth through strategic planning, 
affordable housing, and community-driven township planning that reflects local 
identity. 

D. Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 
and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services. 

 

Pillar 2: Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy 

A. Support the growth and diversification of new and existing businesses, with a focus on 
key sectors, innovation, and attracting investment. 

B. Deliver coordinated and facilitated planning and economic development outcomes to 
support community aspirations and foster business and tourism growth. 

C. Promote and support community events and the visitor economy to celebrate local 
culture, promote tourism, and stimulate the local economy. 

D. Advocate for improved transport infrastructure, support job creation, and invest in 
workforce development to enhance connectivity and economic opportunities. 

 

Pillar 3: Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment 

A. Preserve and manage biodiversity and natural assets for long-term community benefit 
and environmental sustainability. 

B. Mitigate risks, build community resilience, and enhance responsiveness to natural 
disasters through proactive planning and collaboration. 

C. Support local industries and communities in adapting to climate change through 
sustainable practices and strategic adaptation efforts. 

D. Promote responsible waste practices by reducing landfill, improving resource 
recovery, and advocating for accessible, efficient, and rural-appropriate waste 
services. 
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Pillar 4: Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs 

A. Plan, build, and maintain essential infrastructure – including water, waste, sewerage, 
roads, bridges, and community assets – to support liveability, resilience, and growth. 

B. Eliminate communication blackspots and ensure all communities have reliable access 
to mobile, internet, and emergency services through strong advocacy and investment. 

C. Support the local community to facilitate appropriate land use planning outcomes. 

D. Advocate for fair renewable energy development, access to critical water supplies, 
and effective maintenance of natural and built assets to reduce impacts on 
communities and the environment. 

 

Pillar 5: Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery 

A. Foster a values-driven, inclusive culture where residents and community needs are 
central to all decision-making.  Empower leadership at all levels to be responsive, 
accountable, and aligned with Council and community priorities. 

B. Work constructively and in partnership with individuals and communities to anticipate 
needs, solve issues early, and deliver outcomes that build trust and resilience. 

C. Ensure timely, clear, and consistent communication and build strong community 
relationships, underpinned by transparency and meaningful engagement. 

D. Deliver high quality services and maintain public spaces efficiently, applying a strategic 
lens to all projects, and continuously improving systems and resource allocation. 
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2.3 Assumptions to the financial plan statements 
This section presents information regarding the assumptions to the Comprehensive Income Statement for the 10 years from 2022/23 to 2031/32. The assumptions 
comprise the annual escalations, movement for each line item of the Comprehensive Income Statement. 
 

 

 

Escalation Factors                              % movement 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10

CPI 2.75% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Rate Cap 3.00% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Capital Growth 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Growth 0.10% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50% 0.50%

Income:

Rates and charges 3.00% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Statutory fees and fines 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

User fees 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Grants - Operating 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Grants - Capital

Contributions - monetary

Contributions - non-monetary

Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment

Other income 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Increase in grant funding 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Linked to identified projects

Escalation Factors - Long Term Financial Plan
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Escalation Factors                              % movement 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10

Expenditure:

Employee costs 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%

Band Increase 1.00% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%

Employee costs + Adjustment ($83)

Materials and services 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Depreciation & Amortisation 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Doubtful Debts 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Other expenses 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

New operting initiatives ($230)

Capital:

Capital Expenses 3.00% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

New Capital                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -   

Borrowings: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

New Borrowings 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rate Debt Growth 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Escalation Factors - Long Term Financial Plan
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Escalation Factors                              % movement 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10

Expenditure:

Employee costs 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75%

Band Increase 1.00% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%

Employee costs + Adjustment ($83)

Materials and services 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Depreciation & Amortisation 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

Doubtful Debts 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Other expenses 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

New operting initiatives ($230)

Capital:

Capital Expenses 3.00% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% 2.50%

New Capital                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -   

Borrowings: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

New Borrowings 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Rate Debt Growth 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00% 1.00%

Escalation Factors - Long Term Financial Plan
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3. Financial Plan Statements 
This section presents information regarding the Financial Plan Statements for the 10 years 2024/25 to 2033/34. 

• Comprehensive Income Statement 

• Balance Sheet 

• Statement of Changes in Equity 

• Statement of Cash Flows 

• Statement of Capital Works 

• Statement of Human Resources 
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3.1 Comprehensive Income Statement 
 

 

  

 Forecast / 

Actual 

 2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Income / Revenue

Rates and charges 14,045          14,566          15,003          15,453          15,917          16,395          16,887          17,394          17,916          18,453          19,007          

Statutory fees and fines 280                296                303                311                319                327                335                343                352                361                370                

User fees 736                903                926                949                973                997                1,022            1,048            1,074            1,101            1,129            

Grants - Operating 7,942            8,202            8,407            8,617            8,832            9,053            9,279            9,511            9,749            9,993            10,243          

Grants - Capital 4,080            5,038            2,455            2,455            2,516            2,579            2,644            2,710            2,778            2,847            2,918            

Contributions - monetary 34                  34                  -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, 

plant and equipment -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Other income 938                469                481                493                505                518                531                544                558                572                586                

Total income / revenue 28,055          29,509          27,575          28,278          29,062          29,869          30,698          31,550          32,427          33,327          34,253          

Expenses

Employee costs 10,124          10,356          10,658          11,057          11,472          11,902          12,349          12,812          13,292          13,791          14,308          

Materials and services 9,080            9,848            9,859            10,105          10,358          10,617          10,882          11,154          11,433          11,719          12,012          

Depreciation 6,202            6,357            6,516            6,679            6,846            7,017            7,193            7,373            7,557            7,746            7,940            

Depreciation - right of use assets 9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    

Allowance for impairment losses 11                  10                  10                  10                  10                  10                  11                  11                  11                  11                  11                  

Borrowing costs 68                  122                156                137                122                108                93                  77                  60                  43                  27                  

Finance Costs - leases 11                  9                    9                    9                    1                    -                -                -                -                -                -                

Other expenses 309                302                309                317                325                333                341                350                359                368                377                

Total expenses 25,814          27,013          27,526          28,323          29,144          29,997          30,877          31,785          32,721          33,686          34,683          

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 2,241 2,496 49 (45) (81) (128) (179) (235) (294) (359) (430)

Other comprehensive income

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss) -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Total comprehensive result 2,241 2,496 49 (45) (81) (128) (179) (235) (294) (359) (430)
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3.2 Balance Sheet 
 Forecast / 

Actual 

 2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents              8,005              8,079              8,223              8,375              8,535              8,649              8,708              8,707              8,646              8,516              8,538 

Trade and other receivables              2,435              2,581              2,731              2,886              3,045              3,209              3,378              3,552              3,731              3,916              4,106 

Inventories                    14                    14                    14                    14                    14                    14                    14                    14                    14                    14                    14 

Prepayments                  207                  207                  207                  207                  207                  207                  207                  207                  207                  207                  207 

Other assets                    43                    43                    43                    43                    43                    43                    43                    43                    43                    43                    43 

Total current assets            10,704            10,924            11,218            11,525            11,844            12,122            12,350            12,523            12,641            12,696            12,908 

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables                      8                      8                      8                      8                      8                      8                      8                      8                      8                      8                      8 

Property, infrastructure, plant & equipment          291,453          294,475          293,890          293,291          292,676          292,045          291,400          290,739          290,061          289,367          288,558 

Right-of-use assets                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total non-current assets          291,461          294,483          293,898          293,299          292,684          292,053          291,408          290,747          290,069          289,375          288,566 

Total assets          302,165          305,408          305,117          304,824          304,528          304,175          303,757          303,270          302,710          302,071          301,474 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables              2,436              2,436              2,436              2,436              2,436              2,436              2,436              2,436              2,436              2,436              2,436 

Trust funds and deposits              1,171              1,171              1,171              1,171              1,171              1,171              1,171              1,171              1,171              1,171              1,171 

Provisions              2,329              2,393              2,459              2,527              2,596              2,667              2,740              2,815              2,892              2,972              3,054 

Interest-bearing liabilities                  314                  404                  311                  288                  302                  317                  333                  350                  367                  256                  215 

Lease liabilities                      9                      9                    10                      2                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total current liabilities              6,259              6,413              6,387              6,424              6,505              6,591              6,680              6,772              6,866              6,835              6,876 

Non-current liabilities

Provisions                  200                  206                  212                  218                  224                  230                  236                  242                  249                  256                  263 

Interest-bearing liabilities              2,221              2,818              2,506              2,219              1,916              1,599              1,266                  916                  548                  292                    78 

Lease liabilities                    21                    12                      2                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total non-current liabilities              2,442              3,036              2,720              2,437              2,140              1,829              1,502              1,158                  797                  548                  341 

Total liabilities              8,701              9,448              9,108              8,860              8,646              8,420              8,182              7,930              7,664              7,383              7,216 

Net assets          293,464          295,960          296,009          295,964          295,882          295,755          295,575          295,340          295,046          294,687          294,258 

Equity

Accumulated surplus          102,187          104,683          104,732          104,687          104,605          104,478          104,298          104,063          103,769          103,410          102,981 

Reserves          191,277          191,277          191,277          191,277          191,277          191,277          191,277          191,277          191,277          191,277          191,277 

Total equity          293,464          295,960          296,009          295,964          295,882          295,755          295,575          295,340          295,046          294,687          294,258 
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3.3 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

 

  

 Total 

 

Accumulate

d Surplus 

 Revaluation 

Reserve 

 Other 

Reserves 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

2025 Forecast Actual

Balance at beginning of the financial year          291,223            99,946          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year              2,241              2,241                     -                       -   

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to/from other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Balance at end of the financial year          293,464          102,187          191,268                      9 

2026

Balance at beginning of the financial year          293,464          102,187          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year              2,496              2,496  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to/from other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Transfers from other reserves  -                     -    -                     -   

Balance at end of the financial year          295,960          104,683          191,268                      9 

2027

Balance at beginning of the financial year          295,960          104,683          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year                    49                    49  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to/from other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Balance at end of the financial year          296,009          104,732          191,268                      9 

2028

Balance at beginning of the financial year          296,009          104,732          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year -                 45 -                 45  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to/from other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Balance at end of the financial year          295,964          104,687          191,268                      9 

2029

Balance at beginning of the financial year          295,964          104,687          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year -                 81 -                 81  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to/from other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Balance at end of the financial year          295,882          104,605          191,268                      9 

2030

Balance at beginning of the financial year          295,882          104,605          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year -               128 -               128  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to/from other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Balance at end of the financial year          295,755          104,478          191,268                      9 

2031

Balance at beginning of the financial year          295,755          104,478          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year -               179 -               179  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to/from other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Balance at end of the financial year          295,575          104,298          191,268                      9 
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Statement of Changes in Equity (cont.) 

 

 

 

 Total 

 

Accumulate

d Surplus 

 Revaluation 

Reserve 

 Other 

Reserves 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

2032

Balance at beginning of the financial year          295,575          104,298          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year -               235 -               235  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Transfers from other reserves  -                     -                       -                       -   

Balance at end of the financial year          295,340          104,063          191,268                      9 

2033

Balance at beginning of the financial year          295,340          104,063          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year -               294 -               294  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Transfers from other reserves  -                     -                       -                       -   

Balance at end of the financial year          295,046          103,769          191,268                      9 

2034

Balance at beginning of the financial year          295,046          103,769          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year -               359 -               359  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Transfers from other reserves  -                     -                       -                       -   

Balance at end of the financial year          294,687          103,410          191,268                      9 

2035

Balance at beginning of the financial year          294,687          103,410          191,268                      9 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year -               430 -               430  -  - 

Net asset revaluation gain / (loss)                     -    -                     -    - 

Transfers to other reserves                     -                       -    -                     -   

Transfers from other reserves  -                     -                       -                       -   

Balance at end of the financial year          294,258          102,981          191,268                      9 
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3.4 Statement of Cash Flows 

  

 2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

 Inflows  Inflows  Inflows  Inflows  Inflows  Inflows  Inflows  Inflows  Inflows  Inflows  Inflows 

 (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows)  (Outflows) 

Cash flows from operating activities

Rates and service charges 14,033 14,420 14,853 15,298 15,758 16,231 16,718 17,220 17,737 18,268 18,817

Statutory fees and fines 269 296 303 311 319 327 335 343 352 361 370

User charges 736 893 916 939 963 987 1,011 1,037 1,063 1,090 1,118

Grants - operating 7,942 8,202 8,407 8,617 8,832 9,053 9,279 9,511 9,749 9,993 10,243

Grants - capital 4,080 5,038 2,455 2,455 2,516 2,579 2,644 2,710 2,778 2,847 2,918

Contributions - cash 34 34 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest on cash invested 450 400 0 0 0 (1) (240) 0 6,891 0 0

Trust funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other receipts 488 69 481 493 505 519 771 544 (6,333) 572 586

Net GST 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee costs (10,047) (10,286) (10,586) (10,983) (11,396) (11,824) (12,269) (12,730) (13,207) (13,704) (14,219)

Materials and services (9,082) (9,848) (9,859) (10,105) (10,358) (10,617) (10,882) (11,154) (11,433) (11,719) (12,012)

Other payments (309) (302) (309) (317) (325) (333) (341) (350) (359) (368) (377)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 8,594 8,917 6,661 6,707 6,815 6,921 7,026 7,132 7,238 7,341 7,445

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and 

equipment (11,071) (9,708) (6,265) (6,422) (6,582) (6,747) (6,916) (7,088) (7,266) (7,447) (7,525)

Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant 

and equipment 309 319 325 333 341 350 358 367 377 386 386

Net cash provided by/ (used in) investing activities (10,762) (9,389) (5,940) (6,089) (6,241) (6,397) (6,558) (6,721) (6,890) (7,061) (7,139)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Finance costs (68) (122) (156) (137) (122) (108) (93) (77) (60) (43) (27)

Proceeds from borrowings 1,300 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Repayment of borrowings (239) (314) (404) (311) (288) (302) (317) (333) (350) (367) (256)

Repayment of lease liability (11) (9) (9) (10) (2) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest paid - lease liability (11) (9) (9) (9) (1) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 971 546 (578) (467) (413) (410) (410) (410) (410) (410) (283)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & cash equivalents (1,197) 74 144 152 160 114 59 1 (62) (130) 23

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 

financial year 9,202 8,005 8,079 8,223 8,374 8,534 8,648 8,707 8,708 8,646 8,516

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 

year 8,005 8,079 8,223 8,374 8,534 8,648 8,707 8,708 8,646 8,516 8,539

 Forecast / 

Actual 
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3.5 Statement of Capital Works 
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 2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Property

Land                  650                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Land Improvements                     -   

Total land                  650                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Buildings

Buildings                     -                2,472                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Building Improvements              1,633                  195                  200                  205                  210                  216                  221                  227                  232                  238                  238 

Total buildings              1,633              2,667                  200                  205                  210                  216                  221                  227                  232                  238                  238 

Total property              2,283              2,667                  200                  205                  210                  216                  221                  227                  232                  238                  238 

Plant and equipment

Plant, machinery and equipment              1,223                  787                  806                  826                  847                  868                  890                  912                  935                  958                  958 

Fixtures, fittings and furniture                    40                    21                    22                    22                    23                    23                    24                    25                    25                    26                    26 

Computers and telecommunications                  502                  164                  168                  172                  176                  181                  185                  190                  195                  199                  199 

Library books                    26                    26                    27                    28                    29                    29                    30                    31                    31                    32                    32 

Total plant and equipment              1,791                  998              1,023              1,048              1,075              1,101              1,129              1,158              1,186              1,215              1,215 

Infrastructure

Roads              3,773              4,107              4,210              4,317              4,423              4,535              4,647              4,763              4,883              5,004              5,082 

Bridges              1,080                  433                  444                  455                  466                  478                  490                  502                  515                  528                  528 

Footpaths and cycleways                  228                    31                    32                    32                    33                    34                    35                    36                    37                    38                    38 

Drainage                  612                  205                  210                  215                  221                  226                  232                  237                  243                  250                  250 

Waste management                    26                    53                    54                    56                    57                    58                    60                    61                    63                    64                    64 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities                  738                  214                    92                    94                    97                    99                  102                  104                  107                  110                  110 

Other infrastructure                  540              1,000                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total infrastructure              6,997              6,043              5,042              5,169              5,297              5,430              5,566              5,703              5,848              5,994              6,072 

Total capital works expenditure            11,071              9,708              6,265              6,422              6,582              6,747              6,916              7,088              7,266              7,447              7,525 

Represented by:

New asset expenditure              3,120              4,462                  887                  910                  932                  956                  980              1,004              1,029              1,055              1,055 

Asset renewal expenditure              5,669              5,246              5,378              5,512              5,650              5,791              5,936              6,084              6,114              6,267              6,345 

Asset expansion expenditure                  455                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Asset upgrade expenditure              1,827                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total capital works expenditure            11,071              9,708              6,265              6,422              6,582              6,747              6,916              7,088              7,143              7,322              7,400 

Funding sources represented by:

Grants              4,080              5,038              2,455              2,455              2,516              2,579              2,644              2,710              2,778              2,847              2,918 

Contributions                    34                    34                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Council cash              5,657              3,636              3,810              3,967              4,066              4,168              4,272              4,378              4,488              4,600              4,607 

Borrowings              1,300              1,000                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

 Forecast / 

Actual 
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3.6 Statement of Human Resources 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Staff expenditure  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Staff expenditure

Employee costs - operating            10,124            10,356            10,658            11,057            11,472            11,902            12,349            12,812            13,292            13,791            14,308 

Employee costs - capital                  395                  405                  416                  428                  439                  451                  464                  477                  490                  503                  507 

Total staff expenditure            10,519            10,761            11,074            11,485            11,911            12,354            12,812            13,288            13,782            14,294            14,815 

Staff numbers  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE 

Staff numbers

Employees              90.40              92.95              93.04              93.14              93.23              93.32              93.42              93.51              93.60              93.70              93.79 

Total              90.40              92.95              93.04              93.14              93.23              93.32              93.42              93.51              93.60              93.70              93.79 

 Budget 

Department  2025/26  Full Time  Part Time  Casual  Temporary 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Corporate & Community Services 3,038            2,037            987                14                  -                

CEO & Council 999                761                175                63                  -                

Assets & Development Services 3,823            3,683            120                20                  -                

Ttoal permanent staff expenditure 7,860            6,481            1,282            97                  -                

Other employee related expenditure 2,496            

Capitalised labour costs 405                

Total staff expenditure 10,761          

 Permanent 

 Comprises 
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 Budget 

Department  2025/26  Full Time  Part Time  Casual  Temporary 

 FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE 

Corporate & Community Services 34.46            22.00            12.27            0.19              -                

CEO & Council 10.23            7.00              2.23              1.00              -                

Assets & Development Services 48.26            46.00            1.91              0.35              -                

Total staff 92.95            75.00            16.42            1.54              -                

 Comprises 

 Permanent 
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3.7 Planned Human Resource Expenditure 

 

Staff $  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Corporate & Community Services
Permanent full time 

Male              1,142              1,600              1,600              1,600              1,600              1,600              1,600              1,600              1,600              1,600 

Female                  895              1,254              1,254              1,254              1,254              1,254              1,254              1,254              1,254              1,254 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Permanent part time

Male                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Female                  987              1,383              1,383              1,383              1,383              1,383              1,383              1,383              1,383              1,383 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total              3,024              4,237              4,237              4,237              4,237              4,237              4,237              4,237              4,237              4,237 

CEO & Council
Permanent full time 

Male                  434                  608                  608                  608                  608                  608                  608                  608                  608                  608 

Female                  328                  460                  460                  460                  460                  460                  460                  460                  460                  460 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Permanent part time

Male                    32                    45                    45                    45                    45                    45                    45                    45                    45                    45 

Female                  142                  199                  199                  199                  199                  199                  199                  199                  199                  199 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total                  936              1,312              1,312              1,312              1,312              1,312              1,312              1,312              1,312              1,312 

Assets & Development Services
Permanent full time 

Male              2,880              4,036              4,036              4,036              4,036              4,036              4,036              4,036              4,036              4,036 

Female                  718              1,006              1,006              1,006              1,006              1,006              1,006              1,006              1,006              1,006 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Permanent part time

Male                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Female                  120                  168                  168                  168                  168                  168                  168                  168                  168                  168 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total              3,718              5,210              5,210              5,210              5,210              5,210              5,210              5,210              5,210              5,210 

Casual, temporary and other expenditure 2,841            2                    315                726                1,152            1,595            2,053            2,529            3,023            3,535            

Total staff expenditure 10,519          10,761          11,074          11,485          11,911          12,354          12,812          13,288          13,782          14,294          
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Staff numbers  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE  FTE 

Corporate & Community Services
Permanent full time 

Male              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00 

Female              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00              11.00 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Permanent part time

Male                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Female              12.27              12.27              12.27              12.27              12.27              12.27              12.27              12.27              12.27              12.27 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total              34.27              34.27              34.27              34.27              34.27              34.27              34.27              34.27              34.27              34.27 

CEO & Council
Permanent full time 

Male                3.00                3.00                3.00                3.00                3.00                3.00                3.00                3.00                3.00                3.00 

Female                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00                4.00 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Permanent part time

Male                0.42                0.42                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Female                1.81                1.81                1.81                1.81                1.81                1.81                1.81                1.81                1.81                1.81 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total                9.23                9.23                8.81                8.81                8.81                8.81                8.81                8.81                8.81                8.81 

Assets & Development Services
Permanent full time 

Male              36.00              36.00              36.00              36.00              36.00              36.00              36.00              36.00              36.00              36.00 

Female              10.00              10.00              10.00              10.00              10.00              10.00              10.00              10.00              10.00              10.00 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Permanent part time

Male                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Female                1.91                1.91                1.91                1.91                1.91                1.91                1.91                1.91                1.91                1.91 

Self-described gender                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Total              47.91              47.91              47.91              47.91              47.91              47.91              47.91              47.91              47.91              47.91 

Casual, temporary 1.54              1.63              2.14              2.23              2.33              2.42              2.51              2.61              2.70              2.80              

Total staff numbers 92.95            93.04            93.14            93.23            93.32            93.42            93.51            93.60            93.70            93.79            
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4. Financial Performance Indicators 
The following table highlights Council’s projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators provide an analysis of Council’s 
10-year financial projections and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives and financial management principles. 
 

 

 

Financial Performance Indicators
Forecast 

Actual
Budget Trend

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 +/o/-

Operating position

Adjusted underlying result

(an adjusted underlying surplus is generated 

in the ordinary course of business)

Adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)

Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / Adjusted underlying 

revenue

2.4% 8.3% 0.2% -0.2% -0.3% -0.4% -0.6% -0.7% -0.9% -1.1% -1.2% -

Liquidity
Working Capital

(sufficient working capital is available to pay 

bills as and when they fall due)

Current assets compared to current liabilities

Current assets / current liabilities
171.0% 170.4% 175.6% 179.4% 182.1% 183.9% 184.9% 184.9% 184.1% 185.7% 187.7% +

Unrestricted cash

(sufficient cash that is free of restrictions is 

available to pay bills as and when they fall 

due)

Unrestricted cash compared to current liabilities

Unrestricted cash / current liabilities
109.0% 107.6% 110.3% 112.0% 113.1% 113.3% 112.7% 111.2% 108.7% 107.3% 107.0% -

Obligations

Loans and borrowings

(level of interest bearing loans and 

borrowings is appropriate to the size and 

nature of Council's activities)

Loans and borrowings compared to rates

Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue
18.2% 22.1% 18.8% 16.2% 13.9% 11.7% 9.5% 7.3% 5.1% 3.0% 1.5% -

Loans and borrowings

(level of interest bearing loans and 

borrowings is appropriate to the size and 

nature of Council's activities)

Loans and borrowings repayments compared to rates

Interest and principal repayments on interest bearing loans 

and borrowings / rate revenue
2.2% 2.3% 3.1% 3.5% 2.7% 2.4% 2.3% 2.3% 2.2% 2.1% 2.1% -

Indebtedness

(level of long term liabilities is appropriate to 

the size and nature of a Council's activities)

Non-current liabilities compared to own-source revenue

Non-current liabilities / own source revenue
16.6% 18.3% 16.0% 13.9% 11.9% 9.8% 7.8% 5.9% 3.9% 2.6% 1.6% -

Asset renewal

(assets are renewed as planned) Asset renewal compared to depreciation

Asset renewal and upgrade expense / Asset depreciation
120.9% 82.5% 82.5% 82.5% 82.5% 82.5% 82.5% 82.5% 80.9% 80.9% 79.9% -

 Indicator Measure
Projections
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Financial Performance Indicators
Forecast 

Actual
Budget Trend

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 2031/32 2032/33 2033/34 2034/35 +/o/-

Stability
Rates concentration

(revenue is generated from a range of 

sources)

Rates compared to adjusted underlying revenue

Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue 52.5% 48.9% 53.8% 54.0% 54.1% 54.3% 54.4% 54.5% 54.6% 54.7% 54.9% -

Rates effort

(rating level is set based on the community's 

capacity to pay)

Rates compared to property values

Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in the municipality 0.29% 0.31% 0.32% 0.32% 0.32% 0.33% 0.33% 0.34% 0.34% 0.34% 0.35% +

Efficiency
Expenditure level

(resources are used efficiently in the delivery 

of services)

Expenses per property assessment

Total expenses/ no. of property assessments 4.19            4.31            4.31            4.36            4.41            4.45            4.51            4.56            4.61            4.66            4.71            +

Revenue level

(resources are used efficiently in the delivery 

of services)

Average rate per property assessment

General rates and municipal charges / no. of property 

assessments

2.25            2.29            2.32            2.35            2.38            2.41            2.44            2.46            2.49            2.52            2.55            +

Key to Forecast Trend:

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

 - Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

 Indicator Measure
Projections
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5. Strategies and Plans 
5.1.1 Current Debt Position 

The total amount borrowed as at 30 June 2025 is $0 million. 

5.1.2 Future Borrowing Requirements 

The following table highlights Council’s projected loan balance, including new loan repayments for the 10 years of the Financial Plan. 

 

 

 

5.3.1 Performance Indicators 

Council maintains its loan borrowing within prudent and management limits as demonstrated by the above performance indicators.  In each case Council is well within 

the target parameters. 

  

 Forecast / 

Actual 

 2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Opening Balance 1,443            2,536            3,222            2,818            2,507            2,219            1,917            1,600            1,267            917                550                

Plus New Loans 1,300            1,000            -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                

Less Principal repayment 207                314                404                311                288                302                317                333                350                367                256                

Closing Balance 2,536            3,222            2,818            2,507            2,219            1,917            1,600            1,267            917                550                294                

Interest Payment 68                  122                156                137                122                108                93                  77                  60                  43                  27                  

 Forecast / 

Actual 

Target  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 %  %  %  %  %  %  %  %  %  %  % 

Total borrowings / Rate revenue Below 60% 18% 22% 19% 16% 14% 12% 9% 7% 5% 3% 2%

Debt servicing / Rate revenue Below 5% 0% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Debt commitment / Rate revenue Below 10% 18% 22% 19% 16% 14% 12% 9% 7% 5% 3% 2%

Indebtedness / Own source revenue Below 60% 15% 18% 16% 14% 12% 10% 8% 6% 4% 3% 2%
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5.2 Reserves 
5.2.1 Current Reserves 

Recreational Land Reserve 

The recreational land reserve holds funds contributed by developers for works associated with developing and improved public open space and recreational facilities 
within Council.  Funds are contributed in accordance with Section 18 of the Subdivision Act and transfers are restricted to the purpose of creating open space such as 
parks, playgrounds, pavilions and other such items where it is deemed that these works should occur at a later point than the initial development.  Movements - 
transfers to the reserve (inflows) comprise contribution income from subdividers in lieu of the 5.0% Public Open Space requirement.  Transfers from the reserve 
(outflows) are applied to fund Open Space capital projects on an annual basis. 
 

 

 Forecast / 

Actual 

Restricted  2024/25  2025/26  2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30  2030/31  2031/32  2032/33  2033/34  2034/35 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Opening Balance 9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                  

Transfer to reserve -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -              

Transfer from reserve -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -              

Closing balance 9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                    9                  
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Community Vision 2035 
 
Our Vision is for inclusive, happy and healthy connected 
communities that create sustainable and welcoming townships, 
natural environments and rural areas.  
 
We attract diversity through promoting innovation, growth and 
partnerships, while addressing climate and community needs 
such as reliable and responsive infrastructure, affordable 
services and housing whilst protecting our natural environments. 
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Acknowledgement of Traditional Custodians 

Pyrenees Shire acknowledge the Traditional Owners past and present of the Wadawurung, 
Dja Dja Wurrung, Eastern Maar, and Wotjobaluk nations as traditional custodians of the land 
which forms the Pyrenees Shire. We recognise that sovereignty over the land has never 
been ceded, and pay our respects to Elders past and present. We are committed to 
honouring the customs, traditions and stewardship of the land by the elders and people of 
these nations and acknowledge their continuous connection and contribution to our land, 
water and community. 

 

Pyrenees Shire Council commitment to child safety  

Pyrenees Shire Council is committed to being a Child Safe Organisation and has a zero-
tolerance position to abuse or harm to children, young people, or any other person.  

Council is committed to creating a culturally safe environment where children feel safe, are 
empowered, valued, and protected – where all children have a voice and are listened to, 
their views respected, and provided with opportunities to contribute to the planning, design, 
and development of our services and activities that might impact them.  

 

Intersectionality and Gender Equality 

Council is committed to working within an intersectional approach, particularly through 
understanding characteristics that may result in a form of discrimination. We acknowledge 
that individuals often experience multiple forms of discrimination simultaneously, for example 
due to their gender, sexual orientation, age, disability status or ethnicity.  

Council will continuously be focussed on how people experience any form of discrimination, 
through listening to communities that may be facing marginalisation.  

We will deliver our programs and activities to be inclusive, which address discriminatory 
practices. This includes embedding not only gender equity, but other intersectionality 
impacts into our strategies and planning processes.  

 

CoRE Alliance  

Pyrenees Shire Council is a member of the CoRE (Communities of Respect and Equality) 
Alliance and supports a framework to prevent violence against women and their children. 

CoRE asserts that our communities can be better places to live if we act together to promote 
positive change, where gender inequality and violence against women becomes an issue of 
the past.  
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Our Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2025-2029 

Welcome to Pyrenees Shire Council’s Municipal Health & Wellbeing Plan 2025-2029, which 
outlines our priorities and objectives to improve community health and wellbeing.  

It focuses on six key goals: 

1. Increasing Healthier Eating 

2. Increasing Active Living 

3. Creating a Safer Community 

4. Connecting our Community & Supporting Mental Wellbeing 

5. Supporting our Population Through All Stages of Life  

6. Being a Climate Resilient Community 

Aligned with the World Health Organization's definition of health as "a state of complete 
physical, mental and social well-being," this plan recognizes that health is shaped by our 
daily environments: where we live, learn, work, and play. 

Council plays a crucial role in creating healthy environments through: 

• Service and facility provision 

• Public open space management 

• Local law and policy development 

• Leadership and advocacy 

Under the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 (Act), councils are required to prepare a 
Municipal Public Health and Wellbeing Plan (MHWP) every four years, within twelve months 
after each general election of Council.  

This four-year plan aligns with both Council's strategic objectives and the Victorian Public 
Health and Wellbeing Plan 2023–2027 (see Figure One and Table One). It adopts a ‘health 
in every policy’ approach, influencing other Council plans and strategies.  
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Figure One –Strategic Policy Framework  
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Table One: Top 10 Health and Wellbeing priorities – 2023 – 2027 Victorian Public Health and 
Wellbeing Plan  
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Tackling climate change 
and its impact on health  

    
 

 

Reducing injury      
 

 

Preventing all forms of 
violence 

    
 

 

Increasing healthy eating      
 

 

Decreasing antimicrobial 
resistance across human 
and animal health 

 
 

  
 

 

Increasing active living        

Improving wellbeing       

Improving sexual and 
reproductive health 

      

Reducing harm from 
tobacco and e-cigarette 
use 

      

Reducing harm from 
alcohol and drug use 

    
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Our Places  

Pyrenees Shire is located in the Central West of Victoria, approximately 130 kilometres 
Northwest of Melbourne. There are over 50 unique localities across the 3,435 square kms of 
the municipality. 

The Pyrenees Shire is situated across traditional custodian areas of the Wadawurrung, Dja 
Dja Wurrung, Eastern Maar, and the Wotjobaluk Aboriginal peoples. Our municipality is 
spanned between the regional centres of Ballarat and Ararat. 

Pyrenees towns and settlements are diverse and distinct, abundant with unique sense of 
place. Just over 50% of our population live within one of our 9 main towns or localities, with 
the remainder of the population living in rural locations.  

Our geographically dispersed population means that smaller townships and settlements are 
important hubs for community activities, economic development and social interaction.  

The landscape of the Pyrenees Shire varies from the very steep hill areas of the Mt. Cole, 
Mt. Buangor, and Pyrenees Ranges to the undulating flat open terrain around the Natte 
Yallock, Stoneleigh and Streatham areas.  

The climate varies between the north and the south of the region. North of the Pyrenees 
Ranges there is a warmer, drier climate, with rainfall of about 650mm a year. South of the 
Pyrenees Ranges is a cooler, wetter climate with rainfall more than 750mm per year. 

Our rustic rural landscapes support grazing, timber and forestry, wineries and an abundance 
of natural resources, windfarms, and renewable energy.  

While we have a small population, Pyrenees Shire is custodian of an extensive range of 
community assets that it provides to facilitate delivery of services to the community.  

  
(Insert Shire Map) 
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Our Community  
(To be presented as an infographic in final version – as at 2021 Census).  
 

Our Population 

• Total Population 7,671 - Male 52.1% / Female 47.9% 1 

• Population Change (2016 to 2021) - Increase 6% (431 persons) 1  

• On average 56 babies are born in Pyrenees each year (previous 5 years) 1 

Our people 

• Our Median Age is 50 years, higher than Victoria at 38 years 1 

• Youngest locality - Carngham  (44 yrs) | Oldest locality - Moonambel (63 yrs) 1 

• Babies, children, and young people make up nearly a quarter of our population1 

• We are ageing, with the largest growth in the 70-74 age group, (+22% since 2016) 1 

 

Our diverse community 

• 82% of residents were born in Australia. 1 

• 1.9% (or 144) of the population identify as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander. 1 

• 3.8% (291) of adults identify as being LGBTIQA+. 1  

• 28.6% of residents are living with a disability 5 (Vic ave. 17%). 

• 14% of the population, provide unpaid assistance to someone with a disability, health condition or 
due to limitations with ageing. 5 

Our Learning community 

• At the time of the census there were over 1,000 residents actively participating in learning.1 

• 34.8% have completed year 12 or equivalent level of education.1              

• 55% of the population have completed further education. 

• 89% of young people (15 - 24) were engaged in full time education or employment.4 

Our Households  

• 66% (1,964) of households contain families.  

• Single lone households make up 32% (938) of all households.  

• More than half of homes are owned outright (51%) and 12% of our population rent. 

• With our rural outlook, 69% of households have 2 or more registered vehicles (Vic is 66% & 

Grampians Region is 70%). 1 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Early years (0 –
5) 

Primary age 
(6– 11) 

Young people 
(12 – 24) 

Key Worker 
age (25 – 49) 

Older workers 
(50 – 64)

Older adults
(65 - 79)

Elderly (80+)

Age Groups: Pyrenees vs Grampians Region

Grampians - % of Total Persons Pyrenees - % of Total Persons
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Our Wellbeing 

• 36% of the population reported having one or more long-term health conditions.  

• The most common long-term health conditions reported are Arthritis (13.5%), Asthma (9.9%) and 

Cancer (4.3% - including remission). 

• 11.7% of the population reported having a long-term mental health condition (including 

depression or anxiety). 

• 16.3% of our population participated in organised sport.5 

• Leading causes of death 2016 – 2020: 

Male % Female % 

Coronary heart disease  12% Dementia  12.5% 

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease  8% Coronary heart disease  7.7% 

Colorectal cancer  5% Cerebrovascular disease  6% 

Prostate Cancer  4.5% Lung Cancer  5.4% 

Land transport accidents  4.5% Chronic obstructive pulmonary 
disease  

4.8% 

 

• 2020 Pyrenees had 34 premature deaths, 21 (61%) of which were potentially avoidable with 

individualised care (preventative health checks) or through access to existing primary care or 

hospitalisation. 

• Pyrenees residents are more likely to report a ‘high’ or ‘very high’ satisfaction with life than the 

Victorian average.  

• Pyrenees has a socio-economic advantage and disadvantage index score (or SEIFA) of 959, 

which is ranked 63rd most disadvantaged local government area out of 79 in Victoria. 

Our local economy 

• Number of Businesses: 8961 

• Number of Jobs: 5,3731 

• 20% of the population had undertaken a volunteer role in the 12 months. 

• 48.2% (Vic 62.4%) of the population is engaged in the Labour Force.   

 

Data Source : 

1 Australian Bureau of Statistics, (2021), Region Summary: Pyrenees, https://dbr.abs.gov.au/region.html?lyr=lga&rgn=25990 
2 Victorian Population health survey, (2017), Victorian Population Health Survey | health.vic.gov.au 
3  Department of Health and Human Services 2018a, The contribution of risk factors to disease burden in Victoria, 2011: 
findings from the 2011 Australian Burden of Disease Study, State Government of Victoria, Melbourne, (2018), Tobacco-free 
living | health.vic.gov.au 
4 Social health Atlas of Australia: Victoria- local government areas of residence, published 2024(2024), Torrens University, 
https://phidu.torrens.edu.au/current/maps/sha-aust/lga-single-map/vic/atlas.html 
5 https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/disability/disability-ageing-and-carers-australia-summary-
findings/2018#:~:text=In%202018%20there%20were%204.4,years%20and%20over%20had%20disability. 
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A Plan to support Community Health and Wellbeing    

Our Health Plan is structured around six priorities: 

• PRIORITY 1 - Encouraging Healthier Eating: 
Our communities consume healthier diets with access to sufficient nutritious food and 
drink. 

• PRIORITY 2 - Increasing Active Living: 
A shire where people are leading healthy and physically active lifestyles. 

• PRIORITY 3 – Creating a Safer Community: 
A place where all residents feel safe, respected, proud and feel like they belong. 

• PRIORITY 4 – Connecting our Community and Supporting Mental Wellbeing: 
People throughout the shire are happy, fulfilled and engaged with their communities. 

• PRIORITY 5 - Supporting our Population through all stages of life: 
A place where everyone is supported to be confident in contributing to community life. 

• PRIORITY 6 – Being a Climate Resilient Community: 
A resilient community that supports each other, and the natural environment through 
climate challenges. 

This is a key strategic plan that guides Council planning, establishing visible goals, and 
focused prevention and intervention strategies for health and wellbeing.  

The Plan is presented within priority thematic areas that guide through the following: 

 

Priority The important themes that connect issues and opportunities to positively impact 
community health and wellbeing. 

Outcome 
Statements  

Expresses the future state on achievement of the priority’s committed individual 
goals and strategies. 

Wellbeing 
Statistics 

Provision of current available data to provide an indication of the state of 
Pyrenees Shire wellbeing against nominated priority areas. They are structured 
within a strength-based approach to highlight ‘where we are doing well’ and 
‘where there is opportunity for improvement’. 

Plan partners No sole function of Council, community or other level of government can achieve 
the outcomes of this Plan for Pyrenees community. It requires a whole of 
community approach delivered in collaboration with community, community 
services, organisations, and health providers. This value is further articulated at 
Table Three. 

Council Plan 
alignment 
identification 

The Plan functions within a larger prevention system that both complements 
and strengthens health and wellbeing objectives in the Council Plan & 
Community Vision – Shaping Pyrenees. 

Other relevant 
plan alignment 

Strategic documents, produced by council and other important stakeholders that 
inform, or are closely linked to the priority actions and goals. 

Priority Goals Statements that set directions to address underlying issues or take advantage 
of presenting opportunities. 

Strategies  Approaches that describe how Council and partners will implement Goals. The 
strategies connect to other ongoing services and priority projects, initiatives, and 
programs. 

Outcome 
indicators 

The data that is evaluated to monitor how well the Plan is progressing towards 
achieving its objectives. 
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PRIORITY 1 – Encouraging Healthier Eating 

Outcome:  Our communities consume healthier diets with access to 
sufficient nutritious food and drink 

Good nutrition is essential for health and wellbeing because it helps achieve and maintain a 
healthy weight, protects against chronic disease (including cardiovascular disease, type 2 
diabetes, dementia, and certain cancers), and supports a healthy immune system.  

Diets that are consistent with Australian Dietary Guidelines are beneficial for health and have 
a lower carbon footprint which supports our environment. This includes diets high in 
vegetables and fruit, and wholegrains, and low in highly processed discretionary foods. 
Nutritious diets also have clear benefits for good mental wellbeing across all ages and 
stages of life. 

Food insecurity is a continuing issue that has been worsened by the effects of the COVID-19 
pandemic and the rising cost of living. 

(Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2023-2027). 

 

What the Health Statistics indicate: 

Where we do well: 

• Council is a part of the Grampians Pyrenees Goldfields Food Alliance Network Group 
that collaborates to reduce food insecurity, supported locally by the Avoca Community 
Food Pantry and the Pyrenees Beaufort Food Pantry. 

 

Where there is opportunity for improvement: 

• Pyrenees is one of the largest consumers in Victoria of sugar-sweetened beverages, 
with 25.4% of adults consuming sugar-sweetened drinks daily (Victorian Average - 
10.1%). 1 

• 17.9% of adults consumed snack foods or takeaways more than once per week (Vic 

15.3%). 2 

• Of adults, only 5% met recommended vegetable and 36% fruit consumption guidelines. 

While this is in line with state averages, there is room to improve. 3 

• It is estimated that 35% of households were moderately or severely food insecure in 
2023. On average 77% these households experienced this insecurity for the first time in 

2023. 4 

• High rates of preventable chronic disease such as Type 2 diabetes, with 7.5% of males 

and 6.2% of females being National Diabetes Services Scheme Registrants (2019). 5 
 

Data Source: 

1 - 3 Victorian Population Health Survey 2017 and 2020, Department of Health, Victorian Public Health & 

Wellbeing Outcomes Framework Dashboard 
4 Ipsos | Foodbank Hunger Report Research 2023: National Key Findings Report 
5 Grampians - Pyrenees PCP Community Health and Wellbeing profile 2020 
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Key Partners:  

• Avoca Community Food Pantry  

• Ballarat Community Health  

• Beaufort & Skipton Health Service 

• Beaufort Food Pantry  

• Belgravia Leisure 

• Community Groups and Sporting clubs 

• Department of Health 

• Foodbank 

• Grampians Health 

• Grampians Pyrenees Food Alliance Network 

• First Nations Corporations and Cooperatives 

• Maryborough & District Health Service 

• Neighbouring Councils 

• Primary Schools 

• Sport Central  

• VicHealth  

 

  

GOALS STRATEGIES 
OUTCOME 
INDICATORS  

1.1 Supporting healthy 
diets with access to 
nutritious food and 
drink 

1.1.1 Promote the use of the Healthy Choices Food 
and Drinks Classification Guide in both Council 
and community facilities, events, and catering 
contracts – with a preference to food and drinks 
within the green classification. 

1.1.2 Support suitable training and education around 
healthy eating, including growing fruit and 
vegetables and cooking programs. 

1.1.3 Work with partner organisations to promote 
water consumption messages and investigate 
the installation of drinking water refill stations in 
key public spaces. 

1.1.4 Work with community groups and asset 
committees in reducing promotion of sugar-
sweetened beverages and layout of drink 
fridges, with preference to water.  

1.1.5 Support the regional Prevention and Population 
Health team working with local primary schools 
to increase healthy food options available. 

- Proportion of adults 
who meet fruit 
consumption 
guidelines. 

- Proportion of adults 
who meet vegetable 
consumption 
guidelines. 

- Prevalence rate of type 
2 diabetes in adults. 

- Proportion of 
population who 
consume sugar-
sweetened beverages 
daily. 

Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey. 

 

1.2 Increase rates of 
food security across 
the shire 

1.2.1 Provide support to the Beaufort and Avoca 
Food Pantries, and the Grampians Pyrenees 
Food Alliance Network to strengthen food relief 
supply channels.  

- Proportion of adults 
who ran out of food in 
the past 12 months and 
could not afford to buy 
more. 

- Proportion of adults 
who worried that they 
would run out of food. 

Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey. 

Estimated number of 
Pyrenees residents 
provided with food relief 
through the Food Alliance 
Network. 
Source: Food Alliance Network 
annual baseline data. 
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Council Plan Alignment  

• Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

B - Improve community wellbeing through accessible health services, active lifestyles, 

mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure safety and amenity. 

D - Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 

and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services. 

 

Other linked documents 

• Beaufort and Skipton Health Service Health Promotion Action Plan 

• Maryborough and District Health Service Health Promotion Action Plan 

• Economic Development Strategy 

• Environmental Sustainability Strategy 

• Grampians Region Population Health Plan 2023 - 2029 
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PRIORITY 2 – Increasing Active Living 

Outcome:  A shire where people are leading healthy and physically 
active lifestyles 

Regular physical activity is a well-known protective factor for preventing and managing 
chronic disease including cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, and certain cancers. 
Physical activity also plays an important role in improving the quality of life, managing, and 
decreasing pain, and promoting mental wellbeing.  

The benefits of active living extend beyond physical health. Regular physical activity 
(including active transport) improves mental health, helps to mitigate climate change, can 
reduce risk of injury, and improve reproductive health.  

(Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2023-2027) 

Council is aware that some groups may experience inequitable barriers to physical activity, 
such as women and girls, older adults, people with a disability and those experiencing social 
and economic disadvantage. We will continue to partner with our community to support 
opportunities for all to be sufficiently physically active.  

 

What the Health Statistics indicate: 

Where we do well: 

• 16.3% of our population participated in organised sport in 2021, which is a marked 
recovery post the pandemic affected rate of 9.05% in 2020. 1 

• 20.6% of adults identified as sitting for 7 or more hours on an average weekday, this is 
less than the Victorian average of 26.5%. 2  

 

Where there is opportunity for improvement: 

• Less than half our population (40.2% of adults) were identified as being sufficiently 
physically active. 3 

• There is a large portion of adult residents reporting overweight or obese (66.8%). 4 

• 2.2% of Pyrenees adults were classified as sedentary. 5 

 
Data Source : 

1 VicHealth – Sport Participation in Victoria 2021 Research Summary 

2-5 Victorian Population Health Survey 2017 and 2020, Department of Health, Victorian Public Health & 
Wellbeing Outcomes Framework Dashboard 
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GOALS STRATEGIES 
OUTCOME 
INDICATORS  

2.1 Increase levels of 
physical activity 
undertaken by 
Pyrenees Shire 
residents. 

 

2.1.1   Encourage and promote community 
participation in local assets, programs and 
events that encourage physical activity. 

2.1.2   Support our community to organise their own 
active participation programs, groups, and 
activities. 

2.1.3   Work with partner organisations to promote 
active living messages. 

2.1.4   Undertake review of Council’s Recreation 
Strategy with a focus on active participation. 

- Proportion of adults 
sitting for 8+ hours on 
an average weekday 

- Proportion of people 
who are physically 
active. 

- Proportion of people 
participating in 
organised sport. 

Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey 

2.2 Increase levels of 
physical activity 
undertaken by 
marginalised 
populations. 

2.2.1   Increase involvement in local sport through 
supporting clubs to provide an all age friendly, 
gender equitable, all abilities accessible and 
welcoming, inclusive, and healthy 
environments. 

2.2.2   Implement Council’s Fair Access policy & 
action plan to encourage female and gender 
diverse participation in sport and recreation. 

2.2.3   Support the local Prevention and Population 
Health team and Regional Sporting Assembly 
to improve inclusivity in sports clubs. 

Proportion of women and 
gender diverse people 
participating in sport. 

Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey 

2.3 Provide public spaces 
and infrastructure that 
encourages active 
living, which is safe 
and accessible by all. 

 

2.3.1   Practice a ‘place based’ activation approach to 
the planning, design, marketing, operation and 
maintenance of parks, reserves, and 
community hubs. 

2.3.2   Plan and deliver upgrades and maintenance 
of council owned recreational facilities 
including swimming pools, ovals, parks, and 
open spaces. 

2.3.3   Provide and promote active transport 
networks to encourage walking and cycling 
and use of public transport. 

2.3.4   Influence increased use of local parks, trails 
and destinations through community and 
visitor promotions, tree planting and support 
amenity such as outdoor seating. 

Proportion of people 
accessing local sporting 
facilities and participating in 
sporting clubs. 

Source: Council Sport Survey 
Data 
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Key Partners: 

• Beaufort & Skipton Health Service 

• Belgravia Leisure  

• Community Asset Committees 

• Community Event Managers  

• Community Sporting Clubs. 

• Reserve / Hall Management Groups  

• Department of Education 

• Department of Health  

• Department of Transport & Planning 

• Land Care and Environment Groups 

• Langi Kal Kal – Department of Justice  

• Maryborough & District Health Service 

• Neighbouring Councils  

• Parks Victoria  

• Pyrenees Arts Council  

• Schools Cluster Networks 

• Sport & Recreation Victoria 

• Sport Central  

• VicHealth  

• Women's Health Grampians  

 

Council Plan Alignment  

• Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

B - Improve community wellbeing through accessible health services, active lifestyles, 

mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure safety and amenity. 

D - Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 

and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services. 

• Pillar 2: Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy  

C - Promote and support community events and the visitor economy to celebrate local 

culture, boost tourism, and stimulate economic activity. 

• Pillar 4: Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs 

A - Plan, build, and maintain essential infrastructure – including water, waste, sewerage, 

roads, bridges, and community assets – to support liveability, resilience, and growth. 

 

Other linked documents 

• Beaufort and Skipton Health Service Health Promotion Action Plan 

• Maryborough and District Health Service Health Promotion Action Plan 

• Recreation Strategy 2017 - 2027 

• Fair Access Policy & Action Plan 

• 2023 -2032 Asset Management Plan 
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PRIORITY 3 – Creating a Safer Community   

Outcome: A place where all residents feel safe, respected, proud, and 
feel like they belong. 

People who experience violence are affected in all areas of their health and wellbeing, 
including poorer physical, sexual and reproductive health outcomes, reduced mental 
wellbeing and sometimes loss of life.  

Violence takes many forms including physical, emotional, psychological, financial and sexual 
violence. It also includes coercive control, intimate partner violence, elder abuse or actions 
that limit someone’s freedom and independence. 

Our local context sees that environmental events such as bushfires, droughts and floods are 
common. Family violence and violence against women increases during and after natural 
disasters. (Victorian Public and Wellbeing Plan 2023-2027) 

Council recognises a safe and respectful community is one where all people feel welcome, 
valued and proud.  We strive to be a community where all residents feel safe and 
empowered. Council will seek to support community awareness and practices that contribute 
to safer communities and roads.  

 

What the Health Statistics indicate: 

Where we do well: 

• Crime incidences (offences recorded and victim report) are less than the state average 
per capita. 1  

• 74% residents feel safe walking alone at night (Regional Vic 64%, Vic 56%) 2017. 2         

• There is a low number of reported people experiencing homelessness (<10) 3 

 

Where there is opportunity for improvement: 

• The number of family violence incidents has increased by 44.2% for the period 
December 2023 - December 2024. 4 

• The rate of family incidents per capita in the Shire is higher than the Victorian average. 5 

• 76.2% of the adult population consumed alcohol at a frequency and quantities that do 
not meet guidelines to reduce risk of lifetime alcohol related harm – 2017 (VIC 59.5%) 7 

• There were 22 reported road incidents, with 44 number of people injured in Pyrenees in 
2018. Of this number, 1 was a fatality, 9 experienced serious injury, 21 experienced 
other injuries, 13 not injured. 8 

• Of the 24 social housing dwellings in the shire, 18 are one bedroom accommodation, 
with most tenanted by elderly single occupants. 9 

Data Source: 

1, 4 Crime Statistics Agency, Explore crime by location [available at https://www.crimestatistics.vic.gov.au/ 

accessed 6 Jan 2025].  
2. 7 Victorian Population Health Survey 2017 and 2020, Department of Health, Victorian Public Health & 

Wellbeing Outcomes Framework Dashboard 
3 Housing Security Indicators, by Local Government Area – ABS 2023 
8  Vic Roads 2019, Crash Statistics [available at https://www.vicroads.vic.gov.au/ accessed 17 August 

2023].  
9 Homes Victoria - Housing Data as at 30/6/2023.  
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GOALS STRATEGIES 
OUTCOME 
INDICATORS  

3.1 All residents feel 
safe, included and 
are treated equally 
with respect and 
dignity, and are free 
from family violence. 

 

3.1.1   Partner with stakeholder organisations to 
provide support and promote programs that 
focus on respect, equality, and prevention of 
violence.  

3.1.2   Continue to support an organisational culture 
that promotes respect and violence prevention, 
and embraces Diversity, Equity & Inclusion. 

3.1.3   Engage in organisation-wide initiatives aimed 
at developing positive attitudes towards 
women, children, and any vulnerable 
community members, especially addressing the 
prevalence of family violence. 

Number of programs 
conducted in the Shire. 
Source: Council Data 

- Proportion of people 
who experienced 
discrimination. 

- Proportion of adults 
who did not believe that 
multiculturalism made 
life in their area better. 

- Proportion of adults 
who felt valued by 
society. 

Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey 

3.2 Provide social and 
physical 
environments that 
improve perceptions 
of safety and enable 
road and community 
safety.  

 

 

 

 

 

3.2.1   Collaborate to improve actual and perceptions 
of community safety through strengthening 
partnerships with Victoria Police, Department of 
Justice, Neighbourhood Watch and other local 
community organisations. 

3.2.2   Promote and develop initiatives that address 
road safety, including the ‘L2P’ learner driver 
mentor program. 

3.2.3   Provide safety inspections, Gender Impact 
Assessments and infrastructure upgrades that 
strengthen the safety of residents including 
roads and lighting of public areas. 

3.2.4   Continued to recommit to our membership and 
support to the Communities of Respect and 
Equality (CoRE) Alliance and Charter. 

3.2.5   Continue to support the safety, amenity, and 
health of the community through the education, 
administration and enforcement of 
environmental health, local laws and relevant 
legislation. 

- Number of ongoing 
infrastructure upgrades 
in public areas. 

- Number of ongoing 
safety programs and 
initiatives delivered. 

- Annual outcomes 
reported. 

Source: Council Data 

Enforcement of local laws - 
Importance and 
Performance. 
Source: Community Satisfaction 
Survey 

Monitor safety statistics 
within the shire. 
Source: Crime Statistics Agency, 
Explore crime by location 

[Online].  

3.3 Support minimisation 
of alcohol harm 
within the community. 

3.3.1   Seek opportunity to support drug and alcohol-
free events for young people. 

3.3.2   Distribute information to young people and 
sporting clubs on safe drinking and 
encouraging alcohol free cultures. 

Number of ongoing safety 
programs and initiatives 
delivered. 
Source: Council Data 

Proportion of adults at 
increased risk of alcohol 
related harm 

Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey 
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Key Partners: 

• Alcohol and Drug Foundation  

• Ballarat Community Health  

• Ballarat Health Settlement Service 

• Beaufort & Skipton Health Service 

• Belgravia Leisure  

• Central Grampians LLEN (L2P) 

• Central Highlands Homelessness 

Alliance 

• Community Groups and Sporting clubs 

• Department of Health 

• Department of Justice 

• First Nations Corporation and 

Cooperatives 

• Grampians Community Health 

• Grampians Disability Advocacy 

• Housing Victoria 

• Maryborough & District Health Service 

• Neighbourhood Watch  

• Neighbouring Councils  

• Regional Roads Victoria 

• Relationships Australia (Ballarat) 

• Rural Pride Australia 

• The Orange Door (Central Highlands) 

• Transport Accident Commission 

• Victoria Police 

• Women's Health Grampians 

• Women’s Resource Information & Support 

Centre  

 

Council Plan Alignment  

• Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

B - Improve community wellbeing through accessible health services, active lifestyles, 

mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure safety and amenity. 

D - Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 

and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services. 

• Pillar 5: Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery 

B - Work constructively and in partnership with individuals and communities to anticipate 

needs, solve issues early, and deliver outcomes that build trust and resilience. 

 

Other linked documents 

• Women’s Health Grampians Strategic Plan 2022 - 2026 

• Communities of Respect and Equality (CoRE) Alliance Charter  

• Relief & Recovery Plan 

• Gender Equity Action Plan 

• Diversity & Inclusion Statement 

• Pyrenees Projects Adverse Events Plan 

• Fair Access Policy & Action Plan 

• Relief Centre Operations Plan 
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PRIORITY 4 – Connecting our Community and 
Supporting Mental Wellbeing  

Outcome: People throughout the shire are happy, fulfilled and 
engaged with their communities. 

Growth in personal isolation and disengagement in some population cohorts has led to an 
increase in ‘chronic loneliness’. Given the disparate geographic nature of the Pyrenees 
population, it is reliant on strong local communities and neighbourhoods, with means to 
access to social networks, services and facilities from a broader district and regional context. 
This in strongly correlated to mental wellbeing and links all other community priorities within 
this plan.  

By prioritising good mental health and wellbeing, we reduce stigma, increase social 
connection, improve physical health, promote productivity and create safer environments. 
Our mental health and our physical health are linked. People experiencing poor mental 
health may be at increased risk of poor physical health and developing chronic health 
conditions, such as diabetes and heart disease.  

(Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2023-2027). 

 

What the Health Statistics indicate: 

Where we do well: 

• Pyrenees Residents report high levels of life satisfaction:  

 Low/Medium High Very High 

Female Male Female Male Female Male 

Pyrenees 10.8% 8.3% 46.7% 60.3% 42.3% 30.9% 

Victoria 20.1% 20.8% 50.8% 51.2% 27.4% 26.6% 

• There is a high level of family support, with 93.1% of adults identifying they had someone 
outside of their household that they can rely on for care of their children in times of an 
emergency. 1  

• Over half of our population is connected outside of their household, with 58% having 
been involved in an organised group. 2  

Where there is opportunity for improvement: 

• 51.5% of our adult population feel valued by society and 31.6% of adults feel most adults 
can be trusted.4 

• 50.9% if our adult population report that they thought multiculturalism made life better in 
their area (2020). 5 

• 22% of adults reported high or very high psychological distress in 2020, an increase from 
9.8% in 2017. 6 

• 19.7% of people aged 15 years and over did voluntary work for an organisation or group 
in 2021. 7 

Data Source: 

1, 2, 4, 5 Victorian Population Health Survey 2017 and 2020, Department of Health, Victorian Public Health & 
Wellbeing Outcomes Framework Dashboard 

6, 7 2021 Census – Pyrenees All persons, Australian Bureau of Statistics.  
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GOALS STRATEGIES 
OUTCOME 
INDICATORS  

4.1 All residents are 
respected and 
supported to be 
confident in 
contributing to 
community life. 

 

 

4.1.1   Design and implement a Community Planning 
Framework that supports community led 
responses to local engagement that explores 
solutions to longer term opportunities and 
aspirations. 

4.1.2   Scope a Diversity and Inclusion Framework that 
includes advocacy, education and promotes 
inclusive environments that embrace 
intersectionality.  

4.1.3   Work in partnership with the Indigenous 
community and local service providers to 
understand and develop solutions to priority 
health and wellbeing issues through Council’s 
Reconciliation Plan. 

4.1.4   Deliver and support programs that promote 
volunteerism, local leadership, carers, better 
practice in community groups. 

4.1.5   Promote social inclusion and support the needs 
of the emerging LGBTQIA+ community. 

4.1.6   Support community leadership initiatives that 
build community capacity, pride of place and 
initiate local action. 

Community Satisfaction 
Survey – Community 
Engagement Rating 
Source: Local Government 
Community Satisfaction Survey 

Voluntary work for an 
organisation or group. 
Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey 

 

 

4.2 A socially and 
emotionally well 
community 

4.2.1   Deliver and support activities aimed at 
increasing community connections and 
reducing social isolation. 

4.2.2   Support accessibility of mental health support 
networks and services.  

4.2.3   Support approaches that facilitate mental health 
early intervention and postvention. 

4.2.4   Undertake a strategic process that reviews and 
advocates for transport solutions to improve 
access to social opportunities, service access, 
employment and education. 

- Percentage of 
population experiencing 
psychological distress.  

- Percentage of adults 
seeking help for mental 
health concerns.  

Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey 

  

4.3 Support 
environments that 
foster a creative 
expression in arts 
and cultural 
experiences and 
lifelong learning 
opportunities that 
build social 
connections and self-
development. 

4.3.1 Encourage awareness of the diversity and 
value of local arts, learning and culture 
experiences. 

4.3.2   Support groups and initiatives that increase 
community knowledge and appreciation of our 
collective heritage. 

4.3.3   Foster community development and social 
connection through support of local service 
agencies alike Pyrenees Community House. 

- Percentage of eligible 
population who are 
active library members. 

- Annual attendances in 
Resource Centres  

Source: Council Data 

 

4.4 Council provides 
welcoming and 
accessible places 
and spaces. 

4.4.1   Improve accessibility of services, programs, 
assets and events (physical and digital) to 
people of all abilities, providing opportunities to 
participate equally alongside all community 
members. 

4.4.2   Support local Prevention and Population Health 
team to implement public intervention campaign 

- Number of 
improvements 

- Number of Disability 
impact Assessments 
(or equivalent). 

Source: Council Data 

Proportion of adults who 
smoke tobacco or vape 
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promoting smoke and vape free areas and 
events. 

4.4.3   Identify ways to support the community’s 
capability and capacity to sustainably manage 
local halls, recreation assets and community 
centres.  

4.4.4   Advocate for improvements to 
telecommunications and internet connectivity 
infrastructure that facilitates reduced social 
isolation and improved service access 
(particularly in times of emergency). 

daily or less than daily (any 
current smokers and 
vapers) 
Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey 
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Key Partners: 

 

Council Plan Alignment  

• Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

A - Promote inclusivity and accessibility for all life stages by creating welcoming spaces 

and supporting diverse social, cultural, recreational, and economic activities. 

B - Improve community wellbeing through accessible health services, active lifestyles, 

mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure safety and amenity. 

D - Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 

and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services. 

• Pillar 2: Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy 

D - Advocate for improved transport infrastructure, support job creation, and invest in 

workforce development to enhance connectivity and economic opportunity  

• Pillar 4: Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs  

B - Eliminate communication blackspots and ensure all communities have reliable 

access to mobile, internet, and emergency services through strong advocacy and 

investment. 

• Pillar 5: Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery 

B - Work constructively and in partnership with individuals and communities to anticipate 

needs, solve issues early, and deliver outcomes that build trust and resilience. 

  

• Ballarat Community Health  

• Ballarat Health Settlement Service 

• Beaufort & Skipton Health Service 

• Pyrenees Community House  

• Belgravia Leisure  

• Central Highlands Homelessness 

Alliance 

• Community Asset Committees 

• Community Event Managers  

• Community Groups and Sporting clubs 

• Reserve / Hall Management Committees   

• Department of Education 

• Department of Families, Fairness & 

Housing 

• Department of Health 

• Department of Justice  

• Disability service providers 

• Eureka Community Kindergarten 

Association  

• First Nations Corporations and 

Cooperatives 

• Grampians Community Health 

• Grampians Disability Advocacy 

• Headspace (Ballarat) 

• Housing Victoria 

• Maryborough & District Health Service 

• Neighbourhood Watch  

• Neighbouring Councils  

• Historical Societies & Cemetery Trusts 

• Reconciliation Advisory Committee 

• Regional Roads Victoria 

• Relationships Australia (Ballarat) 

• The Orange Door (Centrals Highlands) 

• Township Committees,  

• Transport Accident Commission 

• Uniting Care Ballarat 

• Victoria Police 

• Volunteering Ballarat 

• Women’s Resource Information & Support 

Centre 

• Women's Health Grampians 
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Other linked documents 

• Recreation Strategy 2017 - 2027 

• Women’s Health Grampians Strategic Plan 2022 – 2026 

• Community Engagement Policy 

• Victorian Mental Health & Wellbeing Plan 
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PRIORITY 5 – Supporting our Population through 
all stages of life 

Outcome: A place where everyone is supported to be able and 
confident to contribute to community life. 

The health needs of individuals change as they progress through life, it is important to 
consider this as we foster an environment that promotes and prioritises health.  

Council aims to consider and provide for these complexities, whether this is investing in the 
positive development of children and their carers and families, advocating for youth mental 
health and encouraging the connection of young people to their peers, or supporting our 
older population to maintain healthy and independent lifestyles. 

 

What the Statistics indicate: 

Where we do well: 

• There is a high level of family support, with 93.1% of adults identifying they had someone 
outside of their household that they can rely on for care of their children in an 
emergency. 1  

• Only 2.9% of babies born were identified at a low birth weight 2020 – Vic 4.8%. 2 

• 97.6% of children are fully immunised at 5 years old. 3 

• Low rates of hospitalisation due to falls in older people. 4 

Where there is opportunity for improvement: 

• 14.7% of Pyrenees mothers smoked tobacco in the first 20 weeks of pregnancy 
compared against the state average of 7.7%. 5   

• 22.8% of people aged 15 – 24 are not engaged in full time employment or education, 
almost twice the state average of 11.7% 6 

• Pyrenees children have been benchmarked in alignment with State averages in the 2021 
Australian Early Development Census. The one domain negatively increasing over time 
is in Language and Cognitive skills (literacy, numeracy, and memory). Additionally, there 
is some concern within the Social Competence and Emotional Maturity domain. 7 

Data Source: 

1,2, 5 Victorian Population Health Survey 2017 and 2020, Department of Health, Victorian Public Health & 
Wellbeing Outcomes Framework Dashboard 

3 PHIDU, 2023 

4  Department of Health 2023 

6 2021 Census – Pyrenees All persons, Australian Bureau of Statistics.  
7 Australian Early Development Census – 2021, percentage of children developmentally vulnerable.  
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GOALS STRATEGIES 
OUTCOME 
INDICATORS  

5.1 Community has 
appropriate access 
to a range of 
services. 

5.1.1   Advocate for increased access to medical, 
allied, social, and mental health services by 
mapping existing service networks and 
identifying service gaps. 

Proportion of adults who 
were unable to access GP 
due to appointment 
availability 
Source: Victorian Population 
Health Survey 

5.2 Families have 
access to quality and 
affordable Early 
Years services that 
provide children and 
young people the 
best start in life. 

5.2.1   Provide accessible information for parents, 
carers and services through an annual 
Children’s and Families Communications Plan 
incl. an online Early Years Guide.  

5.2.2   Continue to investigate opportunities for 
integrated community hubs incl. childcare 
facilities / regular specialist and community 
services.  

5.2.3   Promote existing Early Years spaces, such as 
Community Resource Centre’s, that can 
accommodate a range of services and 
programs that connect families and children.  

5.2.4   Work with Playgroups Victoria, to enhance 
provision of Community Playgroups and 
Supported Playgroups.  

5.2.5   Monitor capacity and seek ways to close 
identified service gaps for families needing to 
access affordable childcare options, including 
long day childcare places, Family Day Care 
options.  

5.2.6   Continue to deliver program opportunities for 
primary school aged children through Council’s 
Resource Centres and other outreach programs 
to remote communities.  

5.2.7   Work with local Health services and Family 
Child Health services to increase awareness in 
pregnant mothers on the harmful impact of 
smoking. 

- Birthweight of babies. 

- Breast Feeding rates. 
Source: Victorian Population 

Health Survey 

- Participation rates in 
Key Ages & Stages 
visits. 

- Participation in Parent 
Groups and programs. 

Source: Council Data 

 

 

 

 

5.3 Children, young 
people and families 
are supported to 
thrive through 
transitions between 
programs and 
organisations, 
including early 
learning and 
schools. 

 

5.3.1   Continuously review planning approaches, 
funding options and advocacy for children’s and 
youth services, including access to quality 
childcare, kindergartens, and schools.  

5.3.2   Support transition between programs and 
organisations, including early learning and 
school, for all children and families.  

5.3.3   Partner to investigate options and coordinate 
prevention and intervention strategies that focus 
on improving children’s: 

5.3.3.1  Physical health incl. play groups 
supporting access to information on the 
importance of healthy eating, physical 
activity, oral health and sun protection.   

5.3.3.2  Social competence and emotional 
maturity incl. Council delivered and 
supported play groups that provide 
confidence through play experiences 

- Australian Early 
Development Census 
domain results incl. 
proportion of children 
ready for school. 

- Kindergarten 
participation rate (in 3- 
and 4-year-old kinder) 

Source: Australian Early 

Development Index 

Number of disengaged 
young people 
Source: Census Data 
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and enhance early learning and 
development.  

5.3.3.4  Communication skills incl. programming 
at Council’s Resource Centres such as 
Children’s Week, National Simultaneous 
Story-time, School Holiday Programs.   

5.3.4   Develop a Youth Engagement Framework to 
involve young people in decision making in the 
issues that matter to them. 

5.3.5   Provide programming that promotes 
opportunities and events for young people to 
engage with their peers and the wider 
community within the shire. 

5.4 Fostering an 
inclusive and 
respectful ageing 
community that 
benefits from sharing 
knowledge, 
experience and 
contributions. 

5.4.1   Implement initiatives that recognise and 
celebrate Pyrenees as an aged friendly and 
inclusive community. 

5.4.2   Foster community attitudes that welcome the 
participation of people with a disability and older 
residents, which respects and values their 
needs, experiences and contributions. 

5.4.3   Advocate to service organisations and 
community, to promote and advance the 
inclusion of older adults, people with a disability 
and families/carers. 

5.4.4   Engage, support and empower older adults to 
identify and lead community driven action that 
promotes connection and independence. 

Participation rates in 
community events, groups, 
programs, and activities.  
Source: Council Data 

 

5.5 A positive and 
socially inclusive 
community where 
the population 
actively ages 
through social 
connections. 

5.5.1   Provide guidance to new and existing groups 
and activities that support positive ageing, 
particularly those residents most vulnerable to 
inactivity and isolation. 

5.5.2   Encourage inclusion, community involvement 
and connections through opportunities for older 
people to meet and socialise in their 
neighbourhoods. 

5.5.3   Support and promote opportunities for older 
adults and those with a disability to access 
meaningful volunteering and or paid 
employment. 

Proportion of adults 
experiencing loneliness 
Source: Victorian Population 

Health Survey 

 

5.6 A positive ageing 
community that can 
easily access 
information and find 
supports to stay 
safe, connected and 
informed. 

5.6.1   Design community engagement plans and 
practises, that recognise the diverse needs of 
older adults, and people with a disability, 
specifically addressing hard to reach residents. 

5.6.2   Continuously improve communication channels 
that grows awareness of local support services 
and connection to social engagement groups 
and opportunities.  

5.6.3   Ensure older adults can access emergency 
planning information to empower them to make 
safe decisions regarding their individual 
circumstance. 

5.6.4   Support older adults to access and to embrace 
the use of digital technology, including digital 
literacy through mobile devices. 

Number of programs and 
initiatives conducted in the 
Shire. 
Source: Council Data 
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Key Partners: 

 

Council Plan Alignment  

• Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

A - Promote inclusivity and accessibility for all life stages by creating welcoming spaces 

and supporting diverse social, cultural, recreational, and economic activities. 

B - Improve community wellbeing through accessible health services, active lifestyles, 

mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure safety and amenity. 

D - Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 

and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services. 

• Pillar 4: Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs  

5.7 Community places 
and spaces can be 
accessed, are safe, 
inclusive, which 
enable use by all 
people of all ages 
and abilities. 

5.7.1   Consider diverse needs and all abilities access 
in delivery of inclusive, safe and accessible 
services, facilities, and community planning.     

5.7.2   Partner to improve the health and emotional 
wellbeing needs of older adults, those with a 
disability and carers, especially connecting 
remote residents to health and medical 
services, employment, entertainment and retail 
opportunities. 

5.7.3   Strengthen relationships with partners and 
service providers to identify opportunities and 
priorities in the coordination of aged care and 
other services. 

Accessibility audit 
completed  
Source: Council Data  

• Ballarat Community Health  

• Ballarat Health Settlement Service 

• Ballarat YMCA 

• Beaufort & Skipton Health Service 

• Pyrenees Community House  

• Belgravia Leisure  

• Central Grampians Local Learning and 

Employment Network 

• Central Highlands Homelessness 

Alliance 

• Community Asset Committees 

• Community Event Managers  

• Community Groups and Sporting clubs 

• Reserve / Hall Management Committees   

• Department of Education 

• Department of Families, Fairness & 

Housing 

• Department of Health 

• Department of Justice  

• Disability service providers 

• First Nations Corporations and 

Cooperatives 

• Grampians Community Health  

• Grampians Disability Advocacy 

• Headspace (Ballarat) 

• Historical Societies & Cemetery Trusts 

• Maryborough & District Health Service 

• Neighbouring Council’s 

• Playgroup Victoria and community 

Playgroups  

• Reconciliation Advisory Committee 

• Relationships Australia (Ballarat) 

• School Focussed Youth Services 

• Service Clubs and Progress Associations 

• Township Committees 

• U3A 

• Volunteering Ballarat 

• Women’s Resource Information & Support 

Centre 

• Women's Health Grampians 
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A - Plan, build, and maintain essential infrastructure – including water, waste, sewerage, 

roads, bridges, and community assets – to support liveability, resilience, and growth. 

• Pillar 5: Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery 

B - Work constructively and in partnership with individuals and communities to anticipate 

needs, solve issues early, and deliver outcomes that build trust and resilience. 

 

Other linked documents 

• Recreation Strategy 2017 - 2027 

• Beaufort and Skipton Health Service Health Promotion Action Plan 

• Maryborough and District Health Service Health Promotion Action Plan 

• Ageing well in Victoria Action plan 2022–2026 
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PRIORITY 6 – Being a Climate Resilient Community 

Outcome: A resilient community that supports each other, and the 
natural environment through climate challenges. 

 

Climate change affects health in many ways – both directly and indirectly. Direct impacts 
include morbidity and mortality associated with extreme events such as heatwaves, floods, 
drought and bushfires. Indirect impacts are associated with ecological and land-use change 
(including changes in the spread of infectious diseases), along with worsening air, food and 
water quality. 

Climate change widens existing inequalities and disproportionately impacts the health and 
wellbeing of those more vulnerable. People who are financially disadvantaged can be more 
likely to live in areas prone to extreme weather events, more likely to live in poor quality or 
insecure housing, and less likely to be able to afford cooling, heating and to insure their 
homes. 

(Victorian Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2023-2027) 

 

What the Statistics indicate: 

Our region is experiencing 10-15 more high fire danger days each year than we did in the 
period between 1950 and 1986. 

(CSIRO climate projections for Central Highlands 2024.) 

 

Bureau of Meteorology – Daily Rainfall (Avoca and Raglan) and Daily maximum temperature - Pyrenees (Ben Nevis). 

• Council has committed to addressing climate change at a local level, as one of 46 
Victorian Councils to sign on to the Victorian Energy Collaboration.  

• Council has an adopted Climate Adaptation Strategy and Climate Action Plan. 

  

Climate Data 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Days 35o + 6 13 2 0 0 1 

Days 25mm rainfall + 
(Avoca) 

1 4 0 5 10 3 

Days 25mm rainfall + 
(Raglan)  

0 3 4 7 6 2 
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Key Partners : 

• Agriculture Victoria 

• Ambulance Victoria 

• Central Highlands Water 

• CFA 

• Department of Families, Fairness & 

Housing 

• Emergency Recovery Victoria 

• First Nations Corporations and 

Cooperatives 

• Grampians Central West Waste 

Recovery Resource Group 

• Landcare Groups   

• Local Business and Traders 

Associations 

• Municipal Emergency Management & 

Planning Committee 

• Pyrenees Community House 

• Red Cross 

• Regional Roads Victoria 

• Salvation Army 

• State Emergency Service 

• Vic Roads 

• Victoria Police 

  

GOALS STRATEGIES 
OUTCOME 
INDICATORS  

6.1 Strengthening a 
resilient and 
connected community 
that supports each 
other through 
challenges 
experienced in our 
natural environments. 

 

6.1.1   Collaborate with the community to increase 
awareness of climate change impacts on 
health, and actions that support wellbeing in a 
changing climate. 

6.1.2   Support the implementation of mitigation and 
adaptation initiatives through Council’s 
Climate Change Mitigation Action Plan.  

6.1.3   Build community capacity to lead and deliver 
climate action and other community resilience 
initiatives through implementation of extreme 
events plans including the Municipal 
Heatwave Plan and the Safe and Resilient 
Pyrenees Plan. 

6.1.4   Support community-led biodiversity projects. 

6.1.5   Maintain the Vulnerable Persons Register and 
review other place-based support networks as 
part of the Pyrenees Emergency Management 
Plan.  

6.1.6   Explore options to increase flow of 
communication during times of municipal 
emergency events. 

6.1.7   Continue to explore options and 
methodologies for waste management. 

6.1.8   Support coordination of Landcare strategies 
and groups. 

6.1.9   Explore prevalence of climate anxiety and 
potential trauma healing disaster recovery 
actions including landscaping, replanting, and 
community education initiatives. 

6.1.10 Support initiatives to assist individuals, 
communities and businesses to live and work 
more sustainably to help reduce impacts on 
the environment. 

Number of annual heat 
alerts issued. 
Source: Council Data 

Percentage kerbside 
collection waste diverted 
from landfill. 
Source: Local Government 
Performance Reporting 
Framework  

 

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.2.2

173 of 185



 

Draft Municipal Health and Wellbeing Plan 2025-2029   |32 

 

Council Plan Alignment  

• Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities 

B - Improve community wellbeing through accessible health services, active lifestyles, 

mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure safety and amenity. 

D - Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 

and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services. 

• Pillar 3: Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment 

A - Preserve and manage biodiversity and natural assets for long-term community 

benefit and environmental sustainability. 

B - Mitigate risks, build community resilience, and enhance responsiveness to natural 

disasters through proactive planning and collaboration. 

C - Support local industries and communities in adapting to climate change through 

sustainable practices and strategic adaptation efforts. 

Promote responsible waste practices by reducing landfill, improving resource recovery, 

and advocating for accessible, efficient, and rural-appropriate waste services. 

• Pillar 4: Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs  

D - Advocate for fair renewable energy development, access to critical water supplies, 

and effective maintenance of natural and built assets to reduce impacts on communities 

and the environment. 

 

Other linked documents 

• Environmental Sustainability Strategy 

• Biodiversity Action Plan 

• Climate Mitigation Action Plan 

• Tree Management Plan 

• Road Management Plan 

• Safe & Resilient Pyrenees Plan 

• Grampians Region Climate Adaptation Strategy 

• Bushfire Recovery Plans 
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Review and Evaluation 

An evaluation program is an important component in the delivery of the Health and Wellbeing 
Plan. Review and evaluation enable: 

• Assessing plan effectiveness, including response to new and emerging issues, 

• Adjustments to be made that are based on evidence-based research of changes in 
population health status and or indicators of health, and 

• Monitoring progress and analysing trends of the Plan and any subordinate area-based 
strategy (i.e., Recreation Strategy, Environmental Sustainability Strategy etc). 

The Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 requires Council to annually review this Plan and 
if appropriate, amend the Plan and Action Plan. Where possible, this will be undertaken in 
collaboration with active partners in absence of municipal health and wellbeing network. 

The Municipal Health and Wellbeing Plan, through its annual action plans, will be subject to a 
bi-annual reporting cycle, with progress reports prepared as indicated below. This will provide 
structure and transparency through a reporting process.  

 

Table Two: Evaluation Program 

Evaluation Type Methodology  

1. Outcome evaluation Outcome Indicators documented / tracking impacts over time 

2. Progress evaluation Annual reports tracking progress against commitments using : 

• Achieved  

• Ongoing / In progress / Scheduled 

• Not scheduled to commence  

3. Collaboration evaluation  Annual evaluation of governance structures and associated 
partnership benefits leveraged for community.  
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Governance and Partnership  

It is appreciated that no single function of Council, community or other level of government 
can achieve the outcomes of this Plan. It requires a whole of community approach delivered 
in collaboration with key community services, organisations, and health providers.  

Coordination of the MPHWP’s implementation will be administered by Council, supported by 
an internal monitoring and evaluation group, with external support via a community advisory 
group.  

The reciprocal value and process is summarised at Table Three.  

 

Table Three: Partner and Stakeholder relationship  

 Community Groups, organisations, 

local agencies, and volunteers 

Other levels of Government, peer 

councils and Health related peak 

bodies  

They are 

essential in health 

planning and 

delivery as they… 

• Inform us of what’s happening in 
our community. 

• Collaborate with us to advocate, 
plan, and deliver programs and 
services.  

• Engage, connect, and enable 
community participation in healthy 
lifestyles.  

• Provide connections, resources, 
advise and some frameworks/ 
systems to operate within.  

• Enable service delivery through 
provision of grants and program 
funding.  

• Collaborate and partner to deliver 
services and programs of need. 

Council is 

valuable to them 

because we… 

• Provide information, advice, 
support, assets, and resources 
locally.  

• Facilitate and connect ideas, 
groups, and action through 
networks, to support community 
capability and capacity to deliver 
community health. 

• Listen, involve, promote, and 
advocate on local needs, issues, 
and opportunities.  

• Create pathways and access to 
the voice of local communities. 

• Promote and deliver information 
on their position, services and 
advise. 

• Provide local information and 
data on community health and 
wellbeing. 

We engage with 

them through… 
• Advocacy and asset management 

committees. 

• Community meetings, workshops, 
and forums. 

• Individual relationship meetings. 

• Council and community 
promotion channels including 
social media, print media and 
noticeboards. 

• Community engagement 
sessions. 

• Formal reporting and 
correspondence. 

• Advocacy agendas. 

• Networking events, forums, and 
information briefings. 
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Key Documents 

Victorian Public Health and 
Wellbeing Plan 2023-2027 – 
Victorian State Government 

https://www.health.vic.gov.au/victorian-public-health-and-
wellbeing-plan-2023-27 

Pyrenees Shire Council 
Strategic Plans 

https://www.pyrenees.vic.gov.au/About-Pyrenees-Shire-
Council/Council-Policies-and-Publications/Strategic-Plan  

Victorian Local Government 
Women’s Charter 

http://www.vlga.org.au/What-were-doing/Women-in-local-
government/Victorian-Local-Government-Womens-Charter 

Climate Change Act 2017 
https://www.climatechange.vic.gov.au/legislation/climate-change-
act-2017 

Women’s Health Grampians 
CoRE Program- Communities 
of Respect and Equity 

http://whg.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/CoRE-Plan-
Document.pdf 
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VISION

Council’s Vision 2025-2029

Our Vision is for a vibrant shire where economic growth and innovation go 
hand-in-hand supporting key industry sectors, the natural environment and 
small-town sustainability.

We put our Pyrenees communities at the centre of all decision-making. 
Through our focus on wellbeing, community connections, and supporting all 
life stages, we aim to create vibrant, resilient communities where visitors and 
residents want to live, invest, and thrive.

Community Vision 2021-2031

Our Vision is for inclusive, happy and healthy connected communities that 
create sustainable and welcoming townships, natural environments and rural 
areas. 

We attract diversity through promoting innovation, growth and partnerships, 
while addressing climate and community needs such as reliable and responsive 
infrastructure, affordable services and housing whilst protecting our natural 
environments. 
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Underpinning Principles

1. Community-Centric and Responsive Culture

Council fosters an enabling culture that listens, responds proactively, and works in 
partnership with communities to address their needs.

2. Effective and Transparent Communication

Council ensures timely, clear, and constructive communication with the community, 
valuing local knowledge and fostering open dialogue.

3. Collaboration and Accountability

Council promotes internal and external collaboration to achieve optimal outcomes 
while remaining accountable and transparent in its financial and resource 
management.

4. Sustainable Service Delivery and Strategic Focus

Council effectively delivers services to meet community needs, prioritising strategic 
alignment, outdoor maintenance, and long-term sustainability in all projects.
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Strategic Priorities

Pillar 1: Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities

A. Promote inclusivity and accessibility for all life stages by creating welcoming spaces 
and supporting diverse social, cultural, and recreational activities.

B. Improve community safety and wellbeing through accessible health services, active 
lifestyles, mental health support, and effective local laws that ensure a high standard 
of safety and amenity.

C. Enable responsible development and population growth through strategic planning, 
affordable housing, and community-driven township planning that reflects local 
identity.

D. Strengthen community outcomes by fostering partnerships, supporting volunteers, 
and encouraging civic engagement to build capacity and deliver improved services.

Pillar 2: Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy

A. Support the growth and diversification of new and existing businesses, with a focus on 
key sectors, innovation, and attracting investment.

B. Deliver coordinated and facilitated planning and economic development outcomes to 
support community aspirations and foster business and tourism growth.

C. Promote and support community events and the visitor economy to celebrate local 
culture, promote tourism, and stimulate the local economy.

D. Advocate for improved transport infrastructure, support job creation, and invest in 
workforce development to enhance connectivity and economic opportunities.

Pillar 3: Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment

A. Preserve and manage biodiversity and natural assets for long-term community benefit 
and environmental sustainability.

B. Mitigate risks, build community resilience, and enhance responsiveness to natural 
disasters through proactive planning and collaboration.

C. Support local industries and communities in adapting to climate change through 
sustainable practices and strategic adaptation efforts.

D. Promote responsible waste practices by reducing landfill, improving resource 
recovery, and advocating for accessible, efficient, and rural-appropriate waste 
services.
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Pillar 4: Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs

A. Plan, build, and maintain essential infrastructure – including water, waste, sewerage, 
roads, bridges, and community assets – to support liveability, resilience, and growth.

B. Eliminate communication blackspots and ensure all communities have reliable access 
to mobile, internet, and emergency services through strong advocacy and investment.

C. Support the local community to facilitate appropriate land use planning outcomes.

D. Advocate for fair renewable energy development, access to critical water supplies, 
and effective maintenance of natural and built assets to reduce impacts on 
communities and the environment.

Pillar 5: Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery

A. Foster a values-driven, inclusive culture where residents and community needs are 
central to all decision-making.  Empower leadership at all levels to be responsive, 
accountable, and aligned with Council and community priorities.

B. Work constructively and in partnership with individuals and communities to anticipate 
needs, solve issues early, and deliver outcomes that build trust and resilience.

C. Ensure timely, clear, and consistent communication and build strong community 
relationships, underpinned by transparency and meaningful engagement.

D. Deliver high quality services and maintain public spaces efficiently, applying a strategic 
lens to all projects, and continuously improving systems and resource allocation.
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Key Performance Measures

Pillar 1: Measures - Supporting and growing Liveable Places, Connected Communities

a. Community satisfaction 3% improvement in scores for Appearance of Public 
Areas (2024 – 69)

b. Community satisfaction 3% improvement in scores for Recreational Facilities 
(2024 - 68)

c. Planning permits >80% planning permits issued within statutory 
timeframes

d. Community Action Plans >80% key townships / localities with an updated 
community action plan within 2 years

e. Township Framework Plans Complete for two main towns – Avoca and Beaufort

f. Community facility 
accessibility

Improve the proportion of council-owned community 
facilities that comply with established accessibility 
standards

Pillar 2: Measures - Promoting a Diversified, Thriving Economy

Number of new businesses established annuallya. New business / investment 
attraction Percentage increase in local employment rates

b. Increase small business 
sector capability

Participant satisfaction rates and reported 
improvements in business operations.

c. Business confidence Achieve a measurable increase in the local business 
confidence index within 12 months

>6 businesses receiving support through referrals 
made by Council

d. Business owner support by 
referrals made to business 
support agencies Satisfaction with the Council support services 

provided

e. Residential growth based on 
government targets

Achieve annual residential growth based on 
government targets of 52 new residential building 
approvals (new houses) per year

Note:  The measures contained above are aspirational and outcomes based, however some of these are 
influenced by external macro-economic and other factors outside Council control. Where data is not currently 
measured, baseline and achievement numbers will be determined by annual survey.
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Pillar 3: Measures - Preserving, promoting and enjoying the natural environment

Achieve a 20% reduction in operational emissions in 
Council buildings within 4 years

a. Climate change 

Convert 50% of council’s light vehicle fleet to hybrid or 
electric within 4 years

b. Food and Organics Waste 
(FOGO)

Implementation of comprehensive service delivery 
(FOGO) by 1 July 2027

c. Kerbside waste collection Increase waste diverted from landfill (2024 – 30.41%) 
to 50% within 4 years

d. Community bushfire 
resilience

Successful development and availability of bushfire 
resilient planting guide by 30 June 2027

Pillar 4: Measures - Planning and Building Infrastructure for current and future needs

a. Road Management Plan 
compliance

Maintain >99% compliance to Plan intervention levels

Percentage increase in households and businesses 
with access to high-speed broadband

b. Increased digital connectivity 
and literacy

Number of participants in digital literacy programs

c. Industrial and commercial 
land availability

Achieve 10 years’ worth of supply of zoned and 
serviced industrial / commercial land within the 
municipality within 4 years

Percentage of identified end-of-life bridges renewed or 
replaced.

d. Improved transport 
infrastructure

Reduction in the number of weight-restricted bridges  
(2025 26/150 17%)

e. Emergency water (for stock 
and fire emergencies)

Within 4 years achieve 100% coverage of accessible 
emergency water within 20k km of any resident

Pillar 5: Measures - Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery

>80% resolution within 15 days of receipt for 
customer action requests, enquiries and complaints

a. Responsiveness and 
enquiries resolution

Reduction in average processing times for service 
requests and enquiries

b. Community satisfaction 3% improvement in  community satisfaction scores for 
Council Overall Performance (2024 – 55)

AGENDA - Special Meeting of Council - 12 May 2025 Attachments Attachment: 6.1.2.3

184 of 185



8

Pillar 5: Measures - Community-Centric Leadership and Proactive Service Delivery

c. Community engagement 3% improvement in community satisfaction scores for 
Consultation and Engagement (2024 – 52)

d. Overall Council direction 3% improvement in community satisfaction scores for 
Overall Council Direction (2024 – 43)

e. Staff development and 
engagement

3% improvement in staff satisfaction and engagement 
survey results.

f. Technology utilisation Increase in online service adoption rates by the 
community
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